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Exhibit 99.1

Company Profile

CNOOC Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “we”), incorporated in the Hong Kong
Special Administration Region (“Hong Kong”) in August 1999, was listed on the New York Stock Exchange (code:
CEO) and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (code: 00883) on 27 and 28 February 2001, respectively. The
Company was admitted as a constituent stock of the Hang Seng Index in July 2001. The Company’s American
Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) was listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (code: CNU) on 18 September 2013.

The Group is the largest producer of offshore crude oil and natural gas in China and one of the largest independent oil
and gas exploration and production companies in the world. The Group mainly engages in exploration, development,
production and sale of crude oil and natural gas.

The Group’s core operation areas are Bohai, Western South China Sea, Eastern South China Sea and East China Sea in
offshore China. Overseas, the Group has oil and gas assets in Asia, Africa, North America, South America, Oceania
and Europe.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group owned net proved reserves of approximately 4.96 billion BOE, and its average
daily net production was 1,301,438 BOE (unless otherwise stated, all amounts of reserve and production in this report
include our interests in equity method investees). The Group had total assets of approximately RMB678.8 billion.
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Financial Summary

(All amounts expressed in millions of RMB)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Audited)

Year ended 31 December

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Total revenues 274,634 171,437 146,490 186,390 226,963
Total expenses (193,719) (153,981) (148,902) (149,340) (146,724)

(Finance costs)/interest income, net (3,701 ) (5,245 ) (5,345 ) (4,391 ) (4241 )
Share of profits/(losses) of

associates and a joint venture 1,006 1,903 (76 ) 855 (5,187 )
Investment income 2,684 2,398 2,774 2,409 3,685
Profit/(loss) before tax 82,513 17,130 (5,275 ) 36,357 75,177
Income tax (expense)/credit (22,314 ) 3,116 5,912 (11,680 ) (22,489 )
Profit for the year 60,199 20,246 637 24,677 52,688

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Audited)

As at 31 December

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Current assets 140,708 140,211 122,045 138,838 190,082
Property, plant and equipment 463,222 454,141 432,465 395,868 407,337
Investments in associates and

a joint venture 25,250 28,413 29,995 29,146 24,701
Intangible assets 16,491 16,423 16,644 15,070 15,717
Total assets 662,859 664,362 637,681 617,219 678,779
Current liabilities (103,498) (84,380 ) (67,090 ) (61,412 ) (70,242 )
Non-current liabilities (179,751) (193,941) (188,220) (175,832) (191,172)
Total liabilities (283,249) (278,321) (255,310) (237,244) (261,414)

Equity 379,610 386,041 382,371 379,975 417,365
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Operating Summary

Year ended 31 December

Production

Net production of crude and liquids (barrels/day)

China

Bohai

Western South China Sea

Eastern South China Sea

East China Sea

Overseas

Asia (excluding China)

Oceania

Africa

North America (excluding Canada)
Canada

Europe

South America

Subtotal

Net production of natural gas (mmcf/day)
China

Bohai

Western South China Sea

Eastern South China Sea

East China Sea

Overseas

Asia (excluding China)

Oceania

North America (excluding Canada)
Canada

Europe

Subtotal

Total net production (BOE/day)
China

Bohai

Western South China Sea

Eastern South China SeaEast

East China Sea

Overseas

Asia (excluding China)

Oceania

Africa

North America (excluding Canada)

2014

626,791
403,927
80,493
141,166
1,206
305,345
37,237
4,297
76,838
49,814
48,183
87,918
1,058
932,137

643.3
137.9
341.7
136.8
26.8
546.6
154.4
111.2
112.7
117.5
50.7
1,189.9

735,533
426,913
138,972
163,970
5,678
401,804
65,280
26,092
76,838
68,396

2015

761,019
477,904
89,958
190,525
2,632
338,440
45,640
3,350
83,677
54,692
46,712
103,258
1,110
1,099,459

731.9
136.9
314.3
234.9
45.8
482.1
140.0
93.5
134.6
68.4
45.5
1,214.0

884,346
500,719
143,676
229,679
10,271
423,319
70,987
21,673
83,677
76,915

2016

739,378
455,002
98,351
182,848
3,177
321,131
48,577
4,278
80,297
48,078
40,304
98,672
926
1,060,509

648.7
134.3
273.9
185.9
54.6
472.5
150.2
1114
127.3
48.9
34.8
1,121.2

848,322
477,380
144,835
213,835
12,273
405,320
75,780
26,107
80,297
69,290

2017

706,955
433,591
96,543
173,192
3,629
335,887
57,395
3,691
73,625
46,785
57,711
95,750
929
1,042,842

721.4
149.3
273.5
238.2
56.3
432.8
141.4
96.5
130.3
38.7
25.8
1,154.2

827,941
458,473
142,870
212,895
13,016
412,832
82,958
22,598
73,625
68,507

2018

705,366
433,325
109,381
159,312
3,347
317,224
59,240
4,251
59,844
53,120
64,026
73,678
3,066
1,022,589

825.0
165.0
265.2
3454
494
453.9
164.2
111.1
126.4
345
17.6
1,278.9

845,171
460,822
154,248
216,877
11,580
398,187
88,662
26,036
59,844
74,184

%
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Canada

Europe

South America

Total

Net production in equity method investees
Crude and liquids (barrels/day)

Natural gas (mmcf/day)

Subtotal (BOE/day)

Total (BOE/day)

67,770 58,115 48,448 64,167
96,370 110,842 104,473 100,046
1,058 1,110 926 929
1,137,337 1,307,664 1,253,643 1,240,773

23,510 24,588 22,592 22,144
140.2 149.6 155.0 146.4
47,640 50,357 49,280 47,355
1,184,977 1,358,022 1,302,922 1,288,128

69,783
76,615
3,066
1,243,357

28,159
173.7
58,080
1,301,438
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Reserves at year end**
Net proved crude and liquids

reserves (million barrels)
China

Bohai

Western South China Sea
Eastern South China Sea
East China Sea
Overseas***

Asia (excluding China)
Oceania

Africa

North America (excluding Canada)
Canada

Europe

South America

Subtotal

Net proved natural

gas reserves (bcf)

China

Bohai

Western South China Sea
Eastern China Sea

East China Sea

Overseas

Asia (excluding China)
Oceania

North America (excluding Canada)
Canada

Europe

Subtotal

Total net proved reserves
(million BOE)

China

Bohai

Western South China Sea
Eastern South China Sea
East China Sea

Overseas

Asia (excluding China)
Oceania

Africa

North America (excluding Canada)
Canada
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2014

1,691.6
1,111.7
210.0
351.9
18.0
1,348.2
474
16.6
142.5
209.3
781.4
149.1
1.8
3,039.8

4,756.8
480.8
2,318.1
1,029.6
928.3
1,974.0
861.2
455.7
403.9
233.0
20.2
6,730.8

2,486.8
1,191.8
598.7
523.5
172.7
1,698.3
1994
106.0
142.5
2759
820.2

2015

1,430.6
908.3
149.3
357.0
16.1
1,399.6
59.8
14.5
166.6
239.5
815.3
102.3
1.6
2,830.2

5,354.6
381.4
3,132.6
951.6
889.0
1,638.3
845.8
389.2
275.2
119.3
8.8
6,992.9

2,324.3
971.8
672.6
515.6
164.2
1,691.7
208.9
90.8
166.6
284.8
835.2

2016

1,445.7
903.8
168.3
363.1
10.6
870.2
77.3
12.0
138.0
260.3
300.5
80.6
1.5
2,315.9

5,843.7
278.7
3,896.8
854.9
813.3
1,642.4
9524
3335
349.6

6.9
7,486.1

2,420.7
950.2
818.8
505.5
146.2
1,162.7
245.0
77.4
138.0
318.6
300.5

2017

1,627.3
1,050.4
196.5
371.9
8.5
1,571.9
69.9
10.7
136.9
282.1
904.3
88.4
79.7
3,199.3

5,910.7
305.7
3,880.1
970.5
754.4
1,632.6
885.0
297.2
421.5
242
4.8
7,543.3

2,613.3
1,101.4
844.1
533.7
134.2
1,860.8
2254
69.0
136.9
352.3
908.3

2018

1,783.2
1,104.1
223.0
448.6
7.5
1,515.1
54.1
8.8
113.7
263.4
884.4
111.2
79.5
3,298.3

6,107.8
753.4
3,715.6
903.7
735.1
1,519.0
841.6
279.5
390.9
0.2

6.7
7,626.8

2,804.6
1,229.7
845.8
599.2
130.0
1,785.4
203.3
63.6
113.7
328.6
884.4

11



Europe

South America

Total

Net proved reserves in equity
method investees

Crude and liquids (million barrels)
Natural gas (bcf)

Subtotal (million BOE)

Total**
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152.5
1.8
4,185.0

2004
537.3
293.0
4,478.0

103.8
1.6
4,016.0

200.1
576.9
299.5
4,315.5

81.8
1.5
3,583.4

195.3
574.0
294.2
3,877.6

89.2
79.7
4,474.1

244.8
706.8
366.7
4,840.8

112.3
79.5
4,590.0

258.1
661.5
372.2
4,962.1

12
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Others

Reserve life (years) 10.1 8.4 7.8 9.9 10.1
Reserve life (years) (including

equity method investees) 104 8.7 8.1 103 105
Reserve replacement ratio (%) 111 65 6 297 126
Reserve replacement ratio (%,

including equity method investees) 112 67 8 305 126
Average realized price

Crude oil (US$/barrel) 96.04 5127 4140 52.65 67.22
Natural gas (US$/mcf) 644 639 546 584 641

wIncludes other production from onshore China, which was approximately 688 BOE/day in 2017 and 1,644 BOE/day
in 2018, respectively.

Approximately 52%, 62%, 60%, 65% and 69%, respectively, of our net proved reserve estimates in 2014, 2015,

#2016, 2017 and 2018 were made by the Company’s internal evaluation staff and the remaining were made by the
independent third party consultants. Our reserve data was prepared in accordance with the SEC’s final rules on
“Modernization of Oil and Gas Reporting”, which became effective as of 1 January 2010.

Includes 749.9 million barrels of synthetic oil and 31.4 million barrels of bitumen in 2014, 815.3 million barrels
of synthetic oil in 2015; 300.5 million barrels of synthetic oil in 2016, 785.9 million barrels of synthetic oil and
118.4 million barrels of bitumen in 2017; 796.3 million barrels of synthetic oil and 88.1 million barrels of bitumen
in 2018.

skeskosk
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Chairman’s Statement

Yang Hua

Chairman

“Looking ahead, CNOOC Limited will continue to adhere to low- carbon development strategies: vigorously develop
our natural gas business and actively explore opportunities of renewable energy such as offshore wind power.

Applying new technologies such as big data, cloud computing, and artificial intelligence to cultivate new kinetic
energy will help to break bottlenecks that we have not been able to crack for many years.”

Dear shareholders,

History cruises through magnificent waves, the tide of times surges endlessly. The year of 2018 was an exceptional
twelve months for CNOOC Limited, and we are ready to seize key opportunities in 2019.

The global economy faced strong headwinds during 2018, with international oil prices fluctuating and falling sharply
after a rebound. However, facing a variety of uncertainties, CNOOC Limited continued to focus on its own
development, expanded its oil and gas reserves and production at a steady pace, strengthened its cost control and
achieved remarkable results.

The past year for CNOOC Limited was both a period of pioneering and innovative development and a year of growth
and prosperity. In 2018, we successfully achieved our production targets, with our net oil and gas production reaching
475 million barrels of oil equivalent (BOE). In terms of exploration, 17 commercial discoveries were made and 17
successful appraisals of oil and gas structures were achieved. In offshore China, multiple high-quality mid- to-large
size oil and gas fields, including Bozhong 19-6 and Bozhong 29-6, were successfully appraised. Going forward,
Bozhong 19-6 gas field is expected to play an important role in ensuring a clean energy supply in the Bohai Rim
Region. In overseas, 12 discoveries in total were made in the Stabroek block in Guyana. CNOOC Limited’s reserve
replacement ratio reached 126% and its reserve life improved to 10.5 years in 2018. These further strengthened the
Company’s resource foundation for sustainable development in the future.

14
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In 2018, CNOOC Limited’s profitability further enhanced. The Company’s oil and gas sales revenue amounted to
RMB185.9 billion, with the net profit reaching RMBS52.7 billion. In order to share our remarkable results with our
shareholders, the Board of Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.40 (tax inclusive) per
share for 2018.

History nurtures those who are determined, progressive, and committed to fight against adversity. China National
Offshore Oil Corporation, our parent company, was established and has flourished during the period of China’s
Reform and Opening. As a sustainable energy supplier and shareholder value creator, CNOOC Limited inherited the
powerful traits of its parent company to forge forward.

It’s our responsibility and inherent dynamics to provide energy for the development of society. It has been our primary
goal to expand reserves and production. Our net production jumped from less than 300,000 BOE per day when we
were listed in 2001 to approximately 1.3 million BOE per day in 2018. Net proved reserves increased from 1.8 billion
BOE to 4.96 billion BOE and total assets increased from RMB44.3 billion to RMB678.8 billion. The Company’s scope
of operation and scale of assets also expanded steadily, and our overall strength resulted in healthy growth across the
oil price cycles.

15
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The rapid pace of our growth over the years has won numerous acclaims. We will, however, continue to ensure that
the increase in production volume would not affect our pursuit of high quality development. As a daring and
pioneering Company, CNOOC Limited launched the “Year of Quality and Efficiency” program in early 2014, which
focuses on cost control through technological and management innovation. Five years later, with the support of all the
employees, our efforts from the programme have yielded positive results. In 2018, we achieved cost reduction for the
fifth consecutive year, with all-in cost of US$30.39 per BOE. Looking forward, we are confident and ready to take on
bigger challenges. We will continue to promote the long-term mechanism of quality and efficiency enhancement,
strengthen our core competitiveness, and facilitate the collaborative and simultaneous promotion of quality and scale
to accomplish synergetic development.

“High Quality Development”, “Winning the Blue Sky Defense Battle” and “Stabilizing Bohai’s Production at 30 million
tons for Another Decade”, etc. are just some popular slogans in 2018 of the Company you may have aware. We are
committed to defining our own future and embarking on the road to success through continuous hard work. In order to
accomplish its core missions, CNOOC Limited will continue to explore mid-to-large size oil and gas fields and make
efforts on both oil and gas exploration, aiming at making bigger and more discoveries in China and overseas. We will
also adhere to green and low-carbon concepts to ensure the development of new oil and gas fields, deepen our reforms
and innovation and continue to improve our operation efficiency.

We used to be proud of being an offshore “special economic zone”. Today, we are at a critical moment as we are facing
more challenges when we ascend on our path towards the further development of the Company. We have faced many
challenges during the course of our development over the past three decades and we have dealt with them by
maintaining high quality development and resolving problems with effective reforms. We will continue to do so in the
future.

Looking ahead, CNOOC Limited will continue to adhere to low-carbon development strategies: vigorously develop
our natural gas business and actively explore opportunities of renewable energy such as offshore wind power. This is
not only a new requirement of the construction of “Beautiful China”, but is also an integral part of CNOOC Limited’s
development strategy. As we have entered the digital era, ensuring a successful digital transformation is an important
requirement for each and every enterprise. Applying new technologies such as big data, cloud computing, and
artificial intelligence to cultivate new kinetic energy will help to break bottlenecks that we have not been able to crack
for many years. We will work hard to turn challenges into opportunities and turn every incoming storm into a driving
force to propel us forward.

At the same time, CNOOC Limited will always make health, safety and environmental protection its top priority and
actively fulfil its social responsibilities. As the scale of production continues to increase, our occupational safety
record maintained at a high level while ensuring production safety remains an important part of our corporate culture.
Moreover, we have always been a responsible corporate citizen and have endeavoured to giving back to the society
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with solid actions as demonstrated by our strong presence in many areas, including medical care, marine rescue and
marine development. In 2018, CNOOC Limited ranked sixth in Forbes’ Global 2000 list of the World’s Best
Employers. It is the only energy company and the only Chinese company among the top 10 entries, reflecting a wide
recognition of the Company by our employees and the society.

In 2018, Mr. Liu Jian resigned as the Vice Chairman and a Non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Wu Guangqi
resigned as a Non-executive Director and Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as the Vice Chairman and a Non-
executive Director of the Company. On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express my gratitude to Mr.
Liu and Mr. Wu for their contributions to the Company’s development during their tenure and welcome Mr. Wang to
the Board of Directors.

Only those who are dedicated can go far, and only those who have an inquisitive mind can innovate. When the new
dawn emerges from the eastern horizon, CNOOC Limited has already set sail on a new journey, leading the way to
overcome difficulties, meet challenges, and chart the brightest passage for the future of the Company.

Yang Hua

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2019
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Yuan Guangyu

CEO

OVERVIEW

CNOOC Limited is an upstream company specializing in oil and natural gas exploration, development and production.
It is the dominant oil and natural gas producer in offshore China, and in terms of reserves and production, is one of the
largest independent oil and natural gas exploration and production companies in the world. As of the end of 2018, the
Company had net proved reserves of approximately 4.96 billion BOE (including approximately 0.37 billion BOE in
its equity method investees). In 2018, the Company achieved a total net oil and gas production of 1,301,438 BOE per
day (including net oil and gas production of approximately 58,080 BOE per day in its equity method investees).

In offshore China, the Company engages in oil and natural gas exploration, development and production in Bohai,
Western and Eastern South China Sea, and the East China Sea, either independently or in cooperation with foreign
partners through production sharing contracts (“PSCs”). As of the end of 2018, approximately 56.5% of the Company’s
net proved reserves and approximately 64.9% of its net production were derived from offshore China.

In its independent operations, the Company has been adding to its reserves and production mainly through

independent exploration and development in offshore China. At the end of 2018, approximately 85% of the Company’s
net proved reserves and approximately 78% of its net production in offshore China were derived from independent
projects.

In its PSC operations, China National Offshore Oil Corporation (“CNOOC”), the Company’s controlling shareholder, has
the exclusive right to explore and develop oil and natural gas in offshore China in cooperation with foreign partners
through PSCs. CNOOC has transferred to the Company all its rights and obligations in regard to the PSCs (except

those relating to its management and regulatory function as a state-owned company), including new PSCs that will be
signed in the future.

After years of hard work, we have established our presence in more than 20 countries and regions. Our overseas assets
account for over 50% of the Company’s total assets. With its diversified portfolio of high-quality assets, the Company
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is an active participant in a number of world-class oil and gas projects and is regarded as a leading industry player.

19
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Currently, the Company holds interests in oil and natural gas blocks in Indonesia, Australia, Nigeria, Uganda,
Argentina, the U.S., Canada, the United Kingdom, Brazil, Guyana and various other countries. As of the end of 2018,
approximately 43.5% of the Company’s net proved reserves and approximately 34.9% of its net production were
derived from overseas.

In 2018, the global economy continued its moderate growth momentum. The U.S. economy remained relatively
robust, while slower growth was recorded in the Eurozone and other economies to different extents. The global
demand for oil has grown steadily. The international oil price fell deeply after having reached higher grounds but on
average, the oil price surged upward extensively during the year. Numerous major geopolitical incidents occurred
during the year, imposing great impact on international oil prices.

Under the complex and ever-changing external environment, the Company focused on its own development and
adhered to the operating strategies determined at the beginning of the year, which included: steadily increasing the
Company’s oil and gas reserve and production levels, reinforcing quality and efficiency enhancement, strengthening
innovation and technology-driven philosophy, maintaining prudent financial policy and investment decision-making,
and pursuing a green, healthy and environment-friendly development model.

In 2018, the Company achieved its production and business targets despite having faced with a number of challenges.
The Company adhered to a value-driven exploration philosophy, targeted mid-to-large sized oil and gas discoveries
with enhanced efforts in exploration. 17 new discoveries were made and 17 successful appraisals of oil and gas
structures were achieved. Weizhou 6-13 oilfield and Penglai 19-3 oilfield 1/3/8/9 comprehensive adjustment project in
offshore China as well as Stampede oilfield in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico came on stream during the year. The
production target was met with a net production of 475.0 million BOE. To ensure its continuing sustainable
development, the Company pushed ahead steadily with the construction of new projects. Notwithstanding the pressure
of rebounding oil prices and rising costs, all-in cost per BOE decreased for five consecutive years to US$30.39. The
Company maintained a healthy financial position with net profit of RMB52.7 billion for the year. Meanwhile, its
performance in the areas of health, safety and environmental protection remained stable.
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Looking forward to 2019, the global economy will continue its slow recovery. The movement of international oil
prices and the external environment are filled with uncertainties. To this end, the Company remains confident of its
prospects. We will further strengthen our operating strategies, which mainly include: steadily increasing oil and gas
reserve and production levels, promoting high-quality development, improving core business enhancement with
digital transformation, maintaining prudent financial policy and investment decision-making, and pursuing a green,
low- carbon and environmentally-friendly development model.

In 2019, the Company’s capital expenditure is anticipated to reach RMB70-80 billion, and our production target is
480-490 million BOE with six new projects to commence production. Our target for the reserve replacement ratio is
120%. Meanwhile, the Company will maintain its high standards of health, safety and environmental protection.

EXPLORATION

In 2018, the Company devoted greater effort in its oil and gas exploration, and amount of its exploration activities
reached a record high. Adhering to value-driven and business exploration and anchoring on its exploration and
discoveries of mid-to-large sized oil and gas fields, several major discoveries were made. This continuously
maintained a good development momentum of oil and gas exploration. Various exploration breakthroughs were
achieved in new frontier areas in offshore China, and a strategic core exploration area was gradually formed on both
sides of the Atlantic Ocean. Our management capability and technological innovation capability have been further
enhanced, and the efficiency of exploration operations has been significantly improved. In addition, the Company
continued to maintain a reasonable proportion of exploration investment and a relatively high level of exploration
activities so as to ensure mid-to-long term sustainable development. In 2018, the reserve replacement ratio for the
Company was 126%, and the reserve life further increased to 10.5 years.

The Company’s major exploration areas as of the end of 2018 are shown in the table below:

Areas Major Exploration Areas (Net) (km?)
Bohai 42,794
Western South China Sea 72,778

Offshore China Eastern South China Sea 51,379

East China Sea 85,141
Subtotal 252,092
Asia (excluding China) 5,670
Africa 8,509
Oceania 4,114
Overseas North America 6,925
South America 8,436
Europe 6,865
Subtotal 40,519
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Total 292,611

In offshore China, the Company’s exploration activities remained at a high level. A total of 166 exploration wells were
drilled, 10 of which were drilled through PSC. A total of 11,534 kilometers of 2D seismic data and 14,653 square
kilometers of 3D seismic data were acquired independently and through PSC. The Company made 12 new discoveries
and successfully appraised 16 oil and gas structures in offshore China. The success rate for independent exploration
wells in offshore China was 53-63%.

In 2018, the Company continued to follow a value-driven exploration strategy in offshore China, resulting in
outstanding achievement. Notable achievements include the following:

First, four mid-to-large sized oil and gas fields, namely Bozhong 19-6, Bozhong 29-6, Bozhong 13-1 South and
Ledong 10-1, were successfully appraised.

Secondly, exploration breakthroughs were achieved in the South China Sea. The newly discovered Lufeng 12-3 is the
largest commercial PSC discovery in recent years, and has the potential to be developed into a mid-sized oilfield. The
new discoveries of Enping 10-2 and Enping 15-2 confirmed the exploration potential of the northern belt of Enping
Sag, and are expected to be jointly developed with Enping 15-1 to create a mid-sized oilfield.

10
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Thirdly, the rolling exploration in the Bohai and Beibu Gulf areas continue to improve. Proved crude oil geological
reserves will contribute to our production capacity in 2019.

Fourthly, progress was made in risk exploration in new areas. The Songnan Baodao Sag in the Qiongdongnan Basin
and the Yangjiang Sag in the Pearl River Mouth Basin have opened up new areas for reserve growth.

Overseas, the Company drilled 8 exploration wells, made five new discoveries and successfully appraised one oil and
gas structure. Major achievements include the following:

First, five more new discoveries were made in Stabroek block in Guyana. A total of 12 discoveries were made in the
block.

Secondly, the Company focused on its overseas strategic planning and obtained three new blocks in Brazil and the UK
North Sea, which further optimized its overseas exploration assets.

The Company’s major exploration activities in 2018 are set out in the table below:

Successful

Exploration wells New Discoveries . Seismic Data
Appraisal wells

Independent PSC 2D (km) 3D (km)?
S}t;fi;}:)re Wildcat Appraisal Wildcat Appraisal Independent PSC Independent PSCIndependent PSC IndependentPSC
Bohai 22 58 0 1 6 0 48 0 0 0 776 0
Eastern
South 20 10 4 4 3 1 4 2 3,744 2,1995,040 835
China Sea
Western
South 16 24 1 0 2 0 19 0 3,073 0 7,088 0
China Sea
g::t China -, 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 2518 0 914 0
Subtotal 62 9 5 5 11 1 71 2 9335 2,19913,818 835
Overseas 0 0 6 2 0 5 0 2 0 0 0 0
Total 62 9 11 7 11 6 71 4 9,335 2,19913,818 835
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In 2019, the Company will continue to follow a value-driven exploration philosophy and target mid-to-large size oil
and gas discoveries in offshore China. It will make efforts on both oil and gas exploration and strengthen gas
exploration activities. It will strengthen exploration in new area and frontier area and adhere to optimal exploration
investment to support sustainable development of the Company. Overseas, the Company will also develop proactive
planning to accelerate the progress of the existing projects, promptly acquire high-quality new projects and
continuously expand the scope of exploration.

Engineering Construction, Development and Production

In 2018, the Company successfully met its operational targets, with oil and gas production in line with expectations.
The Company carefully organized its operational resources and made smooth progress in engineering construction.
More than 20 projects were under construction throughout the year.

In 2018, the Company’s net oil and gas production reached 475.0 million BOE, representing a slight increase year-on-
year, fulfilling the production target set at the beginning of the year. Weizhou 6-13 oilfield and Penglai 19-3 oilfield
1/3/8/9 comprehensive adjustment project in offshore China as well as Stampede oilfield in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico
came on stream during the year.
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“Looking forward to 2019, the Company remains confident of its prospects. We will further strengthen our operating
strategies, which mainly include: steadily increasing oil and gas reserve and production levels, promoting high-quality
development, improving core business enhancement with digital transformation, maintaining prudent financial policy
and investment decision-making, and pursuing a green, low-carbon and environmentally-friendly development
model."

In 2018 , the Company’s development and production were driven by intensive and streamline management with
emphasis on cost savings and efficiency enhancement, technology-driven strategy and sustainable development.
Achievements mainly include:

First, we ensured base production level and laid a solid foundation for production profile of existing oilfields through
refined management.

Secondly, we strictly controlled costs, encouraged conservation and improved efficiency, and all-in cost per BOE
decreased for five consecutive years.

Thirdly, we coordinated and adjusted the workload of infill drillings, which reached to a record high.

Fourthly, we devoted great efforts in promoting the “Year of Water Injection” program of Bohai oilfield in order to
further tap the potential of producing oilfields.

In 2019, a total of six new projects are expected to commence production, including Bozhong 34-9 oilfield,
Caofeidian 11-1/11-6 oilfield comprehensive adjustment project, Wenchang 13-2 oilfield comprehensive adjustment
project and Huizhou 32-5 oilfield comprehensive adjustment/Huizhou 33-1 oilfield joint development project in
offshore China as well as Egina oilfield in Nigeria and Appomattox project in the U.S. Gulf of Mexico. Among them,
Huizhou 32-5 oilfield comprehensive adjustment/Huizhou 33-1 oilfield joint development project and Egina oilfield
have commenced production in January 2019.

In addition, the Company will continue to optimize the development plan of producing oil and gas fields to control
natural decline and guarantee base production level. Implementation of new development wells will be accelerated to
commence production as soon as possible. It will also continue to optimize the infill drilling program to ensure the
record high workload be achieved. Meanwhile, the Company will pursue technological innovation in its production
measures to achieve great stimulation effects.
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REGIONAL OVERVIEW

Offshore China

Bohai

Bohai is the most important crude oil producing area for the Company. The crude oil produced in this region is mainly
heavy oil. The operational area in Bohai is mainly shallow water with a depth of 10 to 30 meters. As of the end of
2018, the reserve and daily production volume in Bohai were 1,229.7 million BOE and 460,822 BOE/day,
respectively, representing approximately 24.8% of the Company’s total reserves and 35.4% of its daily production.

With rich oil and gas resources, Bohai is one of the Company’s primary areas for exploration and development. In
2018, the Company made six successful discoveries in Bohai, namely Luda 10-6, Luda 4-3, Luda 6-2 South, Bozhong
13-2, Longkou 19-1 North and Kenli 5-1. The Company also successfully appraised five oil and gas structures,
including Bozhong 19-6, Bozhong 29-6, Bozhong 13-1 South, Kenli 4-1 and Longkou 7-6. Material progress has been
made in the appraisal of Bozhong 19-6 gas field, proving that Bozhong 19-6 is a large gas field with proved in-place
volume of condensate more than 100 million cubic meters and nature gas more than 100 billion cubic meters.
Bozhong 29-6 oilfield is expected to become a hundred-million-ton class oilfield. These new discoveries and
successful appraisals further demonstrated Bohai’s potential as the core region for the Company.

For development and production, the Company launched a major technology campaign in 2018 to ensure stable
production of Bohai oilfield of 30 million tons for another 10 years. Penglai 19-3 oilfield 1/3/8/9 comprehensive
adjustment project commenced production during the year. Bozhong 34-9 oilfield and Caofeidian 11-1/11-6 oilfields
comprehensive adjustment project are expected to come on stream in 2019. More new projects in Bohai are under
construction, which will strongly support the Company’s future production growth.

Western South China Sea

Western South China Sea is one of the Company’s important natural gas production areas. Currently, the typical water
depth of the Company’s operational area in the region ranges from 40 to 120 meters. As of the end of 2018, the
reserves and daily production volume in Western South China Sea reached 845.8 million BOE and 154,248 BOE/ day,
respectively, representing approximately 17.0% of the Company’s total reserves and 11.9% of its daily production.

In 2018, the Company made two successful discoveries in Western South China Sea, namely Wushi 23-5 North and
Weizhou 10-3 East. The discovery in Wushi 23-5 North has expanded new formations and will boost the development
of Wushi oilfields. The Company also achieved six successful appraisals, namely Ledong 10-1, Weizhou 11-2 East,
Wushi 16-1, Weizhou 11-12, Wushi 16-1 West and Wenchang 19-9. The successful appraisal of Ledong 10-1
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obtained significant progress in the high temperature and ultra-high pressure sector, making Ledong area the new
battlefield of continuous reserves expansion.

For development and production, Weizhou 6-13 oilfield commenced production during the year. In addition,
Wenchang 13-2 oilfield comprehensive adjustment project is expected to start production in 2019.

In 2018, Lingshui 17-2, the first independent deepwater gas field in offshore China, entered the construction stage,
which will promote the development of deepwater natural gas resources in South China Sea and become an important
growth point for the Company’s natural gas production in the future.

Eastern South China Sea

Eastern South China Sea is the Company’s another important crude oil and natural gas producing area. Currently, the
typical water depth of the Company’s operational area in the region ranges from 100 to 1,500 meters. The crude oil
produced is mostly of light to medium gravity. As of the end of 2018, reserves and daily production volume in Eastern
South China Sea reached 599.2 million BOE and 216,877 BOE/day, respectively, representing 12.1% of the
Company’s total reserves and 16.7% of its daily production.

In 2018, new discoveries of Lufeng 12-3, Enping 10-2, Enping 15-2 and Enping 20-4 were made in Pearl River Mouth
Basin. Lufeng 12-3 oilfield has been the largest commercial PSC discovery in recent years and is expected to be
developed to a mid-sized oilfield. The discoveries of Enping 10-2 and Enping 15-2 proved the exploration potential of
the northern belt of Enping Sag and are expected to be jointly developed with Enping 15-1 to a mid-sized oilfield.
Furthermore, five oil and gas structures, namely Lufeng 14-8, Lufeng 14-4, Lufeng 22-1, Enping 18-1 and Xijiang
34-3, were successfully appraised.

For development and production, Huizhou 32-5 oilfield comprehensive adjustment/Huizhou 33-1 oilfield joint
development project commenced production in January 2019. New projects such as Liuhua 16-2/20-2 oilfield joint
development are currently under construction.
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East China Sea

The typical water depth of the Company’s operational area in the East China Sea region is approximately 90 meters.
As of the end of 2018, reserves and daily production volume in the region represented 2.6% and 1.0% of the
Company’s total reserves and daily production, respectively.

In 2018, the Company continued with the regional development of certain gas fields in the East China Sea, which
would help the Company optimize the energy structure, target on both oil and gas exploration, devote more effort in
natural gas development and achieve “stable oil production and increased gas production”.

Others

The Company responded to the global trend of low carbon development of energy industry. Taking advantage of
offshore operation strength, the Company has actively explored the opportunities of renewable clean energy
development. In January 2019, the Company participated in an offshore wind power project in Jiangsu province.

OVERSEAS

Asia (excluding China)

Asia (excluding China) was the first overseas region entered into by the Company, and it has become one of the major
overseas oil and gas producing areas of the Company. Currently, the Company holds oil and gas assets mainly in
Indonesia and Iraq. As of the end of 2018, reserves and daily production volume derived from Asia (excluding China)
reached 203.3 million BOE and 88,662 BOE/day, respectively, representing 4.1% of the Company’s total reserves and
6.8% of its daily production.

Indonesia

At the end of 2018, the Company’s asset portfolio in Indonesia comprises mainly two development and producing
blocks, namely Madura Strait and Tangguh. Among these, the Madura Strait PSC was a joint operation block, in
which the production of BD gas field maintained stable, and other gas fields were under appraisal and construction.
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The Company owns an interest of approximately 13.90% in the Tangguh LNG Project in Indonesia. In 2018,
production volume of Phase I of the Project remained stable with a daily net production of approximately 22,000
BOE/day. Currently, construction of the third LNG train of Phase II is in progress as planned, and is expected to reach
completion and commence production in 2020.

In 2018, the Company has withdrawn from the Southeast Sumatra block due to the expiration of the contract. The
working interest in Malacca PSC was transferred and is pending for government approval and settlement.

Iraq

The Company holds a 63.75% participating interest in the technical service contract of Missan oilfields in Iraq and
acts as the oilfields’ lead contractor.

In 2018, the Company continuously drilled development wells and devoted more efforts in production enhancement
measures of Missian oilfields, resulting in a steady increase in daily net production of the project to approximately
49,000 barrels per day. The investment of the project over the past years was fully recovered and the Company started
to recover foregone remuneration. The gross production target of 250,000 barrels per day was achieved as of the end
of 2018.

Oceania

Currently, the Company’s oil and gas assets in Oceania are mainly located in Australia and Papua New Guinea. As of
the end of 2018, reserves and daily production volume derived from Oceania reached 63.6 million BOE and 26,034
BOE/ day, respectively, representing approximately 1.3% of the Company’s total reserves and 2.0% of its daily
production.

Australia

The Company owns a 5.3% interest in the Australian North West Shelf LNG Project. The project has commenced
production and is currently supplying gas to end-users including the Dapeng LNG Terminal in Guangdong, China.
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In 2018, the North West Shelf LNG Project maintained stable production and achieved favorable economic returns.

Other Regions in Oceania

The Company owns interests in three blocks which are still under exploration in Papua New Guinea.

Africa

Africa is a relatively large oil and gas reserve and production base for the Company. The Company’s assets in Africa
are primarily located in Nigeria and Uganda. As of the end of 2018, reserves and daily production volume in Africa
reached 113.7 million BOE and 59,844 BOE/day, respectively, representing approximately 2.3% of the Company’s
total reserves and 4.6% of its daily production.

Nigeria

The Company owns a 45% interest in the OML130 block in Nigeria. The OML130 block is a deepwater project
comprising four oilfields, namely Akpo, Egina, Egina South and Preowei.
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In 2018, the Akpo oilfield maintained stable production, with daily net production reaching approximately 46,000
barrels per day. The Egina oilfield commenced production in January 2019 and its production increased steadily. In
2018, the Preowei oilfield development plan was completed and submitted to the government for approval.

The Company also holds a 20% non-operating interest in Usan oilfield in the OML138 block in offshore Nigeria, and
an 18% non-operating interest in the OPL 223 and OML 139 PSC respectively. In 2018, the daily net production of
Usan oilfield was approximately 13,000 BOE/day.

We will continue to further integrate the OML130, OML 138, OML 139 and OPL 223 projects to establish an oil and
gas production base in west Africa centered in Nigeria.

Uganda

The Company owns one-third of the interest in each of EA 1, EA 2 and EA 3A in Uganda. EA 1, EA 2 and EA 3A are
located at the Lake Albert Basin, one of the most promising basins for oil and gas resources in onshore Africa.

In 2018, the front end engineering design (FEED) for drilling in EA 3A block was fully completed. The tender process
and tender evaluation process for engineering procurement and construction (EPC) firms was basically completed as
well. The Phase II of FEED was completed in EA 1 and EA 2 blocks. The Company was actively initiating the
negotiation for crude oil pipeline for the project.

Other Regions in Africa

Apart from Nigeria and Uganda, the Company owns interests in several blocks in Senegal, Republic of the Congo,
Algeria and the Gabonese Republic.

North America

North America has become the Company’s largest overseas reserves and production region. The Company holds
interests in oil and gas assets in the U.S., Canada and Trinidad and Tobago, as well as shares in MEG Energy
Corporation in Canada. As of the end of 2018, the Company’s reserves and daily production volume in North America

32



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

reached 1,213.0 million BOE and 143,967 BOE/ day, respectively, representing 24.4% of the Company’s total reserves
and 11.1% of its daily production.

The U.S.

Currently, the Company owns interests in two onshore shale oil and gas projects in the U.S. and two offshore
deepwater development projects in the Gulf of Mexico.

The onshore shale oil and gas projects are Eagle Ford and Niobrara. CNOOC holds 27% and 12% interests in the two
projects respectively. In 2018, the daily net production of the Eagle Ford project remained stable, which was
approximately 54,000 BOE/day.

The Company owns interests in two major deepwater development projects, Stampede and Appomattox, and numbers
of other exploration blocks in the Gulf of Mexico. Among these, Stampede commenced production in February 2018.
Appomattox is currently undergoing pipeline installation and offshore test and is expected to commence production in
the second half of 2019.

Canada

Canada is one of the world’s richest places of oil sands resources, and participation in the country’s oil sands
development will make a major contribution to the Company’s sustainable growth. The Company owns a 100%
working interest in Long Lake oil sands project, as well as three other oil sands projects in the Athabasca region of
north eastern Alberta. In 2018, the daily net production of Long Lake project ramped up to approximately 42,000
BOE/day.

The Company holds a 7.23% interest in the Syncrude project and its daily net production in 2018 was approximately
17,000 BOE/day. The Company also holds a 25% interest in the Hangingstone oil sands project and non-operating
interests in several other exploration and development leases.

The Company holds a 100% interest in two exploration blocks in offshore Newfoundland.

In 2018, the Company made the final investment decision on the Long Lake Southwest (LLSW) oil sands project and
the KIA production resumption project. Both projects are expected to commence production in 2020.
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In addition, the Company holds approximately 12.39% of shares in MEG Energy Corporation, a company listed on
the Toronto Stock Exchange.

Other Regions in North America

The Company owns 12.5% interest in the 2C block and a 17.12% interest in the 3A block in Trinidad and Tobago,
respectively, of which the 2C block is in production. Phase III of the natural gas project in 2C block yielded stable
production and achieved favorable economic returns. The Company also owns a 100% exploration interest in the
deepwater exploration block 1 and block 4 of the CINTURON PLEGADO PERDIDO in Mexico respectively.

South America

In South America, the Company holds a 50% interest in BC ENERGY INVESTMENTS CORP. (“BC”) and a 10%
interest in the PSC for the Libra oilfield in Brazil. The Company’s 50% interest in BC is accounted for by equity
methods. As of the end of 2018, the Company’s reserves and daily production volume derived from South America
reached 450.3 million BOE and 59,640 BOE/day, respectively, representing approximately 9.1% of the Company’s
total reserves and 4.6% of its daily production.
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Argentina

The Company holds a 50% interest in BC which it makes joint management decisions. BC holds a 50% interest in Pan
American Energy Group (“PAEG”) in Argentina.

In 2018, the Company strived to enhance its operating efficiency, optimize operating plans and create innovative
development plans. Daily net production for BC averaged approximately 57,000 BOE/day.

Brazil

The Company holds a 10% interest in Libra PSC, a deepwater pre-salt project in Brazil. The oilfield is located in the
Santos Basin, with a block area of about 1,550 square kilometers and a water depth of approximately 2,000 meters.

The Mero oilfield in the northwest area includes 4 production units of Mero 1, Mero 2, Mero 3 and Mero 4. The daily
net production of the extended well trial project in Mero 2 and Mero 3 in 2018 reached approximately 2,200 BOE/
day. As for development, the operator Petréleo Brasileiro S.A. (“Petrobras”) has submitted an overall development
proposal for the Libra project southwest block to the Brazil government on behalf of its partners, and entered into a
joint development agreement on cross boundary structures outside the contract blocks.

Brazil is one of the world’s most important deepwater oil and gas development regions. The Company will fully
leverage on the development opportunities of the Libra project to seek new drivers for production growth.

The Company also holds a 100% interest in the 592 block in offshore Brazil and a 20% interest in the ACF Oeste
block. Additionally, a 30% interest in the Pau Brasil block was obtained by the Company in 2018.

Guyana

The Company holds a 25% interest in the Stabroek block in offshore Guyana. In 2018, the Liza oilfield Phase I
construction was in good progress and is expected to commence production in 2020. The Field Development Proposal
(FDP) design of Liza oilfield Phase II was finished and pending for government approval. The final investment
decision is planned to be made in 2019.
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In 2018, the Liza reservoir in the block was further successfully appraised. Five new successful discoveries, including
Ranger, Pacora, Longtail, Hammerhead and Pluma, were made, which has further expanded the scale of reserve.

Other Regions in South America

The Company also holds interests in several exploration and production blocks in Colombia.

Europe

The Company holds interests in oil and gas fields such as Buzzard and Golden Eagle in the U.K. North Sea. As of the
end of 2018, the Company’s reserves and daily production volume derived from Europe reached 112.3 million BOE
and 76,615 BOE/day, respectively, representing approximately 2.3% of the Company’s total reserves and 5.9% of its
daily production.

United Kingdom

The Company’s asset portfolio in the North Sea includes projects under production, development and exploration,
mainly comprising: 43.2% interest in the Buzzard oilfield, one of the largest oilfields in the North Sea, and a 36.5%
interest in the Golden Eagle oilfield. These make the Company the largest crude oil operator in the North Sea.

The United Kingdom is one of the Company’s key overseas development areas, with key projects such as Buzzard and
Golden Eagle contributing substantially to the Company’s production. In 2018, the Buzzard oilfield’s daily net
production reached approximately 50,000 BOE/ day. As for development, the final investment decision on Buzzard
oilfield Phase II was made in 2018 and the oilfield is expected to commence production in 2020.

Furthermore, the Company holds interests in three blocks in the United Kingdom, and has obtained a 30% interest in
the P2414 block and P2415 block in West of Shetland Basin in 2018.

Other Regions in Europe
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The Company holds a 50% interest in the FEL 3/18 block, a 80% interest in LO 16/23 block and exploration interests
in other five blocks in offshore Ireland.

SALES AND MARKETING

Sales of Crude Oil

The Company sells crude oil produced in offshore China to the PRC market mainly through CNOOC China Limited,
its wholly owned subsidiary. The Company sells crude oil produced overseas to international and domestic markets
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mainly through another wholly-owned subsidiary, China Offshore Oil (Singapore) International Pte Ltd.

The Company’s crude oil sales prices are mainly determined by the prices of international benchmark crude oil of
similar quality, with certain premiums or discounts subject to prevailing market conditions. Although the prices are
quoted in US dollars, customers in China usually paid by Renminbi. The Company currently sells three types of crude
oil in China: heavy crude, medium crude and light crude. The benchmark price for crude oil is Brent. The Company’s
major customers in China are CNOOC, PetroChina and Sinopec. Crude oil produced overseas is benchmarked at the
Brent and WTI prices and sold on international markets.

In 2018, as a result of the increase in international oil prices, the Company’s realized oil prices picked up. The
Company’s average realized oil price was US$67.22/barrel, representing a year-on-year increase of 27.7%.

Sales of Natural Gas

The Company’s natural gas sales prices are mainly determined by negotiation with customers. Its natural gas sales
agreements are generally long-term contracts, and their contract terms normally include a price review mechanism.
The Company’s natural gas customers are primarily located in the southeastern coast of China and include CNOOC
Gas and Power Group, China BlueChemical Ltd, Hong Kong Castle Peak Power Company Limited and others.

Sales of LNG sourced by the Company from the North West Shelf LNG Project in Australia and the Tangguh LNG
Project in Indonesia are mainly based on long-term supply contracts with various customers in the Asia-Pacific region,
including Guangdong Dapeng LNG Terminal and Fujian Putian LNG Terminal in China.

The economy in China was stable in 2018 and the supply tension of natural gas was eased. Driven by the clean winter
heating and changing fuel from coal to gas policy in northern China, the demand for natural gas continued to grow.
Prior to the winter, the upstream gas suppliers have reserved sufficient resources to meet the gas demand in northern
China during winter. Based on the market condition, the Company gradually adjusted the sale prices for natural gas in
northern China through negotiation. In addition, the production of gas field with higher prices increased. In 2018, the
Company’s average realized natural gas price was US$6.41/mcf, representing a 9.8% year-on-year increase.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
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In 2018, the Company proactively implemented its “innovation-driven” strategy, deepened the reform of the technology
system, increased the investment in science and technology research, established major projects, strengthened the
fundamental forward-looking technological research, set up platforms for research and strived to ensure reserve and
production growth with efficiency enhancement. Our capabilities of innovation continued to be enhanced with the

new progress being made in core technological research. The Company also actively promoted its digital
transformation, and commenced the research and development in this aspect.

Major Scientific and Technological Project Development

In 2018, the Company focused on core business needs and continued to carry out critical core technology such as
development of deepwater oil and gas fields, offshore heavy oil fields and fields with low porosity and permeability.
A number of technological achievements were made, including metamorphic rock reservoir evaluation technology,
recovery enhancement technology by controlling injection and production and technologies of accelerating and
facilitating medium and deep drilling. These notable developments have provided vital technical support for the
sustainable development of the Company.

Development of Major Technological Innovation

The Company’s research and development platform construction project progressed smoothly. The heavy oil fire
flooding experimental platform and the offshore multi-source multi-thermal fluid heavy oil thermal recovery
experimental platform, with comprehensive simulation experimental capabilities such as simulations for thermal
recovery and displacement, effectively support the research of major scientific and technological projects. Major
progresses have also been made in “Pre-stack seismic inversion and oil and gas identification driven by rock physics”,
“Key technologies and industrial applications of marine complex rock formations and deepwater drilling fluids”, and
“Real- time optimization of reservoir production and intelligent control technology and industrial applications”.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

Since its establishment, the Company has treated risk management and internal control as a top priority. The Company
recognizes that it is the duty and obligation of its management to establish and maintain a risk management and
internal control system, which serves the Company’s strategic objectives and meets the Company’s business practice.

The Company’s Risk Management Committee is directly managed by the Chief Executive Officer and has been
authorized by the Board to be in charge with the organization and implementation of the overall risk management and
internal control, on-going monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company, and
making periodic reports to the Board

39



17

Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

40



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

regarding the status of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company.

With respect to risk management, the Company has chosen and adopted the risk management framework issued by
COSO (namely, the “Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread way Commission”) of the U.S., established a
risk management system covering design, implementation, monitoring, assessment and continuous improvement

based on the ISO 31000:2009 “Risk Management- Principles and Guidelines”. The Risk Management Committee of the
Company shall establish the overall targets and strategies of the risk management system which are in line with the
strategic objectives of the Company, and identified, analysed and assessed the overall risks of the Company, including
the Company’s key risks in making major decisions, important events and key business processes. The Risk
Management Committee is also responsible for reviewing and approving the response plans to major risks, as well as
following up and periodically reviewing the implementation of such response plans, in order to make sure that
sufficient attention, monitoring and responses will be afforded to all key risks of the Company.

With respect to internal control, the Company has chosen and adopted the internal control framework issued by
COSO of the U.S., established an internal control system and mechanism over financial, operational and compliance
controls and has conducted continuing review and evaluation of the internal control of the Company in order to ensure
the timeliness, accuracy and completeness of all information reported.

The Board considered that as of 31 December 2018, the Company’s risk management system and the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting were effective.

As a company listed in Hong Kong, the U.S. and Canada, the Company will continue to strictly comply with all
regulatory requirements, strengthen its risk management and internal control systems, and maintain a high standard of
corporate governance to ensure the Company’s more healthy development.

RISK FACTORS

Although we have established the risk management system to identify, analyze, evaluate and respond to risks, our
business activities may subject to the following risks, which could have material effects on our strategy, operations,
compliance and financial condition. We urge you to carefully consider the risks described below.

Our business, cash flows and profits fluctuate with volatility in oil and gas prices.

Prices for crude oil, natural gas and oil products may fluctuate widely in response to relative changes in the supply and
demand for crude oil and natural gas, market uncertainty and various other factors beyond our control, including, but
not limited to overall economic conditions, political instability, armed conflict and acts of terrorism, economic
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conditions and actions by major oil-producing countries, the price and availability of other energy sources, domestic
and foreign government regulations, natural disasters and weather conditions. Changes in oil and gas prices could
have a material effect on our business, cash flows and earnings.

Oil and gas prices are volatile. A downward trend in oil and gas prices which lasts for a long period, may adversely
affect our business, revenue and profits, and may also result in write-off of higher cost reserves and other assets,
reduction of the amount of oil and natural gas we can produce economically and termination of existing contracts that
have become uneconomic. The prolonged slump in oil and natural gas prices may also impact our long-term
investment strategy and operation capability for our projects.

Our business and strategy may be substantially affected by complex macro economy, politically instability, war and
terrorism and changes in policy and fiscal and tax regimes.

Despite the global economy has been recovering, some of the countries in which we operate may be considered
politically and economically unstable. As a result, our financial condition and operating results could be adversely
affected by associated international activities, domestic civil unrest and general strikes, political instability, war and
acts of terrorism. Any changes in regime or social instability, or other political, economic or diplomatic developments,
or changes in fiscal and tax regime are not within our control. Our operations, existing assets or future investments
may be materially and adversely affected by these changes. In addition, our operations and assets may also be subject
to potential trade and economic sanctions due to deteriorated relations between different countries.

Our financial performance is affected by the tax and fiscal regimes of host countries in which we operate. Any

changes in these regimes may result in increased costs, including the potential for additional or double taxation being
imposed on our Company in some circumstances. For example, the Organization for Economic Co-operation and
Development (OECD)’s “Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project” (BEPS Project) was initiated to enhance multilateral
cooperation and strengthen supervision on global corporate taxation and transfer pricing activities. Numerous

countries have responded to the BEPS Project by implementing tax law changes and amending tax treaties at a rapid
pace.
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Oil and natural gas industry are very competitive.

We compete in the PRC and international markets with national oil companies, major integrated oil and gas
companies and various other independent oil and gas companies for access to oil and gas resources, products,
alternative energy, customers, capital financing, technology and equipment, personnel and business opportunities.
Competition may result in shortage of these resources or over-supply of oil and gas, which could increase our cost or
reduce our earnings, and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition to competition, as we need to obtain various approvals from governmental and other regulatory authorities
in order to maintain our operations, we may face unfavorable results such as project delays and cost overruns, which
may further impact the realization of our strategies and materially and adversely impact our financial condition.

Our ability to deliver competitive returns and pursue commercial opportunities depends in part on the robustness and
the long-lasting accuracy of our price assumptions.

We review the oil and natural gas price assumptions on a periodic basis when evaluating project decisions and
business opportunities. We generally test projects and other business opportunities against a long-term price range.
While we believe our current long-term price assumptions are prudent, if such assumptions proved to be incorrect, it
could have a material adverse effect on our Company. For short-term planning purposes, we stress test the project
feasibility against a wider range of prices.

Rising climate change concerns could lead to additional regulatory measures that may result in higher costs.

It is expected that the CO, emissions will increase as our production grows. CO, emissions from flaring will increase
if there are no proven and reliable gas gathering systems in place. With the coming into force of the Paris Agreement
and the continuing growth of public’s awareness of climate change problems, the carbon emission policies of different
countries are gradually enacted. The Company will be supervised by relevant agencies and organizations in the future.
If we are unable to find economically viable and publicly acceptable solutions that could reduce our CO emissions for
new and existing projects, we may experience additional costs, and our reputation may be affected.

Mergers, acquisitions and divestments may expose us to additional risks and uncertainties, and we may not be able to
realize the anticipated benefits from mergers, acquisitions and divestments.
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Mergers and acquisitions may not succeed due to various reasons, such as difficulties in integrating activities and
realising synergies, outcomes differing from key assumptions, host governments reacting or responding in a different
manner from that envisaged, or liabilities and costs being underestimated. Any of these would reduce our ability to
realise the anticipated benefits. We may not be able to successfully divest non-core assets at acceptable prices,
resulting in increased pressure on our cash position. In the case of divestments, we may be held liable for past acts, or
failures to act or perform responsibilities, we may also be subject to liabilities if a purchaser fails to fulfil its
commitments. These risks may result in an increase in our costs and inability to achieve our business goals.

The nature of our operations exposes us and the communities in which we operate to a wide range of health, safety,
security and environment risks.

Every aspect of our daily operations exposes us to health, safety, security and environment (“HSSE”) risks given the
geographical area, operational diversity and
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technical complexity of our operations. Our operations include productions and transportations of oil and gas in
environmentally sensitive regions and politically unstable areas, such as the basins in Uganda, Iraq, as well as offshore
fields far away from land, especially deep-water fields. Our operations expose us and the areas in which we operate to
a number of risks, including potential major process safety incidents, natural disasters, social unrest, health and safety
lapses and destruction by third party external forces, such as platform destruction caused by typhoon and sea ice, and
oil spills and gas leaks caused by external force damage suffered by submarine pipelines. If a major HSSE risk
materialises, such as an explosion or hydrocarbon spill, this could result in casualties, environmental damage,
disruption of business activities, depending on their cause and severity, material damage to our reputation, exclusion
from bidding on mineral rights and eventually loss of our licence to operate. In certain circumstances, liabilities could
be imposed without regard to our fault in the matter. Regulatory requirements for HSSE in different countries where
we operate change constantly and may become more stringent over time. In the future, we may incur significant
additional costs in complying with such requirements or bear liabilities such as fines, penalties, clean-up costs and
third-party claims, as a result of breach of HSSE-related laws and regulations.

We maintain various insurance policies for our operations against potential losses. However, our ability to insure
against our risks is subject to the availability of relevant insurance products in the market. In addition, we cannot
ensure you that our insurance coverage is sufficient enough to cover any losses that we may incur, or that we will be
able to successfully claim our losses under our existing insurance policies on a timely basis, or at all. If any of our
losses are not covered by our insurance coverage, or if the insurance compensation is less than our losses or the claim
is not paid on a timely basis, our business, financial condition
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and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Violations of anti-fraud, anti-corruption and corporate governance laws may expose us to various risks.

Laws and regulations of the host countries or regions in which we operate, such as laws on anti-corruption, anti- fraud
and corporate governance, are constantly changing and strengthening, especially in the United States, United
Kingdom, Canada, Australia, Guyana and China. The compliance with these laws and regulations may increase our
cost. If the Company, our directors, executives or employees fail to comply with any of such laws and regulations, it
may expose us to prosecution or punishment, damage to our brand and reputations, the ability to obtain new resources
and/or access to the capital markets, and it may even expose us to civil or criminal liabilities.

The activities of our controlling shareholder, CNOOC, or its affiliates in certain countries that are the subject of U.S.
sanctions could result in negative media and investor attention and possible sanctions imposed on CNOOC, which
could adversely affect our shareholders.

U.S. government at federal, state or local levels imposes extensive economic sanctions against certain geographical
areas and their populations or against designated governments, organizations, individuals and entities wherever
located. In 2018, U.S. government fully re- imposed economic sanctions against Iran that were waived or lifted
pursuant to the Joint Comprehensive Plan of Action with Iran. Such changes add uncertainty to the interpretation or
implementation of U.S. government with respect to current or future activities by CNOOC or its affiliates (if any) in
countries or with individuals or entities that are the subject of U.S. primary and secondary sanctions. If there are any
sanctions imposed on CNOOC by the U.S. government, we could be prohibited from engaging in business activities in
the U.S. or with U.S. individuals or entities, and U.S. transactions in our securities and distributions to U.S.
individuals and entities with respect to our securities could also be prohibited. Pension or endowment funds of certain
U.S. state and local governments or universities may sell our securities due to certain restrictions on investments in
companies that engage in activities in sanctioned countries, such as Iran and Sudan. We may also be subject to
negative media or investor attention, which may distract management, consume internal resources and affect investors
perception of our Company and investment in our Company.

’

As required by the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, which added a disclosure requirement
to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we are providing certain information regarding our non-controlled affiliates’
activities. To our knowledge, in 2018, China Oilfield Services Limited (COSL), one of our non-controlled affiliates,
provided certain drilling services in Iran. We cannot predict at this time whether U.S. sanctions will be imposed on
any of our affiliates.

Any failure to replace reserves and develop our proved undeveloped reserves could adversely affect our business and
our financial position.
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Our exploration and development activities involve inherent risks, including the risk of not discovering commercially
productive oil or gas reservoirs and that the wells we drill may not be able to commence production or may not be
sufficiently productive to generate a return of our partial or full investments. In addition, approximately 58.0% of our
proved reserves were undeveloped as of 31 December 2018. Our future success depends on our ability to develop
these reserves in a timely and cost-effective manner. There are various risks in developing reserves, mainly including
construction, operational, geophysical, geological and regulatory risks.

The reliability of reserve estimates depends on a number of factors, including the quality and quantity of technical and
economic data, the market prices of our oil and gas products, the production performance of reservoirs, extensive
engineering judgments, comprehensive judgement of engineers and the fiscal and tax regime in the countries where
we have operations or assets.

Many of the factors, assumptions and variables involved in estimating reserves are beyond our control and may prove
be incorrect over time. Consequently, the results of drilling, testing, production and changes in the price of oil and gas
may require substantial upward or downward revisions to our initial reserve data.

If we fail to develop or gain access to appropriate technologies, or to deploy them effectively, the realization of our
strategies as well as our competitiveness and ability to operate may be adversely affected.

Technology and innovation are vital for us in meeting the global energy demands in a competitive environment and
challenges from exploration and development. For example, we strive to rely on technologies and innovations to
enhance our competiveness in the development of unconventional oil and gas resources, including heavy oil, oil sands,
shale oil and gas and coalbed methane, and deep water exploration and development, offshore enhanced oil recovery.
In the context of an operating environment with more stringent environmental compliance standards and requirements,
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although current knowledge recognise these newly developed technologies as safe to the environment, there still exists
unknown or unpredictable elements that may have an impact on the environment. This may in turn harm our
reputation and operation, increase our costs or even result in litigations and sanctions.

Breach of our cyber security or break down of our IT infrastructure could damage our operations and our reputation.

Intentional attacks on our cyber system, negligent management of our cyber security and IT system management and
other factors may cause damage or break down to our IT infrastructure, which may disrupt our operations, result in
loss or misuse of data or sensitive information, cause injuries, environmental harm or damage in assets, violate laws or
regulations and result in potential legal liability. These actions could result in increased costs or damage to our
reputation.

CNOOC largely controls us and we regularly enter into connected party transactions with CNOOC and its affiliates.

Currently, CNOOC indirectly owns or controls 64.44% of our shares. As a result, CNOOC is able to control our board
composition, or our Board, determine the timing and amount of dividend payments, and controls us in various aspects.
In addition, under current PRC laws, CNOOC has the exclusive right to enter into PSCs with foreign enterprises for
the petroleum resources exploitation in offshore China. Although CNOOC has undertaken to transfer all of its rights
and obligations (except for those relating to administrative functions as a state-owned company) under any new PSCs
that it enters into to us, our strategies, results of operations and financial position may be adversely affected in the
event CNOOC takes actions that favour its own interests over ours.

In addition, we regularly enter into connected transactions with CNOOC and its affiliates. Certain connected
transactions require a review by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and are subject to prior approvals by the independent
shareholders. If these transactions are not approved, the Company may not be able to proceed with these transactions
as planned and it may adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Oil and natural gas transportation may expose us to financial loss and reputation harm.

Our oil and gas transportation involves marine, land and pipeline transportation, which are subject to hazards such as
capsizing, collision, acts of piracy and damage or loss from severe weather conditions, explosions, oil and gas spills
and leakages. These hazards could result in serious personal injury or loss of human life, significant damage to
property and equipment, environmental pollution, impairment of operations, risk of financial loss and reputation harm.
We may not be able to arrange insurance coverage for all of these risks and uninsured losses and liabilities arising
from these hazards could reduce the funds available to us for financing, exploration and investment, which may have a
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material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face various risks with regard to our business and operations in North America.

Transportation and export infrastructure in North America is limited, and without the construction of new
transportation and export infrastructure, our oil and natural gas production capacity may be affected. In addition, we
may be required to sell our products into the North American markets at lower prices than in other markets, which
could materially and adversely affect our financial performance.

First Nation in Canada have claimed aboriginal title and rights to the lands and mineral resources in a substantial
portion of western Canada. As a result, negotiations with aboriginal people on surface activities are required and may
result in timing uncertainties or delays of future development activities. Declaration by the First Nation, if successful,
could have a significant adverse effect on our business in Canada.

We may have limited control over our investments in joint ventures and our operations with partners.

A portion of our operations are conducted in the form of partnerships or in joint ventures in which we may have
limited capability to influence and control their operation or future development. Our limited ability to influence and
control the operation or future development of such joint ventures could materially and adversely affect the realization
of our target returns on capital investment and lead to unexpected future costs.

If we depend heavily on key customers or suppliers, our business, results of operations and financial condition could
be adversely affected.

Key sales customers — if any of our key customers reduced their crude oil or natural gas purchases from us
significantly, our results of operation could be adversely affected. In order to reduce reliance on a single customer, in
crude oil sales, we adopt measures including signing annual sales contracts, developing sales plans, and participating
in market competition so as to maintain a stable cooperation with customers. In natural gas sales, we adopt measures
including signing long-term GSA with take or pay clause so as to minimize the risk of impact on our financial
condition.

Key suppliers — we have strengthened our communication in business with our key suppliers in order to maintain a
good working relationship. We have also established strategic partnerships through communications and reached a
consensus on corporate cultures and win-win cooperation. Further, we actively explore new suppliers to ensure
adequacy and foster competition of supplies.
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We face currency risks and liquidity risks.

Currency risks — The Company’s oil and gas sales are substantially denominated in Renminbi and U.S. dollars. The
appreciation of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar may result in double effects, that it may decrease the Company’s
revenue in the sales of oil and gas and, decrease our costs of equipment and import of raw materials in the meantime.

Liquidity risks — Certain restrictions on dividend distribution imposed by the laws of the host countries in which we
operate may adversely and materially affect our cash flows. For instance, the dividend of our wholly owned
subsidiaries in the PRC shall be distributed pursuant to the laws of the PRC and the articles and association, and we
may face risks of not obtaining adequate cash flows from such subsidiaries.

The audit reports to be included in our annual report filed with the SEC have been prepared by our auditor whose
work is not inspected by the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (the “PCAOB”) and, as such, it is
unlikely for the PCAOB to evaluate the effectiveness of our auditor’s audit procedures and quality control procedures.

Our auditor that issues the audit reports to be included in our annual report filed with the SEC, as a firm registered
with the PCAOB, is required by the laws of the United States to undergo regular inspections by the PCAOB to assess
its compliance with the laws of the United States and professional standards.

Because we have substantial operations within China and, without the approval of PRC authorities, the PCAOB is
currently unable to conduct inspections of the work of our auditor as it relates to those operations, our auditor is not
currently inspected by the PCAOB. Therefore, it is unlikely for the PCAOB to evaluate the effectiveness of our
auditor’s audit procedures or quality control procedures as compared to auditors outside of China that are subject to the
PCAOB inspections.

Furthermore, on 7 December 2018, the PCAOB published a list of companies, including us, whose auditors are
located in jurisdictions where there are obstacles to the PCAOB inspections. However, it remains unclear what further
actions the SEC and the PCAOB will take to address the problem.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENvVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (“HSE”)

As always, the Company takes “Safety and environmental protection come first, people oriented and well-equipped
facilities™ as top priority in its works, which have been regarded as the core values of HSE. The Company constantly
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improves the systematic management of HSE and promotes the cultivation of safety culture by focusing on “people,
execution and intervention” in order to provide a safe working environment for the Company and contractors and
establish first class management capability in safe production.

In 2018, the Company further standardized the systematic management of safe production. The Company completed
the HSE management system framework with its own characteristics on the basis of summarizing the previous
management experience. The Company has selected some affiliated units to carry out the pilot scheme and further
improve such management system. With key focus placed on the “implementation of safe production responsibility
system for all employees” across the overall work for the year, the requirements of “one enterprise with one standard,
one post with one checklist” were effectively performed.

In 2018, the Company further improved the supervising review of its HSE system, improved the effectiveness of the
review, strengthened special operations, special processes and special audits during exceptional periods, and improved
risk assessment and prevention. The Company also closely monitored key areas such as operation permits, underwater
operations, atmospheric storage and hazardous chemicals, strengthened the management and control measures, as well
as improved management and control capability.

The Company has further strengthened the building of safety leadership, adhering to the substantial measures,

significant identification and appropriate implementation to further promote the cultivation of a safety culture, and
promote the continuous improvement of safety management. During the year, the Company issued the

“Implementation Opinions on Promoting the Cultivation of Safety Culture”, the Company’s senior executives took the
lead in practicing the safety measures and conducted on-site special inspections and safety lectures for the subordinate
units during the “Safe Production Month”. Each affiliated unit took the opportunities of “Safe Production Month”, “Quality
Month”, “Environment Day” and “Energy Saving Week” and so on to carry out a series of promotional and educational
activities to enhance the safety awareness and safety skills of the employees. Thus, a good atmosphere for high quality
development of the Company was created.
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Overseas, the Company continued to improve the HSE management system, enhanced the supervision and
management functions on its overseas business, organized the HSE due diligence investigation before withdrawing
from the Indonesia SES oilfield project, conducted safety emergency and security inspection and research on its
business in Mexico; and conducted special safety inspection for completion operations in the Misan oilfields in Iraq.
At the same time, the Company organized self- inspection work on safe production for its overseas business, and the
completion rate of improving various types of safety hazards discovered during the inspection reached 98%.

In 2018, the Company held an eco-environmental protection work conference to map out a clear direction of its
eco-environmental protection work, formulate and implement a green development action plan, actively coordinate
the classification of main function areas, promote the environmental impact assessment, carry out environmental risk
investigation, progressively eliminate hidden dangers as well as improve supervision and inspection. The Company
has also fully explored the potential of energy conservation, promoted the implementation of technological
improvement projects and developed green factories to continuously enhance energy efficiency.

During 2018, the Company maintained its good performance in safety management and upheld consistently high HSE
standards. OSHA (Occupational Safety and Health Administration) statistics for the year are shown below.

Number Rate

Gross Number of Rate of
of Lost of Lost Fatal
Scope Man-hours Recordable Recordable
- Workdays Workdays Cases
(million) Cases Cases
Cases Cases
Company staff 40 16 0.08 10 0.05 1
Staff of the Company and
direct contractors 111 44 0.08 22 0.04 2
CORPORATE CITIZEN

As a strong advocator of social responsibility and the development of a harmonious relationship between enterprise
and society and people and nature, the Company regards its social responsibilities as a fundamental obligation. While
being committed to achieving sustainable development and creating value for its shareholders, the Company also
strives to provide clean and reliable energy to the society and to meet the needs of stakeholders.
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Our social responsibilities are: to build CNOOC Limited into a driving force for sustainable energy supply, a leading
force for clean, healthy and green energy development, and a motivating force for the mutual progress of stakeholders
and society.

In 2019, the Company will publish on its website the “2018 Environmental, Society and Governance Report”, which
will provide a full review of the Company’s corporate social responsibility activities in 2018.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Company believes that its employees are the driving force for its development and the foundation for the
continuous growth of its corporate values. The Company values employees, cares for their needs, strives to create a
good working environment, and assists them in their career development. In 2018, CNOOC Limited ranked sixth in
Forbes’ Global 2000 list of the World’s Best Employers. It is the only energy company and the only Chinese company
among the top 10 entries.

Caring for Employees

CNOOC Limited regards its employees as the most valuable assets and wealth. The Company always adheres to the
people-oriented development concept, attaches great importance to the rights and interests of employees, constantly
improves various labour systems to creates a good growing environment for employees and helps them grow in a
healthy atmosphere. At the same time, the Company also cares about the physical and mental health of its employees,
and strives to bring about benefit to the all the staff such that the employees progress along with the Company.

Labour Policy underpinned by Objectivity, Openness and Fairness

The Company complies with the employment principles of diversification and anti-discrimination, and insists on the
equal treatment of employees of different races, nationalities, beliefs, genders, age, marital status and those protected
by special laws in staff recruitment. The Company strives to cultivate a respectful, open and inclusive corporate
culture and cherish the diverse talents of employees by providing fair opportunities in recruitment, promotion, training
and career development and so on.
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CNOOC Limited adheres to the principle of gender equality in employment by increasing the number of female
employees and conducting training and educational activities for female taking up management roles. In addition, the
Company also enriches the leisure life of female employees and encourages them to participate in various activities.
As of the end of 2018, the Company had a total of 2,846 female employees, representing 16% of the total workforce,
of which female employees in mid-level and senior management positions represent 18%.

CNOOC Limited respects the diverse cultures of different countries and their local customs and advocates mutual
understanding between employees with different national, geographical and cultural backgrounds. The Company also
strives to promote the harmonious and friendly communication and integrated development between local and foreign
employees in order to build a vibrant working environment.

All the employment contracts are based on the principles of equality and voluntariness. The Company strictly
complies with labor laws and regulations, opposes any form of inhumane treatment, and is in compliance with the
regulations regarding salaries, overtime hours and statutory benefits requirements of all its places of operation and
prohibits any compulsory labour.

Sufficient Safeguard on Employees’ Rights

In China, the Company strictly complies with the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other policies and regulations which safeguard the legal rights and interests
of its employees. Overseas, the Company abides by all relevant laws and regulations and implements the relevant
international conventions ratified by the Chinese government to ensure respect for all our employees’ legal rights.

The Company strives to create an open, transparent and fair work environment. In keeping with its “people-oriented”
spirit and “staff caring” concept, it places great emphasis on safeguarding the legal rights of staff members.

We offer employees competitive compensation packages, and have established a salary increment and allocation
system. The Company’s remuneration system implements multi-level incentive schemes closely associated with
employee performance and contribution, particularly for technological experts and frontline staff. A mechanism that
links employee incomes with the Company’s profit growth has also been adopted to ensure that our employees can
fully benefit from the growth and development of the Company.

A comprehensive and effective social security system has also been built, and many types of social and supplementary
insurance are provided to employees on a timely basis. In addition to making contributions for the five basic social
insurances (pension, medical, work-related injury, unemployment and maternity), the Company also provides
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supplementary personal accident insurance, commercial supplementary medical insurance and supplementary medical
insurance for children. The Company has also established annuity and housing subsidy programs for employees.

The Company has established labor unions at all levels in accordance with the “Trade Union Law of the People’s
Republic of China”, which protect the legitimate rights of the employees, oversee the Company’s performance of duties
and obligations, supervise its various business activities related to the interests of the employees, and communicate
with the management on behalf of employees. Depending on the actual situation, the Company follows the
management systems such as the “Detailed Rules for Management of Labor Contract” which is implemented across the
Company. At the same time, it maintains close communication with the legal department and labor unions to jointly
protect the legitimate rights of employees.

Overseas, CNOOC Limited comprehensively protects the legitimate rights of foreign employees by strictly complying
with the local employment regulations, providing foreign employees with vacations, social insurance and other
benefits. The Company also encourages foreign employees to develop together with the Company by creating
remuneration adjustment mechanism and incentive mechanism according to the practical situations of the respective
localities. Development opportunities such as job exchange, on-the-job training and overseas positions are offered and
the Company will provide necessary vocational skills trainings and ability improvement trainings to its foreign
employees.

Staff Development

CNOOC has always attached great importance to providing employees with opportunities for self-development.
Taking into account the different professional groups employed and their diverse characteristics, the Company has
established three teams — management (M series), technology (T series) and skill (W series) — under which employees
are provided suitable career development paths. In order to further enhance the core competitiveness of the Company,
promote the coordination and development of teams of talent at all levels and comprehensively improve the overall
quality and capabilities of the teams of talent, the Company has formulated the “13th Five-Year” talent development
plan.
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In 2018, the Company completed a total of 57 key training projects, with more than 2,400 attendances and more than
300 course developers and internal lecturers. It also completed training courses for the development of research and
production directors, underground operations supervision, QHSE projects and other topics.

Meanwhile, the Company continued to encourage professional skill certifications and further increased the proportion
of experienced professionals. In 2018, a total of approximately 2,000 employees received certifications. Currently
there are approximately 4,585 employees with titles of senior worker or above, and approximately 963 technicians and
senior technicians, respectively accounting for 76% and 16% of the total technical workforce.

Cultivation of International Talents

The Company’s strong focus on cultivating international talents is manifested in its established system of strata
training which promotes business integration both inside and outside the Company.

In 2018, the Company followed up and evaluated the implementations of revised overseas human resources
management measures. Problems were subsequently analysed and measures were promptly taken to satisfy the
different needs of human resources management for overseas business. We continued to implement programs for
international talent selection and training by implementing a target-oriented training program of “International Leading
and Core Talents”. Meanwhile, the Company also sought cooperation with local and foreign universities on talent
cultivation.
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Corporate Governance Report

GOVERNANCE STANDARDS

The Company has always upheld and attained high standard of business ethics, for which its transparency and

standard of governance have been recognized by the public and its shareholders. In 2018, the Company was awarded
as the “Best Investor Relations Company (China)” and “Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations (China))” by Corporate
Governance Asia Magazine, “Top 100 Global Energy Leaders” by Thomson Reuters, “2018 China Securities Golden
Bauhinia Awards — Best Listed Companies” and “Best CEO of Listed Companies” by Ta Kung Wen Wei Media Group
and “Corporate Awards — Platinum” by The Asset. High and strict standard of corporate governance enables the
Company to operate steadily and efficiently and is in the long-term interests of the Company and its shareholders.

Since its listing, the Company has endeavoured to maximize its shareholders’ value. In 2018, the Company executed
its corporate governance policies strictly and sought to comply with the relevant provisions in the “Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report” set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”),
ensuring that all decisions were made on the principles of trust and fairness and in an open and transparent manner so
as to protect the interests of all shareholders. The Company values the importance of corporate governance and in
light of the CG Code, the Company set out a summary of the Company’s key corporate governance practices during
2018 below.

KEY CORPORATE GOvERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND THE COMPANY’S PRACTICES

A.DIRECTORS

A.1The Board

Principle: “An issuer should be headed by an effective board which should assume responsibility for its leadership
and control and be collectively responsible for promoting its success by directing and supervising its affairs.
Directors should take decisions objectively in the best interests of the issuer.

The board should regularly review the contribution required from a director to perform his responsibilities to the
issuer, and whether he is spending sufficient time performing them.”
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:Fhe Board consisted of eight members, including two Executive Directors, two Non- executive Directors and four
Independent Non- executive Directors, as of 31 December 2018.

The list of Directors, their respective biographies, and their respective roles in the Committees and the management
are set out on pages 47 to 53 and 148 of this annual report, respectively. The relevant information has also been
disclosed on the Company’s website.

The Board and Committee members of the Company are dedicated, professional and accountable.

The Company holds Board meetings at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Six Board
meetings were held in 2018. Members of the Board have also actively participated in the discussions on the business
and operation of the Company, either in person or through other electronic means of communication such as emails,
when necessary.

There exists an open atmosphere for Directors to contribute alternative views. All decisions of the Board are made on
the principles of trust and fairness in an open and transparent manner, so as to protect the interests of all shareholders.

The Board has regularly reviewed the contribution required from a Director to perform his responsibilities to the
Company, and whether he is spending sufficient time performing them in accordance with the CG Code.

Attendance of full Board meetings held in 2018

No. of
meetings
attended
(Four
meetings in
total)
by by
Direcfpoxy
Executive Directors
Yuan Guangyu 6 0
Xu Keqiang 6 0
Non-executive Directors
Yang Hua (Chairman) 6 0

Wang Dongjin

(Vice Chairman) (Note 1) 4 0
Liu Jian (Note 2) 3 0
Wu Guanggqi (Note 3) 2 0
Independent

Non-executive Directors

Chiu Sung Hong 6 0
Lawrence J. Lau 6 0
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 6 0
Kevin G. Lynch 6 0
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With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company, and was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company with
effect from 5 December 2018.

Note
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Note With effect from 16 August 2018, Mr. Liu Jian resigned as the Vice Chairman and a Non-executive Director of
2: the Company.

Note With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
3: Remuneration Committee of the Company.

The Joint Company Secretaries consulted the Directors on matters to be included in the agenda for regular Board
meetings.

Dates of regular Board meetings have been scheduled at least two months before the meeting to provide sufficient
notice to all Directors so that they can have an opportunity to attend. For non-regular Board meetings, reasonable
advance notices have been given.

Minutes of the meetings of the Board and Committees are kept by the Joint Company Secretaries and open for
inspection at any reasonable time upon reasonable request by any Director.

Minutes of the meetings of the Board and Committees recorded sufficient details of the matters considered by the
Board and Committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
expressed. Draft and final versions of the minutes of the Board meetings and Committee meetings are sent to all
Directors and all Committee members respectively within a reasonable time after the Board meetings and Committee
meetings for their comments and records.

Committees may, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
€Company’s expense. The Board would resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to
assist them in performing their duties to the Company at the Company’s expense.

If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board and such
.interest has been considered to be material by the Board, the matter will not be dealt with by a written resolution but a
Board meeting will be convened for that matter. Independent Non-executive Directors who do not (and whose close
associates also do not) have material interest in the transaction will be present at such Board meeting.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action against its Directors.
A.2Chairman and Chief Executive
Principle: “There are two key aspects of the management of every issuer — the management of the board and the

day-to-day management of business. There should be a clear division of these responsibilities to ensure a balance of

61



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any one individual.”

The Chairman ensures all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and is responsible for
ensuring that Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete
and reliable.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership for the Board. The Chairman ensures that the
Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner. The Chairman delegates the responsibility of drawing up the agenda for each Board
meeting and Committee meeting to the Joint Company Secretaries who will take into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda, and the Chairman is primarily responsible for
approving the agenda.

The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established.

The Chairman encourages all Directors to make full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman encourages Directors with different
views to voice their concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensures that Board decisions fairly
reflect Board consensus.

The Chairman holds meetings with the Independent Non-executive Directors and Non- executive Directors without
the presence of the Executive Directors at least annually.

The Chairman ensures that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with shareholders and that
their views are communicated to the Board as a whole.
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The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of Non-executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors in particular and ensuring constructive relations between
Executive and Non- executive Directors.

The CEO is responsible for conducting the Company’s business and affairs consistent with the principles and
directions established by the Board.

A.3Board composition

Principle: “The board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the issuer’s business. It should ensure that changes to its composition can be managed without undue
disruption. It should include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) so that there is a strong independent element on the board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgment. Non-executive directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for their views to carry
weight.”

The Board , as representatives of the shareholders of the Company, is committed to the achievement of business
success and the enhancement of long-term shareholder’s value with the highest standards of integrity and ethics. The
role of the Board is to direct, guide and oversee the conduct of the Company’s business and to ensure that the interests
of the shareholders are being served.

As of 31 December 2018, the Board consisted of eight members: two of them were Executive Directors, two of them
were Non-executive Directors and four of them were Independent Non-executive Directors. All Directors were
identified by categories of Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors in
all corporate communications that set out the names of the Directors of the Company. A list of the Directors
identifying their updated roles and functions was maintained on the Company’s website and on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange’s website during the reporting period.

The Executive Directors of the Company are all individuals with extensive experience in the Company’s respective
fields of operation. Both of them are familiar with the Company’s businesses and have cooperated with leading global
players in the oil and gas industry. Mr. Yuan Guangyu has over 30 years of experience in the oil and gas industry and
Mr. Xu Keqiang has over 20 years of experience in the oil and gas industry.

The Non-executive Directors of the Company are all individuals with extensive experience in the parent company’s
respective fields of operation.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company are all professionals or scholars with backgrounds in the
legal, economic, financial and investment fields. They have extensive experience and knowledge of corporate
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management and make significant contributions to the Company’s strategic decisions.

The Company believes that the active involvement of the Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors in the management and decision making of the Board and its Committees strengthens the objectivity and
independence of the Board.

The diverse backgrounds of the Board members ensure that they can fully represent the interests of all shareholders of
the Company and to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and corporate governance.

The Company has received annual confirmations from all of its Independent Non-executive Directors acknowledging
full compliance with the relevant requirements in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is therefore of the view that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

A.4 & Appointments, re-election and removal &

A.5Nomination Committee

Principle: “There should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors.
There should be plans in place for orderly succession for appointments. All directors should be subject to re-election
at regular intervals. An issuer must explain the reasons for the resignation or removal of any director.”

The Nomination Committee comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors (Mr. Lawrence J. Lau and Mr.
Kevin G. Lynch) and one Non-executive Director (Mr. Yang Hua), with Mr. Yang Hua serving as the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee. A list of members of the Nomination Committee is set out under the section headed
“Company Information” on page 148 of this annual report.

The role of the Nomination Committee is to determine the policy and establish proper procedures for the selection of
the Company’s leadership positions, upgrade the quality of Board members and perfect the Company’s corporate
governance structure.
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The main authorities and responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the Board for
suitable candidates to serve as Directors and senior management of the Company for approval by the Board, to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board (including the skills, knowledge and experience), and to evaluate the
leadership abilities of Executive Directors, so as to ensure the competitiveness of the Company.

With respect to nomination for new directors and re-election of directors, the Company follows a considered and
transparent nomination policy and the Nomination Committee adheres to such policy for nomination of Directors. The
nomination of Directors was made in accordance with the nomination policy and the objective criteria (including
eender, age, cultural, educational background and relevant or professional experience, ethnicity, skills, knowledge,
etc.), with due regard for the benefits of diversity, as set out under the board diversity policy of the Company. Under
the nomination policy for Directors of the Company, the Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to
the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to shareholders for election and re-election of Directors.

When nominating a particular candidate for Director, the Nomination Committee will consider (1) integrity and
character; (2) the breadth and depth of the management and/ or leadership experience of the candidate; (3) financial
literacy or other professional or business experience of the candidate that are relevant to the Company and its
business; (4) the experience or knowledge of the candidate that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strategy and in international operations; (5) commitment in respect of available time; (6) diversity including gender,
age, cultural, educational background, ethnicity, skills, knowledge, experience, etc; and (7) independence criteria as
required under the Listing Rules for candidates for independent non-executive Directors. All candidates must be able
to meet the standards set out in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee considers the personal profile and credentials of the proposed candidates and
may request candidates to provide additional information and documents if it considers necessary, and
assesses the proposed candidates or incumbent candidates on criteria set out above. The Nomination
Committee may also invite nominations of suitable candidates from Board members (if any) for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. For filling a casual vacancy, the
Nomination Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election and re-election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

When nominating an Independent Non- executive Director who has served the Company for more than nine years, the
Board will propose shareholders’ vote by way of a separate resolution on any decision to re-elect such Independent
Non-executive Director and include in the circular and/or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the
relevant general meeting to shareholders the reasons why the Board still considers such Director as independent and
shall be re- elected. Mr. Chiu Sung Hong who has served as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
for over nine years, will retire from office and being eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on 23 May 2019. Mr. Chiu has thorough understanding of the Company’s operations and
business. As an Independent Non-executive Director, Mr. Chiu has always contributed objectively in advising the
Board and the senior management, expressing objective views, and giving valuable independent guidance to the
Company in his capacity as Independent Non-executive Director over the years. He is currently the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee, and served as a chairman of the independent board
committee several times in connection with the connected transactions entered into by the Company and its
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subsidiaries. Mr. Chiu has been continuously demonstrating firm commitments to his role. Mr. Chiu always places
great importance on high standards of corporate governance. Due to his legal background and experience, Mr. Chiu is
able to provide valuable and useful advices and guidance to the Company in areas such as legal compliance,
employment issues, commercial laws and etc.. Mr. Chiu has never been engaged in any executive management of the
Group. Mr. Chiu has provided confirmation of their independence according to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board, with the recommendation of the Nomination Committee of the Company, considers that Mr. Chiu remain
independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules despite the fact that he has served the Board
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for over nine years. In accordance with Code Provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, the Company will include in the
notice and the circular of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2019 the reasons why the Board
still considers Mr. Chiu as independent and shall be re-elected.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for evaluating the contributions and independence of incumbent
Directors so as to determine whether they should be recommended for re-election. Based on such evaluation, the
Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board candidates for re- election at general meetings and appropriate
replacements (if necessary). The Board, based on the recommendations of the Nomination Committee, will propose to
the shareholders the candidates for re-election at the relevant general meetings.

A Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition shall hold office until the next
extraordinary general meeting and/or annual general meeting (as appropriate).

Our Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of one year. However, none of our existing Independent
Non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term, which constitutes a deviation from the CG Code. Further
explanation is set out under the section headed “Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code” on page 44.

All Directors, including those appointed for a specific term are subject to retirement by rotation once every three years
and are subject to re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company (as amended and adopted
by special resolution of the Company on 27 May 2009) (the “Articles”) and the CG Code.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee under its charter during the year:

Reviewed the structure, size and composition ( including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and its
eemmittees and made recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

Assessed the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;

Identified individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and made recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

Made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of Directors and reviewed succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and CEQ, according to the nomination procedure and process and criteria adopted by the
Company;
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Reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management and made recommendations to the Board in that regard; and

Evaluated and assessed the effectiveness of the Nomination Committee and the adequacy of the charter of the
Nomination Committee and recommended the proposed changes to the charter to the Board (if necessary).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as a Non- executive Director and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 27 April 2018, and was appointed as the
Vice Chairman of the Company with effect from 5 December 2018. Mr. Liu Jian resigned as the Vice Chairman and a
Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 16 August 2018. Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a
Non-executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 27 April
2018. Other than the above, the Nomination Committee considered that any other change to the composition of the
Board was not necessary. It will keep assessing whether any such change is required going forward and will
recommend to the Board qualified candidates as Directors according to the nomination policy and procedure of the
Nomination Committee.

To demonstrate the Company’s continued commitment to high standards of corporate governance, the Board adopted a
board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 20 August 2013. The Policy aims to continue to improve corporate governance
and ensure the diversity of Board members. A summary of the Policy is set out below:
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Purpose: The Policy aims to continue to improve corporate governance and ensure the diversity on the Board.

With a view to leading its leap-forward development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, board diversity shall be considered from a number of

zzltlecrient' aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
" experience, skills, knowledge and length of service . A 11 Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits
of diversity on the Board.
. Selection of candidates will be based on diversity of perspectives, including but not limited to, gender,
Selection . . . . . e
criterion: age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and diversified

vision.

Since the adoption of the Policy in August 2013, the Board has observed the Policy and took into account the
objectives set out in the Policy in reviewing its Board composition. In particular, in selecting the candidates for
Non-executive Director, not only the Board considered the knowledge, experience and industry-specific exposures of
the candidates, the Board also took into account other factor such as cultural background and diversified vision of the
candidates. In selecting candidates for Executive Director, the Board will consider knowledge and exposures in the oil
and gas industry, leadership and management skills and experience and length of service in the industry. As a result,
the Nomination Committee considered that the appointment of Non-executive Director and Vice Chairman (as the
case maybe) during the reporting period were appropriate and that there is sufficient diversity at the Board level.

Attendance of individual members at Nomination Committee meetings in 2018

No. of
meetings
attended
(Three
meetings in
total)
Directors Egmm1]3t¥ee
membglr'oxy
Yang Hua (Chairman) 3 0
Lawrence J. Lau 3 0
Kevin G. Lynch 3 0
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A.6Responsibilities of Directors

Principle: “Every director must always know his responsibilities as a director of an issuer and its conduct, business
activities and development. Given the essential unitary nature of the board, non- executive directors have the same
duties of care and skill and fiduciary duties as executive directors.”

The Company regularly updates its Directors with changes in laws and regulations relevant to their roles as Directors
of the Company.

Directors’ training and professional development:

All Directors newly appointed to the Board receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on appointment
for the purpose of giving an overview of the business and operations of the Group and appropriate briefings and
trainings from the Company covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of Directors, organizational structure,
policies, procedures and codes of the Company and terms of reference of Committees. The senior management and
the Joint Company Secretaries will also conduct subsequent briefings as and when necessary to ensure that the
Directors are kept appraised of the latest developments relevant to the operations and business of the Company, and
their responsibilities under statutes and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements as
well as the Company’s business and governance policies, so that they are able to discharge their responsibilities

properly.
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The Company also recognizes the importance of continuous professional development of the Directors. Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
During the year, the Company arranged trainings conducted by its external professional advisers on Navigating oil

and gas through the energy transition. The trainings covered a broad range of topics including latest trends of Energy
demand and industry development. In addition, the Directors read materials prepared by the external advisers of the
Company on topics such as case studies on inside information and insider dealing. Directors also attended various e-
training launched by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on topics such as corporate governance update 2018 ,
appointment of independent non-executive directors, independent non-executive directors’ role, directors’ attendance at
meetings and dividend policy, etc.

Certain Directors also attended trainings organized by the Company or external professional bodies on other
regulatory updates as well as obligations of directors. In addition, Directors also read materials/publications which
they thought appropriate and necessary for the fulfillment of their roles. The Directors provided their regular training
records to the Company.

In addition, the Company also provided regular updates to Directors in respect of continuing obligations of listed
issuers and their directors as well as monthly updates on the business and operations of the Group.

The Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive Directors actively participate in Board meetings and
Committees meetings to exercise their independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of conduct of the Company. They are responsible for taking
the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise.

:Fhe Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees of the Company.

During 2018, each Non-executive Director or Independent Non-executive Director attended or otherwise appointed an
alternate to attend all regularly scheduled meetings of the Board and Committees on which such Non-executive
Director or Independent Non-executive Director sat in, and reviewed the meeting materials distributed in advance for
such meetings and shared their experience, skills and expertise with the Board or the relevant Committees. All of the
Non- executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company made positive contributions to
the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent, constructive and informed comments.
The Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive Directors have been responsible for scrutinising our
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives and monitoring our performance reporting.

Mr. Yang Hua, Chairman of the Board, together with the Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-executive
Directors attended the General Meetings held in 2018 and responded to questions raised by the shareholders in order
to develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

Attendance at general meetings in 2018:
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No. of
meetings
Directors attended
(One
meeting
in total)
Executive Directors
Yuan Guangyu 1
Xu Keqiang 1
Non-executive Directors
Yang Hua (Chairman) 1
Wang Dongjin (Vice Chairman) (Note 1) 1
Liu Jian (Note 2) 1
Wu Guanggqi (Note 3) 0
Independent Non-executive Directors
Chiu Sung Hong 1
Lawrence J. Lau 1
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 1
Kevin G. Lynch 1

With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company, and was also appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company.
with effect from 5 December 2018.

Note

33

72



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

Note With effect from 16 August 2018, Mr. Liu Jian resigned as the Vice Chairman and a Non-executive Director of
2: the Company.

Note With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
3: Remuneration Committee of the Company.

The Directors are required to inform the Company in case of any change in the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organizations and other significant commitments. Please refer to “Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 47 to 53 for the biographies of the Directors.

A.7Supply of and access to information

Principle: “Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in the form and quality to
enable them to make an informed decision and perform their duties and responsibilities.”

The Company’s senior management regularly provides the Board and its Committees with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable them to make informed decisions. Senior management also organises presentations to the
Board conducted by professional advisers on specific transactions as appropriate.

For regular Board meetings and Committee meetings, the agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent in full to
all Directors at least three days before the intended date of the Board meetings or Committee meetings.

The Board and each Director have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior management and also the
Joint Company Secretaries, who will provide full and prompt responses to queries raised by the Directors. All
Directors are entitled to have access to the Board papers, minutes and related materials upon reasonable notice.

B.REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND BOARD EVALUATION

B.1The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

Principle: “An issuer should disclose its directors’ remuneration policy and other remuneration related matters. The
procedure for setting policy on executive directors’ remuneration and all directors’ remuneration packages should be
formal and transparent. Remuneration levels should be sufficient to attract and retain directors to run the company
successfully without paying more than necessary. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.”
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The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors (Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr.
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius), and one Non-executive Director (Mr. Wu Guangqi, who resigned as a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 27 April 2018 and Mr. Wang Dougjin was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee on the same date), with Mr. Chiu Sung Hong serving as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee is delegated with the authority of determining and approving salaries,
bonuses, share option packages, performance appraisal systems and retirement plans for all Executive Directors and
senior management. A list of members of the Remuneration Committee is set out in “Company Information” on page
148 of this annual report.

The major responsibilities and authorities of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure of the remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Company and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy,
determining and reviewing the service contracts and specific remuneration packages for all Executive Directors and
senior management, such as benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment, reviewing and approving the compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure consistency with contractual
terms, and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Company’s emolument policy is to maintain fair and competitive packages with reference to industry standards
and prevailing market conditions. The Remuneration Committee is mindful that levels of remuneration must be
sufficient to attract and retain the Directors and senior management in order to run the Company successfully, but at
the same time, the Company should avoid setting remunerations which are in excess of those necessary for this
purpose. The Directors’ emolument package may comprise the Director’s fees, basic salaries and allowances, bonuses,
share options and others. The following factors are considered in determining the Directors’ remuneration package:
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Business needs, company goals and objectives;

Responsibilities of the Directors and their individual contribution; and

Changes in relevant markets, for example, supply/demand fluctuations and changes in competitive conditions.

Details of the remuneration, as well as the share option benefits of Directors for the year ended 31 December 2018, are
set out on pages 95 to 97 of this annual report.

No individual Director or any of his/ her associates or senior management of the Company is permitted to determine
his/her own remuneration.

The Company seeks to apply similar principles when determining the remuneration packages for senior management
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives. Other general staff and employees are rewarded on a
performance-rated basis with other fringe benefits such as social insurance, pension funds and medical cover.

Please refer to notes 8 to 9 to the financial statements on pages 95 to 97 of this annual report for details of Directors’
remuneration and senior management’s remuneration by band and the five highest paid individuals in the Company.

The remuneration of Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors recommended by the
KRemuneration Committee is determined by the Board and no Directors participated in determining their own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee also administers the Company’s share option schemes and all other employee
equity-based compensation plans, with full authority to make all other determinations in the administration thereof,
but subject to the limitations prescribed by laws and the rules of such plans and programs.

The Remuneration Committee consults the Chairman and CEO about its proposal relating to the remuneration of other
Executive Directors and have access to independent professional advice if necessary.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee under its charter during the year:
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Reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the Company’s individual Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company;

Reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the newly appointed Director and senior management;

Made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for Directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

Assessed performance of Executive Directors and approved the terms of their service contracts;
Made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of the Company’s Non- executive Directors; and

Evaluated and assessed the effectiveness of the Remuneration Committee and the adequacy of the charter of the
Remuneration Committee and recommended the proposed changes to the charter to the Board (if necessary).

Attendance of individual members at Remuneration Committee meetings in 2018

No. of
meetings
attended
(Two
meetings in
total)
by
Directors commlkRIee
memb&r
Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) 2 0
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 2 0
Wang Dongjin (Note 1) 1 0
Wu Guanggqi (Note 2) 1 0

Note With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member
1: of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Note With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
2: Remuneration Committee of the Company.
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C.ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

C.1Financial reporting

Principle: “The board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the company’s
performance, position and prospects.”

The Company has established a mechanism for reporting to the Board by providing a monthly management report in
order to ensure that the Board fully understands the operating conditions and the relevant financial position of the
€Company. The Board is responsible for preparing accounts that give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial
position on a going- concern basis and other financial disclosures. Management provides the Board with the relevant
information it needs to fulfill these responsibilities.

Directors discuss the operating budget for the next year and approve the operating budget at the end of each year and
will review the execution of the operating budget for the whole year. Management will also provide sufficient
explanations and information to the Board. All significant changes in the operating conditions and investment
decisions will be discussed in sufficient details by the Board.

Directors also discuss and analyse the performance of the Group, the long term business model and corporate
strategies of the Company for achieving the Company’s objectives and generating or preserving value over the longer
term. Please refer to the relevant section in Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 63 to 66 for details.

If necessary, the Directors will also engage professional independent consultants so that the Directors can gain an
tn-depth and comprehensive understanding and assessment of the relevant matters, in order to make well- grounded
assessments.

In response to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act promulgated by the U.S. Congress in 2002 to safeguard the
interests of investors, increase the accuracy and effectiveness of financial reporting and financial information
disclosure, the management has issued a statement on the responsibility and effectiveness of internal control based on
financial reporting, and the auditors of the Company have also audited the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting.

The Company regularly updates investors with progress of development and performance of the Company through
formal channels such as annual reports, interim reports and announcements made through the Hong Kong Stock
€xchange’s website and the Company’s website, as well as through press releases. The Company also issues quarterly
operational statistics and announces its strategy at the beginning of the year to enhance transparency about its
performance and to give details of the latest development of the Company in a timely manner.
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The Company provides a balanced, clear and understandable assessment in its interim and annual reports, other
financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules, reports to the regulators and information disclosed under statutory
requirements to enable investors to appraise its development over the period and its financial position.

The Company has also engaged independent technical consultant firms to conduct a review of its oil and gas business
and discloses details of its oil and gas properties in its annual report (as set out on pages 128 to 140).

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as referred to in Code Provision C.1.3 of the CG
Code.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on page 67.

Risk management and internal control

Principle: “The board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
C.2t0 take in achieving the issuer’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the issuer establishes and maintains

appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The board should oversee management

in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and
management should provide a confirmation to the board on the effectiveness of these systems.”
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The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibilities to ensure that the Company establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems and review their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board regularly, and at least annually, receives reports from the management of the Company regarding the
establishment, review and evaluation of the Company’s strategic, financial, operational and compliance control, risk
management and internal control systems. All major risks are reported to the Board. The Board will also evaluate the
corresponding risks and the response plan.

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to oversee the risk management and internal control systems
and the internal audit function of the Company on an on-going basis (at least annually). For work completed
by the Audit Committee on the Company’s risk management and internal control systems, please refer to the
section headed “C.3 Audit Committee” below.

The Company’s Risk Management Committee is directly managed by the CEO of the Company and has been
authorized by the Board to be in charge with the organization and implementation of the overall risk management and
internal control. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for establishing the risk management and internal
control systems, implementing standardized organization, authorization, responsibilities, procedures and methods for
the risk management and internal control systems. The Risk Management Committee is also responsible for ongoing
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company, and makes periodic reports to the
Audit Committee and the Board regarding the status of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company.

With respect to risk management, the Company has chosen and adopted the risk management framework issued by
COSO in the United States of America (“COSO”), established a risk management system covering design,
implementation, monitoring, assessment and continuous improvement based on the ISO 31000:2009 “Risk
Management — Principles and Guidelines”. The Risk Management Committee established the overall targets and
policies of the risk management system which are in line with the strategic objectives of the Company, and identified,
analysed and assessed the overall risk of the Company, including the Company’s key risks in making major decisions,
important events and key business processes. The Risk Management Committee is also responsible for reviewing and
approving the response plans to major risks, as well as periodically following-up and reviewing the implementation of
such response plans, in order to make sure that sufficient attention, monitor and responses will be paid to all key risks
of the Company. The risk management reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board periodically.

With respect to internal control, the Company has chosen and adopted the internal control framework issued by
COSO, established an internal control system and mechanism over financial, operational and compliance controls and
has conducted continuing review and evaluation of the internal control system of the Company to ensure the
timeliness, accuracy and completeness of all information reported.
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The Company has established procedures for identifying, handling and disseminating inside information in
compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including the issue
of an inside information disclosure policy, the annual review and update (if necessary) of such inside information
disclosure guide, pre-clearance on dealing in Company’s securities by Directors and designated members of the
management, notification of regular blackout period and securities dealing restrictions to relevant Directors and
employees, identification of project by code name and dissemination of information to stated purpose and on a
need-to-know base have been implemented by the Company to guard against possible mishandling of inside
information within the Group.
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Whistleblowing policy and system have been established for employees and those who deal with the Company to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in any matter relating to the Company.

The Company has maintained an open channel to handle and discuss internal reports concerning finance, internal
control and fraud to ensure that all reports will receive sufficient attention and any significant internal control
weakness or reports will directly reach to the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Company has established a mechanism for remediating internal control deficiency under which the management
of each level are assigned with clear responsibilities relating to remediating internal control deficiency in accordance
with their respective levels. Those responsibilities are also included in the internal performance indicators of the
Company.

During the reporting period, the Company’s internal audit function provided independent assurance as to the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems. The financial condition, operational
control and compliance control of the Company were examined by the internal audit function according to the audit
plan approved by the Audit Committee. Different audit areas were assigned according to risk priority. The internal
audit function assisted the Board to monitor the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.
After completion of an internal audit, analysis, appraisals, recommendations related to the activities inspected were
formulated. The internal audit function reported to the Audit Committee and the Board about internal audit findings,
internal audit recommendation and the management responses. In addition, the internal audit function maintained a
regular dialogue with the Company’s external auditors so that both are aware of the significant factors which may
affect their respective scope of work.

Reports from external auditors on internal control and relevant financial reporting matters were presented to
and reviewed by the Audit Committee.

The management reported the above works to the Audit Committee for the purpose of assisting the Audit Committee
to review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.

The management evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the Company’s risk management system and the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting for 2018 and did not discover any material weakness from the
evaluation. As a result, the Board considered that as of 31 December 2018, the Company’s risk management system
and the Company’s internal control over financial reporting were effective.

C.3 Audit Committee

Principle: “The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements to consider how it will apply financial
reporting, risk management and internal control principles and maintain an appropriate relationship with the issuer’s
auditors. The audit committee established under the Listing Rules should have clear terms of reference.”
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The Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors (Mr. Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius, Mr. Chiu
Sung Hong and Mr. Lawrence J. Lau), with Mr. Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius as the Audit Committee financial expert for
the purposes of U.S. securities laws and Chairman of the Audit Committee. A list of members of the Audit Committee
is set out under the section headed “Company Information” on page 148 of this annual report.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year and is responsible for reviewing the completeness, accuracy and
fairness of the Company’s accounts, evaluating the Company’s auditing scope (both internal and external) and
procedures as well as the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee, together with senior management and the external auditors, review the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discuss the risk management and internal control and financial reporting matters. The
Board also assesses the effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems based on the reviews by the
Risk Management Committee, senior management, internal audit function and external auditors.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for overseeing the operation of the internal control system so as to ensure
that the Board is able to monitor the Company’s overall financial position, to protect the Company’s assets, and to

prevent major errors or omissions in financial reporting. The Audit Committee also meets at least twice a year with
our external auditors.

38

82



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company on an ongoing basis and reviewing with our external auditors and management periodically, not less
than annually, the scope, adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s corporate accounting and financial controls,
risk management and internal control systems, and any related significant findings regarding risks or exposures and
consider recommendations for improvement of such controls. The review should cover all material aspects, including
strategic, financial, operational and compliance controls. In conducting annual review, the Audit Committee in
particular, consider the factors including (a) the changes, since the last annual review, in the nature and extent of
significant risks, and the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external environment; (b) the
scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems, and where
applicable, the work of its internal audit function and other assurance providers; (c) the extent and frequency of
communication of monitoring results to the Board and the Audit Committee which enables them to assess the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company; (d) significant control failings or
weaknesses that have been identified during the period. Also, the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen
outcomes or contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in the future have, a material impact on the
Company’s financial performance or condition; and (e) the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial
reporting and Listing Rule compliance.

The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing the Company’s internal audit function, ensuring co-ordination
within the Group and between the Company’s internal and external auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit
function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company and to review and monitor its
effectiveness.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee under its charter during the year:

Reviewed the Company’s audited accounts, annual results announcements, unaudited interim accounts and interim
results announcements before they are tabled to the Board for approval, and discussed with senior management and
the external auditors over such accounts;

The Audit Committee held formal meetings with the external auditors and senior management of the Company at
least twice a year to discuss the matters including:

the external auditors’ engagement letter and general scope of their audit work, including planning and staffing of the
audit;

®

(ii)the Company’s management discussion and analysis disclosures in the annual report of the Company; and

the applicable accounting standards relating to the audit of the Company’s financial statements, including any
recent changes.

(iii)
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In addition to formal meetings arranged by the Company, members of the Audit Committee were also given direct
access to the external auditors, have frequent contacts with the external auditors to discuss issues from time to time;

On behalf of the Board, conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2018. The annual review included works such as:

review of reports submitted by and discussions with the Risk Management Committee and other senior
management concerned regarding major risks identified, changes in the nature and extent of major risks since the
last annual review, measures and response plans to manage risks identified, and the ability of the Company to
respond to such changes in its business operation, etc.;

®

review on whether the management has established effective risk management and internal control systems
(ii) pursuant to the Listing Rules as well as under relevant US requirements and to evaluate the scope and quality of
the management’s works on the risk management system, internal control system and internal audit;
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review the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
(iii) Company’s accounting, financial reporting functions and internal audit functions to ensure that the management
had performed its duty;

review of the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the Company to ensure coordination within the Group
(iv)and between the Company’s internal and external auditors and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Companys;

consider the major investigation findings on risk management and internal control systems and management’s
response to these findings; and

)

make recommendations to the Board and the senior management on the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and issues relevant to internal control.

(vi)

On the basis of the aforesaid review, the Audit Committee was not aware of any significant issues that would have an
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company;

Reviewed the work performed by the Company’s external auditors and their relationship with the Company’s senior
franagement, and made recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment of external auditors, as well as
the proposed auditors’ fees;

Reviewed and approved the Company’s audit and non-audit pre-approval policy to ensure auditors’ independence;

Members of the Audit Committee received materials from the Company’s external auditors from time to time in order
te-keep abreast of changes in financial reporting principles and practices, as well as issues relating to financial
reporting, risk management and internal controls relevant to the Company;

Considered and approved the non-audit services provided by the external auditors during the year;

Reviewed the arrangements by which employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about
peossible improprieties in financial reporting, risk management and internal control or other matters and ensure that
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation and for appropriate follow-up actions;

Reported on its findings and suggestions to the Board following its review of different aspects of the Company’s
financial reporting and risk management and internal control systems and made appropriate recommendations where
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necessary;

Reviewed the Company’s business ethics and compliance policies, related reports and training programs as appropriate
-and performed certain corporate governance duties delegated by the Board set out in Board Committees & Corporate
Governance Functions section on page 42; and

Evaluated and assessed the effectiveness of the Audit Committee and the adequacy of the charter of the Audit
Committee, and considered and recommended the proposed amendments to the charter and presented to the Board for
approval.

Full minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are kept by the Joint Company Secretaries. Draft and final versions of
minutes of the Audit Committee meetings are sent to all members of the Audit Committee for their comments and
records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after the meetings.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including independent access to and advice from external
auditors.

Attendance of individual members at Audit Committee meetings in 2018

No. of
meetings
attended
Independent (Four
meetings in
total)
Non-executive by .
committee
Directors membgly
proxy
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius 0
(Chairman and Financial Expert)
Chiu Sung Hong 4 0
Lawrence J. Lau 4 0
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D.DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

D.1Management functions

Principle: “An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for board approval. The board
should give clear directions to management on the matters that must be approved by it before decisions are made on
the issuer’s behalf.”

The Board is the ultimate decision-making body of the Company, other than those matters reserved to
shareholders of the Company. The Board oversees and provides strategic guidance to senior management
in order to enhance the long-term value of the Company for its shareholders. The Board delegates its

. management and administration functions to management and gives clear directions as to the powers of
management at the same time, in particular, with respect to the circumstances where management should
report back and obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on the Company’s behalf.

The day-to-day management is conducted by senior management and employees of the Company, under the direction
of the CEO and the oversight of the Board. In addition to its general oversight of the management, the Board also
performs a number of specific functions. The Company formalises the functions reserved to the Board and those
delegated to management and reviews those arrangements periodically to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
Company’s needs.

The primary functions performed by the Board include:

Reviewing and approving long-term strategic plans and annual operating plans, and monitoring the implementation
and execution of these plans;

®

(ii) Reviewing and approving significant financial and business transactions and other major corporate actions;

Reviewing and approving financial statements and reports, and overseeing the establishment and maintenance of
controls, processes and procedures to ensure accuracy, integrity and clarity in financial and other disclosures; and

(iii)

Overall responsibility for the Company’s ESG strategy and reporting, evaluating and determining the Company’s
(iv) ESG- related risks, and ensuring appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are
in place.
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The Board and the senior management have respective responsibilities, accountabilities and contributions. The
primary functions performed by the senior management are to conduct the daily business and implement the
abovementioned affairs approved and delegated by the Board and other matters as the Board may from time to time

request.
The Directors review such delegation arrangements periodically to ensure they remain appropriate to our needs.

Directors clearly understand delegation arrangements in place. The Company has entered into service agreements
with the Executive Directors and Non- executive Directors and has formal letters of appointment for Independent
Non-executive Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their engagements and appointments.

D.2 & Board Committees &

Corporate Governance and Functions

D'3Principle: “Board committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with
their authority and duties.”

The Company has established an Audit Committee, a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination Committee (each a
“Committee”) and has established a specific written committee charter (the “Charter”) for each of the Committees which
deals clearly with its authority and duties. The Charters of the Committees are published on the websites of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and the Company. These Committees will report to the Board on their decisions and
recommendations.

The Board has delegated the responsibility for performing certain corporate governance related duties and functions to
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee.

The Audit Committee shall be responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out below:

Developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

®
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Reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and making recommendations to the Board in that regard;

(i)

Developing, reviewing and monitoring the Code of Ethics for Directors and Senior Officers (“Code of Ethics”) and
making recommendations to the Board in that regard; and

(iii)

Reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report and making recommendations to the Board in that regard.

(iv)

The Nomination Committee shall be responsible for reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management and making recommendations to the Board in that
regard.

E.COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

E.1Effective communication

Principle: “The board should be responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, use annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage their
participation.”

The Board recognizes the importance of good and effective communication with all shareholders. With a policy of
being transparent, strengthening investor relations, and providing consistent and stable returns to shareholders, the
Company seeks to ensure transparency through establishing and maintaining different communication channels with
shareholders.

The Company has a professionally-run investor relations department to serve as an important communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and other investors.

A key element of effective communication with shareholders and investors is prompt and timely dissemination of
information in relation to the Company. In addition to announcing its interim and annual results to shareholders and
tnvestors, the Company also publicises its major business developments and activities through press releases,
announcements and the Company’s website in accordance with relevant rules and regulations. Press conferences and
analyst briefings are held from time to time on financial performance and major transactions.
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The general meetings also provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The Chairman
of the Board, as well as Chairmen of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee, or
in their absence, members of the respective Committees, and the external auditors of the Company, are available to
answer questions from shareholders at annual general meetings and extraordinary general meetings of the Company.

:Fhe Chairmen of the Board and all Committees, or in his absence, an alternate appointed by him will, whenever
possible, propose separate resolutions for each substantially separate issue at general meetings of the Company.

The Company’s management ensures the external auditors attend the annual general meeting to answer questions
about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’ report, the accounting policies and auditors’
independence.

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy and review it on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness.

E.2 Voting by Poll

Principle: “The issuer should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures for conducting a
poll.”

In 2018, all votes of shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company were taken by poll or otherwise in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Chairman of a meeting ensured that shareholders were familiar with the
procedures of voting by poll at the general meetings of the Company.

The results of the poll are published on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

F.Company Secretary

Principle: “The company secretary plays an important role in supporting the board by ensuring good information
flow within the board and that board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is responsible for
advising the board through the chairman and/or the chief executive on governance matters and should also facilitate
induction and professional development of directors.”
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Ms. Wu Xiaonan (who was appointed as the joint company secretary on 19 November 2018) and Ms. Tsue Sik Yu,
May are the Joint Company Secretaries of the Company. Ms. Li Jiewen resigned as the Joint Company Secretary of
the Company on 19 November 2018. Their biographies are set out on page 53 of this report. The Nomination
Committee of the Company has the responsibility to make recommendation for suitable candidates for the
appointment of company secretary to the Board and the Board has the responsibility to approve their selection,
appointment or dismissal by physical meeting of the Board.

The Joint Company Secretaries will report to the Chairman of the Board and/or the CEO.
€ach of the Joint Company Secretaries has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training every year.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Joint Company Secretaries to ensure that Board procedures
as well as all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION AND RIGHTS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

The procedures for shareholders to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company (“EGM”) are governed
by Article 60 of the Articles and sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong). On the request of shareholders of the Company, representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings, the Directors are required to call a general meeting.

The request must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the EGM and may include the text of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the EGM, be authenticated by the
shareholder(s) making the request, and sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form. The Directors
must call an EGM within 21 days after the date on which they become subject to the requirement and such EGM must
be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the meeting is given.

Whilst giving the above request, shareholders are recommended to provide written explanation of the reasons and
material implications relating to the proposed resolutions to enable all of the shareholders to properly consider and
determine the proposed resolutions.

The Company will, upon receipt of a request referred to above, issue a notice of extraordinary general meeting of the
proposed resolutions and (if applicable) circulars containing further information relating to the proposed resolutions in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Further enquiries relating to the above or enquiries that Shareholders wish to be put to the Board may be addressed to
the Joint Company Secretaries of the Company at 65/F, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL MEETINGS BY SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 615 and 616 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) if they wish to request the Company to give to other shareholders, who are entitled to receive notice of the
annual general meeting, notice of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the annual
general meeting.

Shareholders are requested to follow sections 580 to 583 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) if they wish to request the Company to circulate to other shareholders, who are entitled to receive notice of a
general meeting, a statement with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution or other business to be dealt
with at the general meeting.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has complied with the provisions of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, except for the deviation from the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code. The
following summarises the requirement under the above-mentioned code provision A.4.1 and the reason for such
deviation.

CG Code Provision A.4.1

Under CG Code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term and be subject to
re-election.

None of the existing Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company is appointed for a specific term. This
constitutes a deviation from the CG Code provision A.4.1. However, all the Directors are subject to the retirement
provisions under article 97 of the Articles (“Article 97”). According to Article 97, one-third of the Directors for the time
being must retire from the office by rotation at each annual general meeting. The Company has observed the need for
good corporate governance practices. All Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have retired from the
office by rotation and have been re-elected in the past three years. The Company considers that sufficient measures
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have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than those in the CG
Code.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was the following change in Directors.

With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company, and was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company with effect from
5 December 2018. With effect from 16 August 2018, Mr. Liu Jian resigned as the Vice Chairman and a Non-executive
Director of the Company. With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a Non-executive Director and
a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, there is no other change in the information of Directors of the
Company except as disclosed in this annual report.

CODE OF ETHICS

The Board adopted a Code of Ethics in 2003 to provide guidelines to the senior management and Directors in legal
and ethical matters as well as the sensitivity involved in reporting illegal and unethical matters. The Code of Ethics
covers areas such as supervisory rules, insider dealing, market malpractices, conflict of interests, company
opportunities, protection and proper use of the Company’s assets as well as reporting requirements. As part of its
continued efforts to improve its corporate governance standards, the Board conducted an annual review to the Code of
Ethics since 2009, and the current version of the Code of Ethics was reviewed and adopted in August 2018.

The Company has provided all its Directors and senior officers with a copy of the Code of Ethics and requires them to
comply with the Code of Ethics, so as to ensure the Company’s operation is proper and lawful. The Company will take
disciplinary actions towards any act which is in breach of the Code of Ethics. All the senior management members

and Directors are required to familiarise themselves with and follow the Code of Ethics to ensure that the Company’s
operations are honest and legal. Violations of the rules will be penalized and serious breaches will result in dismissal.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS
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The Company has adopted the abovementioned Code of Ethics which has incorporated the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All
Directors have confirmed that they complied, during the year ended 31 December 2018, with the Company’s Code of
Ethics and the required standards set out in the Model Code.

SERVICES AND REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, appointed as the independent auditors of the Company on 24 May 2013, was re-appointed
and engaged as the Company and its subsidiaries’ auditors (‘“Auditors”) for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
Services provided by the auditors and fees charged by the auditors for the services for the year ended 31 December
2018 are as follows:

Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by the Auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual
financial statements or services that are normally provided by the Auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory
filings or engagements were RMB50.9 million for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and RMBS51.8 million
for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Audit-related Fees

The aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services by the Auditors that are reasonably related to the
performance of the audit or review of the Company’s financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees” were
RMB4.5 million for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and RMB6.8 million for the financial year ended 31
December 2018.

Tax Fees
The aggregate fees billed for professional service rendered by the Auditors for tax compliance, tax advice and tax

planning were RMBO for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and RMBO for the financial year ended 31
December 2018.

All Other Fees
The aggregate fees billed for professional service rendered by the Auditors for risk management advisory services,
and information systems reviews were RMB250,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and

RMB250,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
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There are no other fees payable to the Auditors for products and/or services provided by the Auditors, other than the

services reported above, for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and for the financial year ended 31 December
2018.
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION POLICY

The payment of any future dividends will be determined by the Board, subject to requirements of applicable laws and
the Articles of Association of the Company and shareholders’ approval for all dividends other than interim dividends,
based upon, among other things, our future earnings, capital requirements, financial conditions, future prospects and
other factors which our Board may consider relevant. Our ability to pay dividends will also depend on the cash flows
determined by the dividends, if any, received by us from our subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Holders of our
shares will be entitled to receive such dividends declared by our Board and approved by the shareholders (if
necessary) pro rata according to the amounts paid up or credited as paid up on the shares.

STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AS REQUIRED BY SECTION 303A.11 OF THE NEW YORK
STOCK EXCHANGE LISTED COMPANY MANUAL

The Company is incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and the principal trading market for the ordinary shares of
the Company is the HKSE. In addition, because the Company’s ordinary shares are registered with the United Sates
Securities and Exchange Commission and are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”), the Company is
subject to certain corporate governance requirements of NYSE. However, many of the corporate governance rules in
the NYSE Listed Company Manual (the “NYSE Standards”) do not apply to the Company as a “foreign private issuer”
and the Company is permitted to follow its home country corporate governance practices in lieu of most corporate
governance standards contained in the NYSE Standards. Section 303A.11 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual
requires NYSE listed foreign private issuers to describe the significant differences between their corporate governance
practices and the corporate governance standards applicable to U.S. domestic companies listed on the NYSE. The
Company has posted a brief summary of such significant differences on its website, which may be accessed through
the following web page:

http://www.cnoocltd.com/encnoocltd/gsgz/socg
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Executive Directors

1Yuan Guangyu

2 Xu Kegiang

Non-executive Directors

3 Yang Hua (Chairman)

4 Wang Dongjin (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors

5Chiu Sung Hong

6Lawrence J. Lau

7Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

8Kevin G. Lynch
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Yuan Guangyu

Born in 1959, Mr. Yuan is a professor-level senior engineer. He graduated from China University of Petroleum with a
bachelor’s degree in drilling engineering. He graduated from the EMBA program of China Europe International
Business School in 2007 with an MBA degree. Mr. Yuan joined China National Offshore Oil Corporation (“CNOOC”)
in 1982 and has over 30 years of experience in the oil and gas industry. From February 1993 to October 2001, Mr.
Yuan served as Deputy Manager of CNOOC Bohai Drilling Company, Deputy General Manager of CNOOC China
Offshore Oil Northern Drilling Company, Deputy General Manager of the Operational Department of CNOOC,
General Manager of CNOOC China Offshore Oil Northern Drilling Company. From October 2001 to January 2009,
Mr. Yuan served as General Manager and President of CNOOC Services, and Vice Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Chief Executive Officer and President of China Oilfield Services Limited (a company listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange). From November 2006 to May 2016, Mr. Yuan
served as the Assistant President of CNOOC. Since July 2016, Mr. Yuan was appointed as the Vice President of
CNOOC. In January 2009, Mr. Yuan was appointed as the Executive Vice President of the Company. From 25 April
2013 to 15 June 2016, Mr. Yuan was appointed as Director of Bohai Petroleum Administrative Bureau of CNOOC
and General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Tianjin Branch, a subsidiary of the Company. He served as a
Director of CNOOC International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, from 31 July 2009 to 5 May 2017 and as the
Chairman of such company from 15 June 2016 to 5 May 2017. Since 31 March 2009, Mr. Yuan served as a Director
of CNOOC China Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, and as the General Manager of such company from 15 June
2016 to 21 May 2018, then he was appointed as the Chairman of such company on 21 May 2018. From 15 June 2016
to 18 April 2017, Mr. Yuan served as President of the Company and Mr. Yuan was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company with effect from 15 June 2016. Mr. Yuan was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company with effect from 18 April 2017.

Xu Keqiang

Born in 1971, Mr. Xu is a professor-level senior engineer. He graduated from Northwest University with a Bachelor
of Science degree in Oil and Gas Geology. He received a master’s degree in Coalfield Oil and Gas Geology from
Northwest University in 1996. Mr. Xu joined China National Petroleum Corporation in 1996 and served different
positions. From April 2003 to April 2005, he served as Deputy General Manager of Sinopetro Investment Company
Ltd. From April 2005 to September 2008, he served as Deputy General Manager of CNPC International (Kazakhstan)
Ltd. and concurrently General Manager of CNPC Ai-Dan Munai Joint Stock Company. From September 2008 to
March 2014, he served as Deputy General Manager of CNPC International (Kazakhstan) Ltd. and concurrently
General Manager of Joint Stock Company CNPC International Aktobe Petroleum. From March 2014 to March 2017,
he served as General Manager of PetroChina Tuha Oilfield Company, and Director of Tuha Petroleum Exploration &
Development Headquarters. In March 2017, Mr. Xu was appointed as a Vice President of CNOOC. From April 2017
to June 2018, Mr. Xu served as the Chairman of Nexen Energy ULC, a subsidiary of the Company. In between May
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2017 and June 2018, he served as the Chairman of a subsidiary of the Company-CNOOC International Limited. In
May 2017, Mr. Xu was appointed as a Director of CNOOC China Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Xu was
appointed as the General Manager of CNOOC China Limited with effect from 21 May 2018. Mr. Xu was appointed as
an Executive Director and the President of the Company with effect from 18 April 2017.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Yang Hua

Born in 1961, Mr. Yang is a professor-level senior economist and graduated from China University of Petroleum with
a B.S. degree in petroleum engineering. He also received an MBA degree from the Sloan School of Management at
MIT as a Sloan Fellow. Mr. Yang joined CNOOC in 1982 and has over 30 years of experience in petroleum
exploration and production. From 1982 to 1992, Mr. Yang served in a number of positions in CNOOC Research
Center including the Director of Field Development Department, the Manager of Reservoir Engineering Department
and the Project Manager. Thereafter, Mr. Yang was mainly involved in international business, M&A, corporate
finance and capital market operations. From 1993 to 1999, he served as the Deputy Chief Geologist, the Deputy
Director and the Acting Director for Overseas Development Department of CNOOC and the Vice President of
CNOOC International Limited. From 1999 to 2011, Mr. Yang served in a number of positions in the Company
including Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President, President and Chief Executive
Officer. Mr. Yang also served as an Assistant President of CNOOC from November 2006 to April 2010 and as Vice
President of CNOOC from April 2010 to August 2011. Mr. Yang served as Director and President of CNOOC from
August 2011 to April 2015. He was appointed as Chairman of CNOOC in April 2015. From 15 June 2016 to 18 April
2017, he was appointed as the Chairman and a Director of Nexen Energy ULC, a subsidiary of the Company. He also
served as Chairman, Director and President of CNOOC Southeast Asia Limited, Chairman, Director and General
Manager of CNOOC China Limited and Chairman and Director of CNOOC International Limited, all being
subsidiaries of the Company. He also served as Director of CNOOC Finance Corporation Limited, a subsidiary of
CNOOC. Mr. Yang was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company with effect from 31 August 2005 and
was the Vice Chairman of the Board of the Company from 16 September 2010 to 19 May 2015, and was re-designated
from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 23 November 2011. Mr.
Yang was appointed as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company with
effect from 19 May 2015. From 15 June 2016 to 18 April 2017, Mr. Yang was re-designated from a Non-executive
Director to an Executive Director and served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Yang was
re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director with effect from 18 April 2017.
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Wang Dongjin

Born in 1962, Mr. Wang is a professor-level senior engineer and received a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum
Drilling from Development Department of China University of Petroleum and a Doctor of Science degree in
Petroleum Engineering Management from China University of Petroleum-Beijing in 2012. From July 1995 to
December 1997, he was appointed as Deputy Director-General of Jiangsu Petroleum Exploration Bureau. From
December 1997 to October 2002, he was appointed as Vice President of China National Oil & Gas Exploration and
Development Corporation (“CNODC”). From December 2000 to October 2002, he also served as President of CNPC
International (Kazakhstan) Ltd. and President of Aktobe Munai Gas Corp. From October 2002 to September 2008, he
served as President of CNODC. From January 2004 to September 2008, he was appointed as Assistant President of
China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”) and Vice Chairman of CNODC. From September 2008 to March
2018, he served as Vice President of CNPC. From May 2011 to May 2014, he was concurrently appointed as Director
of PetroChina Company Limited (“PetroChina”). From July 2013 to March 2018, he was concurrently appointed as
President of PetroChina. From May 2014 to March 2018, he served as Vice Chairman of PetroChina. In March 2018,
Mr. Wang was appointed as a Director of CNOOC. In October 2018, Mr. Wang was appointed as President of
CNOOC. On 27 April 2018, Mr. Wang was appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wang has been appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company with
effect from 5 December 2018.

Liu Jian

Born in 1958, Mr. Liu is a professor-level senior engineer. He graduated from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology with a Bachelor degree and he received his MBA degree from Tianjin University. Mr. Liu first joined
CNOOC in 1982 and has over 35 years of experience in the oil and gas industry. He served as the manager of
CNOOC Bohai Corporation Oil Production Company, a subsidiary of CNOOC, Deputy General Manager of the
Tianjin Branch and the General Manager of the Zhanjiang Branch of CNOOC China Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company. From 2003 to 2009, Mr. Liu served as Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Development and
Production Department and Executive Vice President of the Company, primarily responsible for the offshore oil and
gas fields development and production of the Company. Mr. Liu served as an Assistant President of CNOOC from
November 2006 to April 2010 and as a Vice President of CNOOC from April 2010 to August 2015. In August 2015,
Mr. Liu was appointed as the President of CNOOC. Mr. Liu also served as the Director of CNOOC China Limited,
CNOOC International Limited and CNOOC Southeast Asia Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. Besides,
Mr. Liu served as the Chief Executive Officer, Vice Chairman and Chairman of China Oilfield Services Limited (a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange) from March 2009 to
December 2016 and Chairman of Offshore Oil Engineering Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange) from December 2010 to November 2016. During February 2017 and May 2018, Mr. Liu served as
Chairman and Director of CNOOC China Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Liu served as the Vice Chairman
and a Non-executive Director of the Company from 20 December 2016 to 16 August 2018.

Wu Guangqi

Born in 1957, Mr. Wu is a geologist, professor-level senior economist, Certified Senior Enterprise Risk Manager and
Certified Internal Auditor and graduated with a B.S. degree from the Ocean University of China, majoring in Marine
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Geology. He also holds a master degree in Management from China University of Petroleum and a doctor degree in
Management from Huazhong University of Science and Technology. Mr. Wu joined CNOOC in 1982. From 1994 to
2001, he served as the Deputy General Manager of CNOOC Oil Technical Services Company, a subsidiary of
CNOOC, the Director of the Administration Department of CNOOC and the Director of the Ideology Affairs
Department of CNOOC successively. Mr. Wu was appointed as an Assistant President of CNOOC in 2003, and has
been the Vice President of CNOOC since 2004. Mr. Wu also serves as the Chairman of CNOOC Marine Environment
and Ecology Protection Foundation, and served as the Vice Chairman of China Association of Risk Professionals, the
Vice Chairman of China Association of Oceanic Engineering, the Director-General of National Energy Deepwater Oil
& Gas Engineering Technology Research Centre Council. Mr. Wu served as an Independent Non-executive Director
of China Yangtze Power Limited, a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from May 2003 to July 2010.
Mr. Wu has served as the Compliance Officer of the Company from 1 June 2005 to 15 June 2016. Since June 2005 to
August 2018, he served as a Director of CNOOC International Limited and once as a Director of CNOOC China
Limited, all being the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wu was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
with effect from 1 June 2005. Mr. Wu has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from 15 June 2016. Mr. Wu resigned as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 27 April 2018.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chiu Sung Hong

Born in 1947, Mr. Chiu received an LL.B. degree from the University of Sydney. He was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia. He has over 30 years’ experience in legal
practice and had been a director of a listed company in Australia. Mr. Chiu was the founding member of the Board of
Trustees of the Australian Nursing Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law & Globalization
of Renmin University of China since 2016. He also served as the General Secretary of the Australian Chinese
Community Association of New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is also an independent non-executive director of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited (formerly Yunnan Enterprises Holdings Limited, Tianda Holdings Limited) since April
2008, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Chiu is also an independent
non-executive director of Bank of China (Australia) Limited (a wholly subsidiary of Bank of China Limited). Mr.
Chiu was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 7 September 1999.

Lawrence J. Lau

Born in 1944, Professor Lau graduated with a B.S. (with Great Distinction) in Physics from Stanford University in
1964, and received his M.A. and Ph.D. degrees in Economics from the University of California at Berkeley in 1966
and 1969 respectively. He joined the faculty of the Department of Economics at Stanford University in 1966,
becoming Professor of Economics in 1976, the first KwohTing Li Professor in Economic Development in 1992, and
Kwoh-Ting Li Professor in Economic Development, Emeritus in 2006. From 2004 to 2010, Professor Lau served as
the Vice-chancellor (President) of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. From September 2010 to September 2014,
Professor Lau served as Chairman of CIC International (Hong Kong) Co., Limited. From March 2008 to February
2018, Professor Lau served as a member of the 11th and 12th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (and a Vice Chairman of its Economics Subcommittee). Professor Lau specializes in
economic development, economic growth, and the economies of East Asia, including that of China. He has authored,
co-authored, or edited thirteen books, including The China-U.S. Trade War and Future Economic Relations, and
published 190 articles and notes in professional journals. Professor Lau serves as a member of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Exchange Fund Advisory Committee and Chairman of its Governance Sub-Committee, and
member of its Currency Board Subcommittee and Investment Sub-Committee, and a member of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council (HKTDC) Belt and Road Committee. In addition, he also serves as the Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the Chinese University of Hong Kong (Shenzhen) Advanced Finance Institute, aka Shenzhen Finance
Institute, a member and Chairman of the Prize Recommendation Committee of the LUI Che Woo Prize Company, as
well as a Vice-Chairman of Our Hong Kong Foundation. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in Hong Kong in
July 2007. He currently serves as the Ralph and Claire Landau Professor of Economics at the Lau Chor Tak Institute
of Global Economics and Finance, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, an independent non-executive director of
AIA Group Limited, Hysan Development Company Limited and Semiconductor Manufacturing International
Corporation, all listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and an independent non-executive director of Far EasTone
Telecommunications Company Limited, Taipei, which is listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. Professor Lau was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 31 August 2005.
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Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

Born in 1948, Mr. Tse is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™). Mr. Tse is a past president and a former member of the
Audit Committee of the HKICPA. He joined KPMG in 1976, became a partner in 1984 and retired in March 2003.
Mr. Tse was a non-executive Chairman of KPMG’s operations in the PRC and a member of the KPMG China advisory
board from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent non-executive director of China Telecom Corporation
Limited, SIM Holdings Limited, Sinofert Holdings Limited and China Huarong Asset Management Company,
Limited, companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. From 2004 to 2010, he was an independent
non-executive director of China Construction Bank Corporation, which is listed on the HKSE Main Board. From 2005
to 2016, Mr. Tse was also an independent non-executive director of Daohe Global Group Limited (formerly known as
Linmark Group Limited), which is listed on the HKSE Main Board, Mr. Tse is currently an independent
non-executive director of CCB International (Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of China Construction
Bank Corporation and OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited (formerly named as Wing Hang Bank Limited whose shares
were delisted from The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 16 October 2014). Mr. Tse is also a
member of the International Advisory Council of the People’s Municipal Government of Wuhan. Mr. Tse was
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 8 June 2005.

Kevin G. Lynch

Born in 1951, Mr. Lynch obtained a B.A. degree from Mount Allison University, a M.A. degree in Economics from
the University of Manchester, and a doctorate degree in Economics from McMaster University. He also holds 11
honorary degrees. Mr. Lynch was made a life Member of the Privy Council for Canada, and an Officer of the Order of
Canada. He is the Vice Chairman of BMO Financial Group and also a distinguished former public servant with 33
years of service with the Government of Canada. Mr. Lynch served as Deputy Minister of Industry of Canada from
1995 to 2000, Deputy Minister of Finance of Canada from 2000 to 2004, Executive Director at the International
Monetary Fund from 2004 to 2006 and was appointed as Clerk of the Privy Council for Canada, Secretary to the
Cabinet and Head of the Public Service from 2006 to 2009. Mr. Lynch is the Senior Fellow of Massey College, former
Chancellor of the University of King’s College, former Chair of the Board of Governors of the University of Waterloo,
former Chair of the Canadian Ditchley Foundation, and past Chair of the World Economic Forum’s Global Policy
Council on the Global Financial System. He also serves on other boards including the Killam Trusts, Communitech,
the Governor General’s Rideau Hall Foundation, the Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada. Mr. Lynch is currently a
director of Canadian National Railway Company listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and New York Stock
Exchange, and a director and chairman of the Board of Directors of SNC Lavalin Group Inc. listed on the Toronto
Stock Exchange. Mr. Lynch was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company on 27
November 2013, and such appointment took effect from 1 March 2014.
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OTHER MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Xie Yuhong

Born in 1961, Mr. Xie is an Executive Vice President and General Manager of Exploration Department of the
Company as well as a professor-level senior engineer. Mr. Xie obtained a Ph.D. degree from China University of
Geosciences in 2005. From 1982 to 1995, Mr. Xie served as an engineer of Research Institute and Exploration
Department of CNOOC Naihai West Corporation. From 1995 to 1996, he served as the Deputy Manager of
Exploration Department of CNOOC Naihai West Corporation. From 1996 to 1999, he served as Manager of Tepu
Company of CNOOC Naihai West Corporation, Deputy Chief Earth Physicist and Manager of Exploration
Department of Naihai West Corporation. From 2001 to 2005, he was Deputy Chief Manager of CNOOC China
Limited Zhanjiang Branch. From 2005 to 2013, he served as the Chief Manager of CNOOC China Limited Zhanjiang
Branch. From 2013 to 2015, he was appointed as the Director of Naihai West Petroleum Administrative Bureau of
CNOOC. In July 2015, he was appointed as Deputy Chief Geologist of CNOOC, Deputy Chief Geologist and General
Manager of Exploration Department of the Company. From 2016 to 2018, he was appointed as the Chief Geologist of
CNOOC, an Executive Vice President and General Manager of Exploration Department of the Company. In May
2018, he was appointed as the Chief Geologist of CNOOC, an Executive Vice President and the Chief Safety Official
of the Company.

Cao Xinjian

Born in 1966, Mr. Cao is an Executive Vice President and the General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Tianjin
Branch as well as a professor-level senior economist. Mr. Cao obtained a master degree of Business Administration
from the University of Wales in 2003. From 1989 to 1999, Mr. Cao served as a geological delegate of the Contract
Area of CNOOC Donghai Company & Caltex and the deputy manager of Exploration Department of CNOOC
Donghai Company. From 1999 to 2004, he served as Exploration Manager of Exploration Department, Assistant
Manager, Acting Manager and Manager of Human Resources Department of CNOOC China Limited Shanghai
Branch. From 2004 to 2006, he served as Deputy Director of the CNOOC Talent Work Leading Group’s Office. From
2006 to 2013 he served as Deputy General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Shanghai Branch. From 2009 to 2013,
he also served as Deputy Director of Donghai Petroleum Administration Bureau of CNOOC. From 2013 to 2017, he
served as Deputy General Manager and General Manager of Human Resources Department of CNOOC and the
Company. From March 2017, he has served as the Director of Bohai Petroleum Administration Bureau of CNOOC
and General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Tianjin Branch. From August 2017, he was appointed as an
Executive Vice President of the Company. In September 2017, he was appointed as Assistant President of CNOOC.

Xie Weizhi

Born in 1964, Mr. Xie is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Mr. Xie is a Senior Accountant. He graduated
from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University with a master’s degree in Business Administration. Mr.
Xie joined CNOOC in 1986. Mr. Xie served as Deputy Manager of Finance Department of CNOOC Nanhai West
Corporation, Deputy Manager and Manager of Controllers’ Department and General Manager of Treasury Department
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of CNOOC. From January 2002 to February 2011, Mr. Xie served as General Manager of CNOOC Finance
Corporation Ltd. From February 2011 to May 2016, Mr. Xie served as Assistant President of CHINALCO, Executive
Director of CHINALCO Finance Company Limited, President of CHINALCO Offshore Holding Company, Vice
President & CFO of CHALCO, President of CHALCO (Hong Kong), Chairman of CHINALCO Finance Company
Limited, General Auditor & Director of Audit Department CHINALCO. From 2016 to 2017, Mr. Xie was appointed
as General Manager of Finance Department of CNOOC. From August 2017, Mr. Xie was appointed as the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company.
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Zhang Guohua

Born in 1960, Mr. Zhang is a Senior Vice President of the Company and the General Manager of CNOOC China
Limited Zhanjiang Branch. He is a professor-level senior engineer. He graduated from Shandong Oceanographic
Institute (now Ocean University of China) with a bachelor degree. He studied in the Business Institute of University of
Alberta in Canada in 2001. He joined CNOOC in 1982 and served as Deputy Chief Geologist and Manager of
Exploration Department of CNOOC Naihai West Corporation, a subsidiary of CNOOC, Chief Geologist of CNOOC
Research Center, Assistant to General Manager of CNOOC China Limited and the General Manager of Exploration
Department of the Company. In March 2003, he was appointed as Senior Vice President of the Company. In October
2005, Mr. Zhang was appointed as Senior Vice President of the Company and General Manager of CNOOC China
Limited Shanghai Branch. In July 2009, he was appointed as Director of Donghai Petroleum Administrative Bureau of
CNOOC. In July 2015, he was appointed as Director of Nanhai West Petroleum Administrative Bureau of CNOOC
and General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Zhanjiang Branch.

Deng Yunhua

Born in 1963, Mr. Deng is an academician of the Chinese Academy of Engineering and the Deputy Chief Exploration
Engineer of the Company. Mr. Deng graduated from the Scientific Research Institute of Petroleum Exploration and
Development with a major in Petroleum Geology and Exploration and received a master’s degree in Engineering in
1988. He was assistant geologist and then geologist in the Exploration Department of CNOOC Bohai Corporation
Institute from 1988 to 1989; and served as the Team Leader of the Comprehensive Petroleum Geological Research
Team, Project Manager, Deputy Principal of Geologist, Deputy Principal Geologist and Director of the Exploration
Department and Deputy Chief Geologist in the CNOOC Bohai Corporation Institute from 1989 to 1999. Mr. Deng
became Deputy Chief Geology Engineer and Deputy General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Tianjian Branch
from 1999 to 2005. He was Deputy Director of CNOOC Research Center from 2005 to 2006. He served as the Deputy
Chief Exploration Engineer of the Company and the Deputy Director of CNOOC Research Center from 2006 to 2007.
Mr. Deng served as Deputy Chief Geology Engineer of CNOOC, Deputy Chief Exploration Engineer of the Company
and Deputy Director of CNOOC Research Center from 2007 to 2009; and Deputy Chief Geology Engineer of
CNOOC, Deputy Chief Exploration Engineer of the Company and Deputy General Director of CNOOC Research
Institute from 2009 to 2015. In November 2015, he was appointed as the Deputy Chief Geology Engineer of CNOOC,
Deputy Chief Exploration Engineer of the Company and Deputy Director of Beijing Research Center of CNOOC
China Limited.

Liu Zaisheng

Born in 1962, Mr. Liu is a Vice President of the Company and Director of Beijing Research Center of CNOOC China
Limited, General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Beijing Branch, Director of CNOOC Energy Technology
Development Research Institute and General Manager of CNOOC Energy Technology Development Research
Institute Company Limited. Mr. Liu graduated from Southwest Petroleum Institute (now Southwest Petroleum
University) with a bachelor’s degree. From 1983 to 1994, he served as Deputy Manager of District Research First
Team of Exploration and Development Department Research Institute of Nanhai East Oil Corporation of CNOOC.
From 1994 to 1997, he served as Principal of Seismic Engineer and Principal of Geologist of Exploration and
Development Department of Nanhai East Oil Corporation of CNOOC. From 1997 to 1999, he served as Deputy
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Manager of Exploration and Development Department of Nanhai East Oil Corporation of CNOOC. From 1997 to
2001, he served as Deputy Director of Scientific and Technology Research Institute of Nanhai East Oil Corporation of
CNOOC. From 2001 to 2004, he served as Director of Nanhai East Institute of the Research Center of CNOOC China
Limited. From 2004 to 2009, he served as Manager, Assistant to General Manager, Deputy General Manager and
Acting General Manager of Technology Department of CNOOC China Limited Shenzhen Branch respectively. From
2009 to 2016, he served as General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Shenzhen Branch and Director of Nanhai East
Petroleum Administrative Bureau of CNOOC and General Manager of CNOOC Deepwater Development Limited
respectively. From April to November 2016, he served as Director of Beijing Research Center of CNOOC China
Limited, General Manager of CNOOC China Limited Beijing Branch, and General Director of CNOOC Energy
Technology Development Research Institute and General Manager of CNOOC Energy Technology Development
Research Institute Company Limited. In February 2017, Mr. Liu was appointed as a Vice President of the Company.

‘Wu Xiaonan

Born in 1967, Ms. Wu Xiaonan is the General Counsel, the Compliance Officer and Joint Company Secretary of the
Company. Ms. Wu is an Enterprise Legal Adviser ( ) and Certified Senior Enterprise Risk Manager (
received a bachelor of laws degree from China University of Political Science and Law in 1990. Ms. Wu has been
working in the oil and gas industry for over 19 years. From September 1999 to June 2002, Ms. Wu successively
worked in the Regulatory and Legislative Division of the Legal Department of CNOOC and the Company. From June
2002 to February 2012, Ms. Wu served as the Manager of the Regulatory and Legislative Division of the Legal
Department of the Company. From February 2012 to May 2016, she served as the Deputy General Manager of the
Legal Department of the Company and was promoted as the General Manager of the Legal Department of the
Company in May 2016. In August 2018, Ms. Wu was appointed as the Vice General Counsel of CNOOC and the
General Counsel and the Compliance Officer of the Company. In September 2018, Ms. Wu was appointed as the
Director of the Legal Support Center of CNOOC. Ms. Wu was appointed as a Joint Company Secretary of the
Company with effect from 19 November 2018.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Wu Xiaonan

Please refer to the biography of Ms. Wu on page 52 for details.

Li Jiewen

Born in 1965, Ms. Li Jiewen was the Joint Company Secretary and the General Manager (Director) of the Investor
Relations Department (Office for the Board of Directors). Ms. Li is a senior economist and Certified Senior Enterprise
Risk Manager and a member of CPA Australia. Ms. Li graduated from Shanghai Jiao Tong University with a
bachelor’s degree in Naval Architecture and Ocean Engineering in 1987. She received a master’s degree in
Management from Zhejiang University in 2001. Ms. Li joined CNOOC in 1987 and has been working in the oil and
gas industry for over 30 years. From 1987 to 1989, Ms. Li was an Assistant Engineer in Nanhai East Oil Corporation
of CNOOC. From 1990 to 2003, she worked as the Assistant Engineer, Budget and Planning Engineer, Budget
Supervisor, Assistant Finance Manager of CACT (CNOOC-AGIPChevron-Texaco) Operators Group. From February
2004 to October 2006, she served as the Finance Manager of CNOOC China Limited Shenzhen Branch. From October
2006 to November 2010, Ms. Li was the Deputy General Manager of the Controllers Department of the Company.
Ms. Li served as the General Manager of the Controllers Department of the Company from November 2010 to June
2016. Ms. Li also served as the Director of Nexen Energy ULC, a subsidiary of the Company. Ms. Li has been also
appointed as the General Manager (Director) of the Investor Relations Department (Office for the Board of Directors)
of the Company since October 2015. From 27 November 2015 to 19 November 2018, Ms. Li Jiewen served as a Joint
Company Secretary of the Company.

Tsue Sik Yu, May

Born in 1973, Ms. Tsue Sik Yu, May is the Joint Company Secretary of the Company. She graduated from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia with a bachelor of commerce in accounting. Ms. Tsue furthered her education
at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Master of Corporate Governance from 2004 to 2006, and MBA from
The University of Hong Kong from 2014 to 2016. She is a fellow member of both the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since 2012 and became a
member of Company Secretaries Panel and Advisor for Academy of Professional Certification in the same year, and
became a member of ACCA since 2016. She is also a fellow member and certified risk trainer of the Institute of Crisis
and Risk Management and an associate member of CPA Australia. Furthermore, she was granted a Practitioner’s
Endorsement (PE) since 2017/2018 under The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and accredited a General
Mediator under Hong Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited (HKMAAL) since August 2017. From
August 1998 to March 1999, Ms. Tsue worked in LG International (HK) Ltd. as a senior accounts clerk. Ms. Tsue
joined China Ocean Oilfield Services (HK) Limited in 1999 as an accountant. She helped to manage the finance of the
CNOOC Insurance Limited since 2000 and became its employee in 2004 as a manager of finance department. She
serves as company secretary of CNOOC Insurance Limited since March 2007. Ms. Tsue gained The Chartered
Governance Professional (CGP) qualification of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The
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Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries on 30 September 2018. She volunteered on Hong Kong Management
Association (HKMA) of Panel of Adjudicators on 2018 HKMA Best Annual Reports Awards. Ms. Tsue was
appointed as a Joint Company Secretary of the Company with effect from 25 November 2008.
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Report of the Directors

The directors (the “Directors”) of the Company are pleased to present their report together with the audited financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding of its subsidiaries. These subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the exploration, development, production and sales of crude oil and natural gas.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OPERATING RESULTS

Please refer to the financial summary on page 2 of this annual report for a summary of the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2018 and the operating results of the Group for the year then ended.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overview and Performance of the Year

A review of the business of the Group and analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators is provided in the Business Overview and Management’s Discussion and Analysis section on pages 8 to 27
and pages 63 to 66 of this annual report.

Environmental Policies and Performance

During the process of oilfield exploitation, the Company highly values the protection of natural and ecological
environment and its comprehensive environmental protection measures ensure the Company to comply with the
applicable laws and regulations on environmental protection.
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The Company’s environmental protection management system emphasizes the management of the whole process, and
we place Environment Impact Assessment (EIA), compliance with set standards or targets on pollutant emissions,
control on total discharge amount and reduction on emissions as our priorities. During the pre-feasibility study phase,
the environmental risk pre-assessment report will be conducted to identify the environmental sensitive areas for
protecting marine ecosystem. During the ODP (Overall Development Plan) stage, it is a necessity to prepare and
submit the EIA to the government for approval in advance of a project to be set up. During the construction stage,
environmental protection supervision and management are strictly performed and tightened in order to reduce the
impact on natural and social environment. During the production stage, pollutant emission monitor program is carried
out, which analyzes the scope and extent of impact of the production process on the environment such that relevant
environmental protection measures could be adopted. The environmental protection information system covers all
information from EIA documents from all levels of the Group, and information in relation to the report, statistics,
monitoring and pre-warning system regarding pollutant emissions. The system enables us to achieve information
management on environmental related matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has carried out the laws and regulations of the PRC on energy
saving and reduction in emission, viewing energy saving and reduction in emission as important works for the
transformation of the mode of development and optimization of the industrial structure. We kept on strictly carrying
out energy-saving assessment and examination on new oilfield investment projects, ensuring this work can be
integrated from the initial stage of projects. We also strengthened the efforts in technical reformation, which is the key
to improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions.

Regarding the environmental issues that have material impacts on the Company’s business performance and future
development, please refer to the environmental, social and governance report of 2018 prepared by the Company (the
“2018 ESG report”) to be available on the Company’s website.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

For the year ended 31 December 2018, compliance procedures were in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations which have significant impact on the Group. The Board and senior management within their
respective duties in conjunction with internal and external professional advisors monitored the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. Changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations
which have significant impact on the Group (if any) were brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant
operation units from time to time. During the reporting period, various works of the Board and senior management
were in compliance with the relevant applicable laws and regulations, the articles of association of the Company,
charters of the board committees, internal policies and the relevant provisions of various internal control systems.
Decision-making process was legitimate and effective. Directors and senior management performed in a diligent and
responsible manner and the resolutions of the general meetings and board meetings were implemented faithfully.
Meanwhile, the Company has timely performed its disclosure obligations which were in strict compliance with the
requirements of the listing rules or manuals of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, New York Stock Exchange and
Toronto Stock Exchange.
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In accordance with the requirements of the laws, regulations and related policies in Hong Kong, PRC and relevant
other jurisdictions in which the Group operates, the Group provides and maintains statutory benefits for its staff,
including but not limited to pension schemes, mandatory provident fund, basic medical insurance, work injury
insurance, etc. Further, the Group has been committed in complying relevant laws and regulations on work and
occupational safety of employees of the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The support and trust of our stakeholders is integral to the Company’s growth and success. Our stakeholders include
shareholders and creditors, employees and employee organizations, governments and regulatory authorities, business
partners and service providers, the public and communities, charities and non-government organizations (NGOs), and
clients. We place emphasis on communications with our stakeholders and have established an open and transparent
communication channel for each category of stakeholders to understand their expectations and requests.

Through specified communication methods, we looked into and sorted out the focuses and concerns of the
stakeholders, and responded with corresponding actions and measures. We continued to strengthen the quality and
effectiveness of information disclosure, comply with applicable laws and regulations and actively participate in public
welfare activities, with the purpose of achieving mutual development and value sharing with our stakeholders. We
have also formulated key indicators based on the focuses and concerns of different stakeholders to reflect our
management performance on various subject matters. Some of our key indicators include return on equity and payout
ratio for shareholders and creditors; employee training frequency, turnover rate and OSHA statistics for employees
and employee organizations; data for emissions, use of resources, environment and natural resources and safety
environment performance; partners’ feedback and contracts’ execution capability for business partners and service
providers; public opinion and corporate image concerned by the public; community evaluations for communities;
response rate on enquiries for charities and NGOs; satisfactory reports for clients; etc. Going forward, we will
endeavor to improve our current policies, strive to maximize our stakeholders’ value and achieve a mutually beneficial
outcome.

For more details on Company’s key relationships with stakeholders, please refer to the 2018 ESG report.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

A description of principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing is provided in the Business Overview

on pages 8 to 27 of this annual report.
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Prospects

A description of the likely future development in the Company’s future business is provided in the Chairman’s
statement on pages 6 to 7 and Business Overview on pages 8 to 27 of this annual report.

Subsequent Event

Please refer to note 38 to the consolidated financial statements for details of the significant events after the reporting
period of the Group.

LOANS

Please refer to note 26 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 112 of this annual report for details of
the loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2018.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Please refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 103 of this annual report for the
movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

RESERVES

The distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2018 amounted to RMB 151,539 million.

Please refer to the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 73 and note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 126 to 127 of this annual report for movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company,
respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures as at 31 December 2018 are set out in notes 15,
16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 104 to 107 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

An interim dividend of HK$0.30 (tax inclusive) per share was declared on 23 August 2018, and paid to the
shareholders of the Company on 16 October 2018.

The Board recommended a payment of a final dividend of HK$0.40 (tax inclusive) per share for the year ended 31
December 2018, payable on 10 July 2019 to all shareholders on the register of members of the Company on 14 June
2019 subject to shareholders’ approval.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Please refer to note 31 to the consolidated financial statements on page 119 of this annual report for details of the
retirement benefits of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

MAIJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

Purchases from the largest supplier of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 represented approximately
16% of the Group’s total purchases. The total purchases attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 47% of the total purchases of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Sales to the largest third party customer for the year ended 31 December 2018 represented approximately 7% of the
Group’s total revenue. The total sales attributable to the five largest third party customers of the Group accounted for
approximately 17% of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, except for the continuing connected transactions with its indirect controlling
shareholder CNOOC and its associates, as disclosed in the section entitled “Connected Transactions” below, none of the
Directors or their respective close associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interests in the five largest suppliers or
customers of the Group.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to RMB23 million.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Independent Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the following continuing connected transactions for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to which any member of the Group was a party were entered into by the Group:

117



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

1. in the ordinary and usual course of its business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better; and

in accordance with the relevant agreements (including pricing principles and guidelines set out therein) governing
3.the transactions on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

Comprehensive framework agreement with CNOOC in respect of the provision of a range of products and services

The Company entered into a comprehensive framework agreement on 15 November 2016 with CNOOC, controlling
shareholder of the Company, for the provision (1) by the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates and (2) by CNOOC
and/or its associates to the Group, of a range of products and services which may be required and requested from time
to time by either party and/or its associates in respect of the continuing connected transactions. The comprehensive
framework agreement is substantially on the same terms as the terms contained in the comprehensive framework
agreements entered into by the Company on 6 November 2013, with more details about the pricing principles. The
term of the comprehensive framework agreement is for a period of three years from 1 January 2017. The continuing
connected transactions under the comprehensive framework agreement and the relevant annual caps for the three years
from 1 January 2017 were approved by the independent shareholders of the Company on 1 December 2016. The
continuing connected transactions under the comprehensive framework agreement and the relevant annual caps are set
out below:

Categories of continuing connected transactions Annual caps for 2017 to 2019

Provision of exploration, oil and gas development, oil and gas production as well as marketing, management and
ancillary services by CNOOC and/or its associates to the Group

Provision of exploration and support For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB9,969 million,

(@) services RMB10,579 million and RMB11,590 million, respectively

(b)Provision of oil and gas development For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB31,670 million,
and support services RMB38,289 million and RMB43,745 million, respectively

© Provision of oil and gas production  For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB 12,625 million,

and support services RMB14,678 million and RMB 16,877 million, respectively
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) Provision of marketing, management For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB1,620 million,
and ancillary services RMB1,786 million and RMB1,970 million, respectively
For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB2,880 million,

(e)FPSO vessel leases RMB3,120 million and RMB3,360 million, respectively

Provision of management, technical, facilities and ancillary services, including the supply of materials by the Group
to CNOOC and/or its associates

Provision of
management,

technical,

facilities and

ancillary

services, For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB100 million, RMB 100 million and RMB100 million,
including  respectively
the supply

of materials

to CNOOC

and/or its

Associates

Sales of petroleum and natural gas products by the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates

Sales of petroleum and natural gas products (other  For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB263,893
(a) than long term sales of natural gas and liquefied million, RMB314,371 million and RMB437,773 million,
natural gas) respectively

For the three years ended 31 December 2019, RMB25,654
million, RMB33,386 million and RMB43,649 million,
respectively

Long term sales of natural gas and liquefied natural
gas

(b)

Financial services provided by CNOOC Finance Corporation Limited to the Group

On 1 December 2016, the Company entered into a financial services framework agreement (“Financial Services
Framework Agreement”) with CNOOC Finance Corporation Limited (“CNOOC Finance”), an associate of CNOOC,

120



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

pursuant to which CNOOC Finance provides a range of financial services as may be required and requested by the
Group, for a term of three years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Apart from the duration of the Financial
Services Framework Agreement, more details about the pricing policy for the depositary services and update of the
address and relevant dates, the Financial Services Framework Agreement is substantially on the same terms as the
terms contained in the financial services framework agreement (as renewed on 20 August 2010 and 27 November
2013) entered into by the Company on 14 October 2008. The continuing connected transactions in respect of the
depositary services under the Financial Services Framework Agreement are exempted from independent shareholders’
approval requirement, but subject to the annual reporting, annual review and announcement requirements. In August
2018, the Board expected that the existing annual cap for the depositary services under the Financial Services
Framework Agreement for its remaining term will not fully satisfy the demands of business of the Group and resolved
to revise the annual cap for the depositary services for the period from 23 August 2018 to 31 December 2019.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued interest) (excluding funds placed for the
purpose of extending entrustment loans pursuant to the entrustment loan services) placed by the Group with CNOOC
Finance shall not exceed RMB19.5 billion for the period from 1 January 2017 to 22 August 2018 and should not
exceed RMB23.5 billion for the period from 23 August 2018 to 31 December 2019.

The Independent Non-executive Directors have further confirmed that for the year ended 31 December 2018:

Provision of exploration, oil and gas development, oil and gas production as well as marketing, management and
ancillary services by CNOOC and/or its associates to the Group:

®

The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the provision of exploration and support services did not exceed

(@) RMB10.579 million.

The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the provision of oil and gas development and support services did

(b) not exceed RMB38,289 million.

The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the provision of oil and gas production and support services did

©) not exceed RMB 14,678 million.

The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the provision of marketing, management and ancillary services

d did not exceed RMB 1,786 million.

(e) The aggregate annual volume of transactions for FPSO vessel leases did not exceed RMB3,120 million.
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The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the provision of management, technical, facilities and ancillary
(ii)services, including the supply of materials by the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates did not exceed RMB100
million;

(iii) Sales of petroleum and natural gas products by the Group to CNOOC and/or its associates:

The aggregate annual volume of transactions for the sales of petroleum and natural gas products (other than long
term sales of natural gas and liquefied natural gas) did not exceed RMB314,371 million.

(a)

The aggregate annual volume of the transactions for the long term sales of natural gas and liquefied natural gas did

(b) not exceed RMB33,386 million.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued interest) (excluding funds placed for the

(iv) purpose of extending entrustment loans pursuant to the entrustment loan services) placed by the Group with
CNOOC Finance did not exceed RMB19.5 billion for the period from 1 January 2018 to 22 August 2018 and did
not exceed RMB23.5 billion for the period from 23 August 2018 to 31 December 2018.

The independent auditors of the Group have reviewed the continuing connected transactions referred to above and
confirmed to the Board of Directors that the continuing connected transactions:

1.have received the approval of the Board;

were in accordance with the pricing policies for the transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group as stated in the Company’s financial statements;

3.were entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and
4.have not exceeded the applicable caps.

Please also refer to note 30 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 118 of this annual report for a
summary of the related party transactions which include the Group’s continuing connected transactions.

SHARE CAPITAL
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Please refer to note 28 to the consolidated financial statements on page 113 of this annual report for details of
movements in the Company’s total issued shares for the year ended 31 December 2018.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has adopted the following share option schemes for the grant of options to the Company’s Directors,
senior management and other eligible grantees:

1.Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme (expired in 2011);

2.2001 Share Option Scheme (expired in 2011);

3.2002 Share Option Scheme (expired in 2015); and

4.2005 Share Option Scheme.

Under these share option schemes, the Remuneration Committee of the Board will from time to time propose for the
Board’s approval for grant of and the number of share options to be granted to the relevant grantees. The maximum
aggregate number of shares (including those that could be subscribed for under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option
Scheme, the 2001 Share Option Scheme, the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2005 Share Option Scheme) which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted shall not exceed 10% of the total issued shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2005, being the date on which the shareholders of the Company approved the 2005
Share Option Scheme, excluding share options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the share option
schemes.

Please refer to the note 28 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 114 of this annual report for details
regarding each of these share option schemes of the Company. Save as those disclosed in the annual report, no right to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company has been granted by the Company to, nor have any such rights
been exercised by, any other person during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the movements in the options granted under all of the above share option

schemes were as follows:

Number of share options

As at
Name of
category 1 January
of grantee

2018
Executive
Director
Yuan 1,857,000
Guangyu

1,899,000

Non-executive
Director
Yang Hua 1,857,000

Gradtedicised ed

As at 31

EXP ired December
during
the year 2018
— 1,857,000
— 1,899,000

(1,857,000 ) O

weightec
Price clroiscleng
of the P
Compan
Compa%s
shares o) o8¢
of the
shares
Immedic
Immediglghtt |
. exer
Exercise ercise
L before the
Date of Exercis@rice of
. grant date
grant period share date
. date of of
of of options options optic
share share P HK P
: . HK
options options'HK$ per
HKS
share $
$ per op PET
share p share
share
27
May
27 2009
May 9.93 933 — —
2000 ©2%7
May
2019
20
0
May 12.696 1222 — —
2010 02V
May
2020
29 29 14.828 1420 — —
May  May
2008 2008
to 29
May
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2018
27
2 o
2,835,000 —_ — — — 2,835,000 May 9.93 9.33
2009 to 27
May
2019
20
0
2,000,000 —_ — — — 2,000,000  May 12.696 12.22
2010 to 20
May
2020
29
Other 29 1;/([)2(1)};;
Employeei*in 33,423,000 @ — — — (33,423,000) 0O May 029 14.828 14.20
aggregate 2008 May
2018
27
2 s
39,408,000 — — (13,200,000) — 26,208,000 May 9.93 9.33
2009 to 27
May
2019
20
0
46,640,000 — — (13,532,000) — 33,108,000 May 20 12.696 12.22
2010
May
2020

Total 129,919,000 — — (26,732,000) (35,280,000) 67,907,000

Except for share options granted under the Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme, all share options granted are

xSubject to a vesting schedule pursuant to which one third of the options granted vest on the first, second and third
anniversaries of the date of grant, respectively, such that the options granted are fully vested on the third
anniversary of the date of grant.

With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
** Remuneration Committee of the Company. Information on Mr. Wu’s share options outstanding at the beginning of
the reporting period is included in the category of “Other Employees.”
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2018.

NAME OF DIRECTOR

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Yuan Guangyu

Xu Keqiang

Non-executive Directors

Yang Hua (Chairman)

Wang Dongjin (Vice Chairman) (Note 1)
Liu Jian (Vice Chairman) (Note 2)

Wu Guanggqi (Note 3)

Independent Non-executive Directors
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Chiu Sung Hong

Lawrence J. Lau
Tse Hau Yin, Aloysius

Kevin G. Lynch

With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wang Dongjin was appointed as a Non-executive Director and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. and was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company with
effect from 5 December 2018.

Note

Note With effect from 16 August 2018, Mr. Liu Jian resigned as the Vice Chairman of the Company and a
2: Non-executive Director of the Company.

Note With effect from 27 April 2018, Mr. Wu Guanggqi resigned as a Non-executive Director and a member of the
3: Remuneration Committee of the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and pursuant to Appendix 14 to Listing Rules, Mr, Wang
Dongjin, Mr. Xu Keqgiang and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong will retire at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, who
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

The list of directors who have served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company included in the annual
consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 during the year and up to the date of
this report is as follows:

Cao Xinjian, Chen Ming, Chen Wei, Cui Hanyun, Duan Chenggang, Fang Zhi, Gao Dongsheng, Gen Jie, Huang
Chunlin, Han Mei, Jing Fengjiang, Jiang Qing, Liang Yu, Ling Fuhai, Liu Jian, Liu Mingquan, Liu Song, Liu
Xiaoxiang, Liu Yongjie, Lu Yongfeng, Pang Jian, Shen Yiming, Shi Hesheng,Wang Shoushan,Wang Xin, Wang
Yaohui, Wang Yufan, Wu Guangqi, Xiao Zongwei, Xie Weizhi, Xie Wensheng, Xie Yuhong, Xu Keqiang, Yu Jin,
Zhang Fuya, You Xuegang, Yuan Guangyu, Zhao Shungiang, CNOOC Limited, Zhong Hua

Alan O’Brien, Ariel D. Schneider, Bill D. Stiles, Brent C. Tilford, Colleen V. Johnson, David O. Tudor, Graham
Charles Clague, Heather M. Osecki, lan M. Smale, James C.P. Waithman, Jamie D. Doyle, Jerome A. van Zuijlen,
John F. M. Abbott, Lawson A.W. Hunter, Lester C. Jager, Marilyn J. Schonberner, Paul Harris, Quinn E. Wilson, Ray
C.J. Riddoch, Tiara Ltd., TMF Management Limited

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
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As at 31 December 2018, apart from holding personal interests in options to subscribe for shares in the Company
granted under the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed in this annual report, the interests of each
Director and chief executive of the Company in the equity or debt securities of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required (i) to be
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange are as follows:
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Name of Director Nature of interest Ordinary shares held Approximate percentage of total issued shares
Chiu Sung Hong Beneficial interest 1,150,000 0.003%
Lawrence J. Lau Beneficial interest 200,000 0.000%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company was
interested in the equity or debt securities of the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of the
SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. All
the interests held by the Directors and chief executive represent long positions.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, so far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the persons, other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company, who had an interest or a short position in the Shares and
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO were as follows:

Ordinary shares Approximate percentage of total issued

held shares
@) CNOOC (BVI]) Limited 28,772,727,268 64.44%
(i1) Overseas Oil & Gas Corporation, Ltd.
(“00GC™) 28,772,727,273 64.44%
(iiil) CNOOC 28,772,727,273 64.44%

CNOOC (BVI) Limited is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of OOGC, which is a direct wholly-owned
Note: subsidiary of CNOOC. Accordingly, CNOOC (BVI) Limited’s interests are recorded as the interests of OOGC
and CNOOC.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31 December 2018, save as disclosed above, the Directors
and chief executive of the Company are not aware of any other person having interests or short positions (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company) in the Shares and underlying Shares which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who is, directly or
indirectly, interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Please refer to pages 47 to 53 of this annual report for information concerning the Directors and senior management of
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT AND
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director (including those to be re-elected) has an unexpired service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than normal statutory
obligations).

Save as disclosed in this annual report, as at 31 December 2018 or during the year, none of the Directors or entities
connected with the Directors was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract which is significant in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not entered into any contract with any individual,
firm or body corporate to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of the Company
during the year.
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EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Please refer to notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 97 of this annual report for details
of the emoluments of the Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals of the Company.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2018, the Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or arbitration were pending or threatened or made against the Company so far as the Company is aware.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Except deviation from the CG Code provision A.4.1, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the CG
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 46 of this annual report for details.

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was appointed as the auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 and
has audited the accompanying financial statements. A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 23 May 2019.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Directors confirmed that based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained sufficient amount of public float
as required under the Listing Rules. As at the date of this report, based on publicly available information and within
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the Directors’ knowledge, approximately 35.56% of the Company’s total issued shares were held by the public. The
total number of total issued shares of the Company is 44,647,455,984. The closing price of the share of the Company
as at 31 December 2018 is HK$12.10 per share.

VOTING BY POLL

In 2018, all votes of shareholders were taken by poll in the annual general meeting and extraordinary general meetings
of the Company. Pursuant to the Rule 13.39(4), all votes of shareholders will be taken by poll except where the
chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to
be voted on by a show of hands.

By Order of the Board

YANG Hua

Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2019
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Chairman’s Statement and the Business
Overview section, as well as the Group’s audited financial statements and the related notes.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

As one of the largest independent oil and gas exploration and production companies, we mainly engage in the
exploration, development, production and sales of oil and natural gas. The principal components of our strategy are as
follows:

Focus on reserve and production growth

As an upstream company specializing in the exploration, development, production and sales of oil and natural gas, we
consider reserve and production growth as our top priorities. We plan to increase our reserves and production through
drill bits and value-driven acquisitions. We will continue to concentrate our independent exploration efforts on major
operating areas, especially offshore China. In the meantime, we will continue to cooperate with our partners through
production sharing contracts to lower capital requirements and exploration risks.

We increase our production primarily through the development of proved undeveloped reserves. As of 31 December
2018, approximately 58.0% of our proved reserves were classified as proved undeveloped, which provides a solid
resource base for maintaining increasing production in the future.

Develop natural gas business

We will continue to develop the natural gas market, and continue to explore and develop natural gas fields. In the
event that we invest in businesses and geographic areas where we have limited experience and expertise, we plan to
structure our investments in the form of alliances or partnerships with partners possessing the relevant experience and
expertise.
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The Company adopts the low-carbon development concept and proactively expands the natural gas business. In 2018,
Bozhong 19-6 gas field was successfully appraised and proved to contain proved in-place volume of condensate over
100 million cubic meters and natural gas over 100 billion cubic meters. In addition, Lingshui 17-2 gas field, the first
self-operated major deep-water natural gas field discovery in offshore China, entered into its development and
construction stage. The project is expected to effectively promote the development of deep-water natural gas in the
South China Sea and will be an important growth driver for natural gas production of the Company in the future.

Maintain a prudent financial policy

We will continue to maintain our prudent financial policy. As an essential part of our corporate culture, we continue to
promote cost consciousness among both our management team and employees. Also, in our performance evaluation
system, cost control has been one of the most important key performance indicators.

In 2018, we continued our efforts to lower costs and enhance efficiency through innovation in technology and
management. All-in cost decreased for the fifth consecutive year. Under the environment of oil price fluctuations, we
attached more importance to cash flow management and maintained a healthy financial position.

2018 OVERVIEW

In 2018, the momentum of world economic growth slowed down, and challenges and variables continued to increase.
As tax cuts and fiscal expansion stimulated demand, the US economy expanded rapidly. The Eurozone economy also
continued to improve, with its growth slowing down. In 2018, the Chinese economy was steady and moved in the
right direction on the whole, with GDP growing by approximately 6.6%.

International oil prices fluctuated and fell sharply after a rebound in 2018. In the beginning of the year, as a result of
OPEC’s effective implementation of their obligations under a production cut agreement and US sanctions on Iran and
other countries, international oil prices fluctuated and eventually picked up, reaching the year’s record high in October.
Thereafter, with concerns about the lacking of supply and demand, international oil prices began to fall, and the sharp
drop in global stock markets further exacerbated the decline in oil prices. In 2018, the WTI crude oil price averaged
US$64.95 per barrel, representing a year-on-year increase of 27.9%, while the Brent crude oil price averaged at
US$71.69 per barrel, representing a year-on-year increase of 30.9%.

In 2018, the Company realized a net production of 475 million BOE, which achieved the annual production target. In
terms of exploration, the Company made breakthroughs domestically and overseas, consolidating its resources base
for sustainable development. Key projects both in China and overseas progressed smoothly. The performance of HSE
maintained stable.
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The Company maintained a solid financial condition in 2018. Oil and gas sales were RMB 185,872 million
(US$28,076.9 million, with the exchange rates applicable for 2018 at US$1=RMB6.6201), representing an increase of
22.4% over the previous year. Net profit was RMB52,688 million (US$7,958.8 million), representing a significant
increase over the previous year.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per share were RMB1.18 and RMB1.18,
respectively. The board of directors has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.40 per share (tax
inclusive).
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Looking ahead to 2019, the growth of the global economy is under pressure, and international oil prices will still be
subject to many uncertainties amid a general rebound. The external operating environment is likely to remain
challenging. To this end, the Company further strengthened its operating strategies, which mainly include: steadily
increasing oil and gas reserve and production levels, promoting high-quality development, improving core business
enhancement with digital transformation, maintaining prudent financial policy and investment decision-making, and
pursuing a green, low-carbon and environmentally-friendly development model. The Company will remain confident
and calmly deal with the challenges to meet its production and operational targets.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For details, please refer to “Business Overview” on page 8 to 27 of the annual report.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Consolidated net profit

Our consolidated net profit increased 113.5% to RMB52,688 million (US$7,958.8million) in 2018 from RMB24,677
million in 2017, primarily as a result of the increase in profitability under the higher international oil price
environment, at the same time, the cost control through taking efficient measures brings about the increase in
profitability.

Revenues

Our oil and gas sales, realized prices and sales volume in 2018 are as follows:

Change
2018 2017 Amount %

Oil and gas sales (RMB million) 185,872 151,888 33,984 22.4%
Crude and liquids 165,939 135,256 30,683 22.7%
Natural gas 19,933 16,632 3,301 19.8%
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Sales volume (million BOE)* 453.4 452.4 1.0 02 %
Crude and liquids (million barrels) 372.9 380.1 (7.2 ) (1.9 %)
Natural gas (bcf) 469.9 421.5 48.4 11.5%

Realized prices
Crude and liquids (US$/barrel) 67.22 52.65 14.57 27.7%

Natural gas (US$/mcf) 6.41 5.84 0.57 9.8 %
Net production (million BOE) 475.0 470.2 4.8 1.0 %
China 309.0 302.8 6.2 2.0 %
Overseas 166.0 167.4 (1.4 ) (0.8 %)

*  Excluding our interest in equity-accounted investees.

In 2018, our net production was 475.0 million BOE (including our interest in equity-accounted investees),
representing an increase of 1.0% from 470.2 million BOE in 2017. The increase in crude and liquids sales was
primarily due to higher international oil price in 2018. The increase in natural gas sales was primarily due to the
gradual release of production capacity of high-priced gas fields arising from natural gas demand growth in China,
which pulled up the gas price and sales volume simultaneously.

Operating expenses

Our operating expenses decreased 0.1% to RMB24,251 million (US$3,663.2 million) in 2018 from RMB24,282
million in 2017, the operating expenses per BOE decreased 0.4% to RMB53.4 (US$8.07) per BOE in 2018 from
RMB53.6 (US$7.93) per BOE in 2017. Operating expenses per BOE offshore China decreased 2.0% to RMB48.2
(US$7.28) per BOE in 2018 from RMB49.2 (US$7.29) per BOE in 2017. Overseas operating expenses per BOE
increased 3.4% to RMB64.5 (US$9.74) per BOE in 2018 from RMB62.4 (US$9.23) per BOE in 2017. Through
refined management, strict costs control and enhancing conservation, our operating expenses per BOE remained
stable.

Taxes other than income tax

Our taxes other than income tax increased 26.6% to RMB9,127 million (US$1,378.7 million) in 2018 from
RMB7,210 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase in oil and gas sales.

Exploration expenses

Our exploration expenses increased 87.8% to RMB12,924 million (US$1,952.2 million) in 2018 from RMB6,881
million in 2017, mainly because of impairment provision RMBS5,387 million related to certain exploration and
evaluation assets in North America, resulting from its further development uncertainty. Please refer to Note 13 to the
Consolidated Financial Statement of this annual report.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
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Our total depreciation, depletion and amortization decreased 17.3% to RMB50,640 million (US$7,649.4 million) in
2018 from RMB61,257 million in 2017.
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The dismantlement-related depreciation, depletion and amortization costs increased 237.6% to RMB 1,293 million
(US$195.4 million) in 2018 from RMB383 million in 2017. Our average dismantling costs per BOE increased 235.3%
to RMB2.85 (US$0.43) per BOE in 2018 from RMBO0.85 (US$0.13) per BOE in 2017, primarily due to the increase of
the present value of asset retirement obligations brought by the decrease of US bond interest rate in the international
market.

Our depreciation, depletion and amortization, excluding the dismantlement-related depreciation, depletion and
amortization, decreased 18.9% to RMB49,347million (US$7,454.1 million) in 2018 from RMB60,874 million in
2017. Our average depreciation, depletion and amortization per BOE, excluding the dismantlement-related
depreciation, depletion and amortization, decreased 19.1% to RMB108.7 (US$16.42) per BOE in 2018 from
RMB134.4 (US$19.89) per BOE in 2017, primarily due to the increase of reserve by optimizing the development plan
of producing oil and gas fields to control natural decline and improve production performance.

Impairment and provision

Our impairment and provision decreased 93.8% to RMB567 million (US$85.6 million) in 2018 from RMB9,130
million in 2017. The vast majority of impairment and provision in 2018 was related to raw material inventory
provision, while RMB8,639 million of oil and gas assets impairment was recognized in 2017.

Selling and administrative expenses

Our selling and administrative expenses increased 6.2% to RMB7,286 million (US$1,100.6 million) in 2018 from
RMB6,861 million in 2017. Our selling and administrative expenses per BOE increased 5.9% to RMB16.05
(US$2.43) per BOE in 2018 from RMB15.15 (US$2.24) per BOE in 2017, due to the increase of scientific research
expenses, arising from the active implementation of the “innovation-driven” strategy, the reform of science and
technology system, which increase in the technological investment.

Finance costs/Interest income

Our finance costs were RMB5,037 million (US$760.9 million) in 2018 and in line with RMB5,044 million in 2017.
Our interest income increased 21.9% to RMB796 million (US$120.2 million) in 2018 from RMB653 million in 2017,
primarily due to the higher proportion of long-term deposits in China.
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Exchange losses/gains, net

Our net exchange losses changed to RMB 141 million (US$21.3 million) in 2018, while there was net exchange gains
of RMB356 million in 2017, primarily arising from RMB fluctuation against the US dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

Investment income

Our investment income increased 53.0% to RMB3,685 million (US$556.6 million) in 2018 from RMB2,409 million
in 2017, primarily attributable to the higher interest rates and increased average stock of corporate wealth management
products.

Share of losses/profits of associates and a joint venture

Our share of losses of associates and a joint venture changed to RMBS5,187 million (US$783.5 million) in 2018, while
in 2017 our shared profits was RMB855 million, mainly due to depreciation of the value of the assets in Argentina
owned by the joint venture, BC ENERGY INVESTMENTS CORP., as a result of the huge depreciation of the
Argentina peso against the U.S. dollar and the sharp increase of interest rate.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased 92.5% to RMB22,489 million (US$3,397.1 million) in 2018 from RMB11,680
million in 2017, mainly because our overall profitability increased in 2018.

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Overview

Our primary source of cash during 2018 was cash flows from operating activities. We used cash primarily to fund
capital expenditure and dividends. The changes are as follows:
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2018 2017 Change
RMB US$ RMB RMB
million  million million  million

Generated from operating activities 123,883 18,713.2 94,734 29,149 30.8 %

Used in investing activities (94,861 ) (14,329.2) (64,411) (30,450) 47.3 %
Used in financing activities (27,370) (4,134.4 ) (31,271) 3,901 (12.5%)
64
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Cash generated from operating activities

The cash inflow from operating activities increased 30.8% to RMB123,883 million (US$18,713.2 million) in 2018
from RMB94,734 million in 2017, primarily attributable to the increase in oil and gas sales cash inflows caused by the
increase of international oil price for the current period.

Cash used in investing activities

In 2018, our capital expenditure payment increased 5.6% to RMB50,411 million (US$7,614.8 million) from 2017.
Our development expenditures in 2018 were primarily related to the capital expenditure of OML130 project, Iraq
technical service contract project, deep-water Gulf of Mexico and shale oil and gas in U.S., as well as the expenses
incurred for improving recovery factors of the oil and gas fields in producing. The Company had no significant
acquisition during the year.

In addition, our cash used in investing activities was also attributable to the purchase of corporate wealth management
products and money market funds of RMB178,100 million (US$26,902.9 million). Our cash generated from investing
activities was mainly from the proceeds from the sales of corporate wealth management products and money market
funds in the amount of RMB 127,903 million (US$19,320.4 million), and the decrease in our time deposits with
maturity over three months in the amount of RMB 1,620 million (US$244.7 million).

Cash used in financing activities

In 2018, the net cash outflow from financing activities was mainly due to the repayment of bank loans of RMB5,888
million (US$889.4 million), repayment of guaranteed notes of RMB4,976 million (US$750.0 million) and the
payment of dividends of RMB23,523 million (US$3,553.3 million), partially offset by the issuance of guaranteed
notes of RMB9,952 million (US$1,450.0 million) and the proceeds of bank loans of RMB2,212 million (US$334.1
million).

At the end of 2018, our total interest-bearing outstanding debt was RMB139,521 million (US$21,075.4 million),
compared to RMB 132,250 million at the end of 2017. The increase in debt in 2018 was primarily attributable to the
issuance of guaranteed notes and impact of changes in the exchange rate of the US dollar and RMB. Our gearing ratio,
which is defined as interest-bearing debts divided by the sum of interest-bearing debts plus equity, was 25.1%, lower
than that of 25.8% in 2017. The main reason was the increased scale of equity.

Capital Expenditure
The following table sets forth the Company’s actual capital expenditure on an accrual basis for the periods indicated.
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Year ended 31 December
2016 2017 2018

(RMB

million)
China
Development 15,048 16,762 26,212
Exploration 6,205 7,978 9,995
Subtotal 21,253 24,740 36,207
Overseas
Development 24,516 21,891 23,564
Exploration 2,964 3,085 2,331
Subtotal 27,480 24,976 25,895
Total 48,733 49,716 62,102

Note: Capitalized interests for 2016, 2017 and 2018 were RMB 1,430 million, RMB2,495 million and RMB2,838
million, respectively.

OTHERS

Employees

As of 31 December 2018, the Company had 14,965 employees in China, 3,138 employees overseas and 209
contracted employees.

Since 4 February 2001, the Company has adopted 4 stock option plans that were applicable to directors, senior
management members and other qualified beneficiaries and has granted options thereafter to directors, senior
management members and other qualified beneficiaries in accordance with each stock option plan.

The Company has set up a recruitment system that is primarily market driven, and has adopted an appropriate
remuneration structure.

)

For more information on employees and human resources, please refer to “Human Resources” in “Business Overview’
section of this annual report.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS

Please refer to Note 37 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual report.

CONTINGENCIES

Please refer to Note 33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CNOOC LIMITED

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNOOC Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 71 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”’) and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

146



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

Determination of the recoverable amount of the oil and gas properties

We identified the determination of the recoverable amount of the oil and gas properties, where an indication of
impairment exists, as a key audit matter. The Group used the discounted cash flow model (“DCF”) to estimate the
recoverable amounts, which requires management to make significant estimates and assumptions related to estimated
future oil and gas prices, future production estimates, estimated future capital expenditures, estimated future operating
expenses and the discount rates applied. Changes in these assumptions could have a significant impact on the amount
of any impairment charge.

See notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements for information.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the determination of the recoverable amount of oil and gas properties included:

€xamining the methodology used in management’s determination of the recoverable amount of oil and gas properties.

Assessing the key assumptions and estimations used in the DCF in management’s determination of the recoverable
amount, including:

Checking the estimated future oil and gas prices by comparing with forecasted prices derived from third party and the
Group’s internal oil and gas prices forecasts.

Assessing the future production estimates, estimated future capital expenditures and estimated future operating
expenses by comparing with prior year estimates, and with corresponding data from reserve reports prepared by the

147



Edgar Filing: CNOOC LTD - Form 6-K

Group’s internal and external reserve specialists.

Evaluating the competence and objectivity of the internal and external reserve specialists and performing procedures
to assess the reliability of data provided to the external reserve specialists.

{nvolving our internal valuation specialists to assess the reasonableness of the discount rates used by management.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Determination of the recoverable amount of the investment in a joint
venture, BC ENERGY INVESTMENTS CORP.

We identified the determination of the recoverable amount of the investment in a
joint venture, BC ENERGY INVESTMENTS CORP., where an indication of
impairment exists, as a key audit matter. The Group used the DCF to estimate the
recoverable amount, which requires management to make significant estimates
and assumptions applicable to the calculation of the Group’s share of DCF
expected to be generated from the operations of the joint venture, such as
determination of estimated future oil prices, future production estimates,
estimated future capital expenditures, estimated future operating expenses and the
discount rate applied. Changes in these assumptions could have a significant
impact on the amount of any impairment charge.

See notes 3 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements for information.

How our audit addressed the key
audit matter

Our procedures in relation to the
determination of the recoverable
amount of the investment in a joint
venture, BC ENERGY
INVESTMENTS CORP., included:

*  Examining the methodology
used in management’s
determination of the recoverable
amount of the investment.

*  Assessing the key assumptions
and estimations used in the DCF in

management’s determination of the
recoverable amount, including:

*  Checking the estimated future
oil prices by comparing with
forecasted prices derived from third
party and the Group’s internal oil
prices forecasts.

*  Assessing the future
production estimates, estimated
future capital expenditures and
estimated future operating expenses
by comparing with corresponding
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The estimation of oil and gas reserves has a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements, particularly impairment testing and
depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges

We identified the estimation of oil and gas reserves that has a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements, particularly impairment testing and
depreciation, depletion and amortisation charges as a key audit matter due to the

uncertainty in assessing quantities.

See notes 3 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements for information.

data from the reserve reports
prepared by the reserve specialists.

*  Evaluating the competence and
objectivity of the internal and
external reserve specialists and
performing procedures to assess the
reliability of data provided to the
external reserve specialists.

*  Involving our internal
valuation specialists to assess the
reasonableness of the discount rate
used by management.

Our procedures in relation to the
estimation of oil and gas reserves
included:

*  Evaluating whether the
methodology adopted by the
Group’s internal and external
reserve specialists to estimate oil
and gas reserves was consistent
with recognised industry standards.

*  Evaluating the competence and
objectivity of the reserve specialists
to consider whether they are
appropriately qualified to carry out
the estimation of oil and gas
reserves.

e Comparing the Group’s oil and
gas reserves volumes at 31
December 2018 and 2017 and
performing corroborating inquires
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of the reserve specialists and
management as to the reason for
any significant changes.

e Testing whether the updated
estimation of oil and gas reserves
was included appropriately in the
Group’s consideration in
impairment testing and
depreciation, depletion and
amortisation charges.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB, HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
¢o draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
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the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report is Lam Kwok Yan.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants Hong Kong

21 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi, except per share data)

Notes 2018 2017
REVENUE
Revenue recognised from contracts with customers
Oil and gas sales 4 185,872 151,888
Marketing revenues 4 35,830 28,907
Other revenue 5,261 5,595

226,963 186,390
EXPENSES
Operating expenses (24,251 ) (24,282 )
Taxes other than income tax 10G1) (9,127 ) (7,210 )
Exploration expenses (12,924 ) (6,881 )
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 6 (50,640 ) (61,257 )
Special oil gain levy 10Gi1) (2,599 ) (55 )
Impairment and provision 6,13 (567 ) (9,130 )
Crude oil and product purchases (33,558 ) (27,643 )
Selling and administrative expenses (7,286 ) (6,861 )
Others 5,772 ) (6,021 )
(146,724) (149,340)

PROFIT FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 80,239 37,050
Interest income 6 796 653
Finance costs 7 (5,037 ) (5,044 )
Exchange (losses)/gains, net (141 ) 356
Investment income 6 3,685 2,409
Share of profits of associates 16 406 302
(Loss)/profit attributable to a joint venture 17 (5,593 ) 553
Other income, net 822 78
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6 75,177 36,357
Income tax expense 10G) (22,489 ) (11,680 )
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 52,688 24,677
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 8,638 (10,121 )
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 16 36

Other items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value change on equity investments designated as at fair value
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through other comprehensive income/(expense) 18G11) 278 (542 )
Others 80 54

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX 9,012 (10,573 )

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 61,700 14,104

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT
Basic (RMB Yuan) 11 1.18 0.55
Diluted (RMB Yuan) 11 1.18 0.55

Details of the dividends proposed and paid for the year are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi)

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Investments in associates
Investment in a joint venture
Equity investments

Deferred tax assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories and supplies

Trade receivables

Equity investments

Other financial assets

Other current assets

Time deposits with maturity over three months
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings

Trade and accrued payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accrued liabilities
Taxes payable

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans and borrowings

Provision for dismantlement
Deferred tax liabilities

Notes

13

14

16

17

18, 34
10(1)
19

20
21
18, 34
18, 34

22
22

26
23
24
25

26
27
10(1)

2018

407,337
15,717
4,433
20,268
4,048
27,412
9,482

488,697

5,852
21,686
125,283
9,069
13,760
14,432

190,082
7,042
32,686
2,036
12,777
15,701
70,242
119,840
608,537
132,479

54,159
3,178

2017

395,868
15,070
4,067
25,079
3,540
25,509
9,248

478,381

7,354
20,787
14
74,344
8,387
15,380
12,572

138,838

13,892
26,713

14,106
6,701

61,412
77,426
555,807
118,358
52,893

3,303
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Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital

Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

YUAN Guangyu XU Keqiang
Director Director

71

28
29

1,356
191,172

417,365

43,081
374,284

417,365

1,278
175,832

379,975

43,081
336,894

379,975
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 December 2018 (All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi)

Balance at 1 January 2017

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive expense, net of
tax

Total comprehensive (expense)/income
2016 final dividend

2017 interim dividend

2017 final dividend

Appropriation to reserve™”

Balance at 31 December 2017
Impact of adopting IFRS 15/HKFRS
15

Balance at 1 January 2018

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income, net of
tax

Total comprehensive income
2017 final dividend

2018 interim dividend

Proposed 2018 final dividend
Disposal of investments in equity
instruments

at FVTOCI

Balance at 31 December 2018

Attributable to owners of the parent
Statutory

Issued Cumula.tlve and non- Other  Retained
. translation . . .
capital distributable reserves earnings
reserve
reserves
43,081 (2,517 ) 20,000 4,556 308,155
— — — — 24,677
— (10,121) — 452 ) —
— (10,121) — 452 ) 24,677
— — — — 183
— — — — (7,587 )
— — — — (10,830)
— — 50,000 — (50,000)
43,081 (12,638)* 70,000 * 4,104 * 264,598*
— — — — (1,218 )
43,081 (12,638) 70,000 4,104 263,380
— — — — 52,688
— 8,638 — 374 —
— 8,638 — 374 52,688
— — — — 463 )
— — — — (11,785)
— — — — (15,221)
— — — — (14 )
43,081 (4,000 )* 70,000 * 4,478 * 288,585%*

RMB336,894 million) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Proposed
final
dividend

9,096

(9,096 )

10,830

10,830 *

10,830

(10,830)

15,221

15,221 *

Total

382,371
24,677

(10,573 )

14,104
(8,913 )
(7,587 )

379,975
(1,218 )

378,757
52,688

9,012

61,700
(11,293)
(11,785)

(14 )

417,365

These reserve accounts constitute the consolidated reserves of approximately RMB374,284 million (2017:
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5 During the year ended 31 December 2017, CNOOC China Limited (the “CNOOC China”), the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, appropriated RMB50,000 million of the general reserve fund.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi)

Notes 2018 2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations 32 139,354 110,625
Income taxes paid (15,471 ) (15,891 )
Net cash flows from operating activities 123,883 94,734
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of oil and gas properties (264 ) —
Capital expenditure (50,411 ) (47,734 )
Additions to investments in associates (64 ) (161 )
Decrease in time deposits with maturity over three months 1,620 1,450
Dividends received from associates 162 116
Dividends received from a joint venture 132 243
Interest received 872 666
Investment income received 2,721 1,821
Purchase of other financial assets (178,100) (122,267)
Purchase of equity investments (39 ) (51 )
Proceeds from sale of other financial assets 127,903 101,396
Proceeds from sale of equity investments 17 —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 590 110
Net cash flows used in investing activities (94,861 ) (64,411 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of guaranteed notes 9,952 —
Repayment of guaranteed notes 4,976 ) (8,869 )
Proceeds from bank loans 2,212 12,252
Repayment of bank loans (5,888 ) (13,052 )
Dividends paid (23,523 ) (16,448 )
Interest paid (5,147 ) (5,154 )
Net cash flows used in financing activities (27,370 ) (31,271 )
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,652 (948 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 12,572 13,735
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net 208 (215 )
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 22 14,432 12,572
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

1.CORPORATE INFORMATION

CNOOC Limited (the “Company”’) was incorporated in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) of
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 20 August 1999 to hold the interests in certain entities thereby creating a
group comprising the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”). During the

year, the Group was principally engaged in the exploration, development, production and sale of crude oil and natural
gas.

The registered office address of the Company is 65/F, Bank of China Tower, 1 Garden Road, Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), the parent and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is China National Offshore Oil Corporation (“CNOOC”), a company established in the PRC.

2.1STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”), Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The IASB has issued a number of new and amendments to IFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
year commencing 1 January 2018 or later but available for early adoption. The equivalent new and amendments to
HKFRSs consequently issued by the HKICPA have the same effective dates as those issued by the IASB and are in all
material aspects identical to the pronouncements issued by the IASB.
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The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the year ended 31 December 2017, except for the first
time adoption of the new and amendments to IFRSs/HKFRSs effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1
January 2018. Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments to IFRSs/HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the accounting policies, the disclosures or the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

(1)IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 for the first time in the current year. IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 superseded IAS
18/ HKAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11/HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this
standard recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference as at the date of initial
application has been recognised as an adjustment to the opening retained earnings and comparative information has
not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition provisions in IFRS 15/HKFRS 15, the Group has
elected to apply the standard retrospectively only to contracts that were not completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly,
certain comparative information may not be comparable as comparative information was prepared under IAS
18/HKAS 18 Revenue and the related interpretations.

The Group’s major sources of revenues are revenues from oil and gas sales and marketing revenues.

The major change identified is the accounting for revenues relating to oil and gas sales in which the Group has an
interest with joint operation partners. Oil and gas lifted and sold by the Group above or below the Group’s participating
interests in the production sharing contracts results in overlifts and underlifts. From 1 January 2018, the Group has
ceased recording these transactions in accordance with the entitlement method. The Group recognises revenues when
sales are made to customers.

The Group has entered into natural gas sale contracts with customers, which contain take-or-pay clauses. Under these
contracts, the Group makes a long term supply commitment in return for a commitment from the customer to pay for
minimum quantities, whether or not the customer takes delivery. Payments received from customers for natural gas
not yet taken are recorded as contract liabilities.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and the accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS
15/ HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 4 and 3 respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i) IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15/HKFRS 15

The following table summarises the impact of transition to IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 on retained earnings as at 1 January
2018.

Impact of
IFRS
15/HKFRS
15
application
at 1 January
2018

Retained earnings:

The impact of overlifts or underlifts, net of tax (1,218 )

Impact at 1 January 2018 (1,218 )

The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously o under IFRS
reported Reclassification 15/HKERS
Remeasurements
at 31 15
December at 1 January
2017 2018

CURRENT ASSETS
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Trade receivables 20,787 — (1,317) 19,470
NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deferred tax assets 25,509 — 9 25,518
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Contract liabilities — 2,909 — 2,909
Other payables and accrued liabilities 14,106 (2,909 ) — 11,197
Taxes payable 6,701 — 91 ) 6,610
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities 3,303 — 1 3,304
NET ASSETS 379,975 — (1,218) 378,757

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 on the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018 and its consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and its consolidated statement of cash flows for the current year for each of the line items affected. Line items
that were not affected by the changes have not been included.

Amounts
without
As . application
reported Adjustments of IFRS
15/HKFRS
15
Revenue — Oil and gas sales 185,872 (335 ) 185,537
Expenses
— Operating expenses (24,251) 32 24,219 )
— Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (50,640) (2 ) (50,642 )
Profit before tax 75,177 (305 ) 74,872
Income tax expense (22,489) 99 (22,390 )
Profit for the year attributable to owners
of the parent 52,688 (206 ) 52,482
Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners of the parent 61,700 (206 ) 61,494
75
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i) IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 (continued)

Amounts
without
As . application
reported Adjustments ;)IERS
15/HKFRS
15
CURRENT ASSETS
Trade receivables 21,686 (440 ) 21,246
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Deferred tax assets 27,412 2 ) 27,410
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and accrued payables 32,686 (134 ) 32,552
Contract liabilities 2,036 2,036 ) —
Other payables and accrued liabilities 12,777 2,036 14,813
Taxes payable 15,701 (103 ) 15,598
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities 3,178 1 3,179
NET ASSETS 417,365 (206 ) 417,159

As
reported

Adjustments Amounts
without
application
of
IFRS
15/HKFRS
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15
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 75,177 (305 ) 74,872
Adjustment for depreciation, depletion and amortisation 50,640 2 50,642
Increase in trade receivables and other current assets (988 ) 440 (548 )
Increase in t.rgd'e and accrued payables, contract liabilities and other payables and 71 137 ) (16 )
accrued liabilities
Cash generated from operations 139,354 — 139,354

(i1) IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied expected credit losses (“ECL”) model for financial assets in accordance with
IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the related consequential amendments to other [IFRSs/HKFRSs.

The Group has applied IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 in accordance with the transition provisions set out in IFRS 9/HKFRS 9, i.e.
applying the relevant requirements (other than those early adopted by the Group in previous year) retrospectively to
instruments that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application) and not applying the
requirements to instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 January 2018. The difference between
carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January 2018 is recognised in the opening
retained earnings, without restating comparative information.

Accounting policies resulting from application of IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 are disclosed in note 3.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

2.2CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(ii) IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The application of IFRS 9/HKFRS 9 does not have any material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

The Group has not applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs/HKFRSs, which may be relevant to the
Group and have been issued but are not yet effective, in the consolidated financial statements:

IFRS 16/HKFRS 16 Leases!
IFRS 17/HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts>
IFRIC 23/HK{FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments!

Amendments to IFRS 3/HKFRS 3  Definition of a Business*

Amendments to IFRS 9/HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation!
Amendments to IFRS 10/HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
and IAS 28/HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to IAS 1/HKAS 1 and Definition of Material®

Material5 IAS 8/HKAS 8

Amendments to IAS 19/HKAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement1

Amendments to IAS 28/HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures!
Amendments to IFRSs/HKFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs/HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cyclé

1.Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2.Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
3.Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning

“of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
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5.Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

IFRS 16/HKFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16/HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede IAS 17/HKAS 17 Leases, introduces a single lessee
accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12
months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under IFRS 16/HKFRS 16, a lessee is required to
recognise a right- of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing
its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of-use asset
and interest on the lease liability, and also classify cash payments of the lease liability into a principal portion and an
interest portion and present them in the consolidated statement of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset and the lease
liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments
and also includes payments to be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to
extend the lease, or not to exercise an option to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different
from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating leases under IAS 17/HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, IFRS 16/HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in IAS 17/HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance
leases, and to account for these two types of leases differently.

The Group elects the practical expedient to apply IFRS 16/HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying IAS 17/HKAS 17 and IFRIC 4/HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a
lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a lease applying IAS
17/HKAS 17 and IFRIC 4/HK(IFRIC)- Int 4. Therefore, the Group does not reassess whether the contracts are, or
contain a lease which already existed prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group elects the
modified retrospective approach for the application of IFRS 16/ HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the
cumulative effect of initial application to opening retained earnings without restating comparative information. Based
on Directors’ assessment, the Group does not expect the implementation of the standard to have a material effect on its
consolidated financial statements.

The Group anticipates that the application of other new and amendments to IFRSs/HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective will have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for as detailed
in the accounting policies notes hereafter. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
and all values are rounded to the nearest million except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses, unrealised gains and losses and dividends resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
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Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations, other than business combinations under common control, are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the
acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group from the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition related costs incurred are included in profit or loss.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets acquired and financial liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts
by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the purchase consideration, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other
items is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period.
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash- generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, which represent the lowest
level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an operating segment.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts expressed in millions of Renminbi unless otherwise stated)

3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the exploration and production (“E&P”) segment,
using value in use, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss on goodwill is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) retained.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has power over the investee such that the Group is able to
direct the relevant activities, has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

Associates

Based on the Group’s ownership percentage (considering its direct ownership as well as potentially exercisable or
convertible shares) and other contractual terms, the Group has significant influence over its associates, rather than the
power to control.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Necessary adjustments are made to
bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. Under the equity method, an investment in an
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associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates and is not individually tested for impairment.

Joint arrangements

Certain of the Group’s activities are conducted through joint arrangements. Joint arrangements are classified as either a
joint operation or joint venture, based on the rights and obligations arising from the contractual obligations between
the parties to the arrangement.

Joint control

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Joint operations

Some arrangements have been assessed by the Group as joint operations as both parties to the contract are responsible
for the assets and obligations in proportion to their respective interest, whether or not the arrangement is structured
through a separate vehicle. This evaluation applies to both the Group’s interests in production sharing arrangements
and certain joint operation.

The Group entered into numerous production sharing arrangements or similar agreements in China and overseas
countries. The Group’s participating interest may vary in each arrangement. The Group, as one of the title owners
under certain exploration and/or production licenses or permits, is required to bear exploration (with some exceptions
in China), development and operating costs together with other co-owners based on each owner’s participating interest.
Once production occurs, a certain percentage of the annual production or revenue is first distributed to the local
government, which, in most cases, with the nature of royalty and other taxes or expenses, and the rest of the annual
production or revenue is allocated among the co-owners.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the IFRSs/HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Joint venture
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A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the
net assets of the arrangement.
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3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint venture (continued)

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Necessary adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. Under the equity method, an investment in a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. Where the profit
sharing ratios are different to the Group’s equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results of the joint ventures is
determined based on the agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in joint ventures and is not individually
tested for impairment.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

(iii) Group;

(b)the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
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(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the

(i) other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity related to

\2 the Group;

(vi)the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(vii)

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services to the

(Vm)CompanY or to the parent of the Company.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.
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An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise oil and gas properties, and vehicles and office equipment and others.

(a) Oil and gas properties

For oil and gas properties, the successful efforts method of accounting is adopted. The Group capitalises the initial
acquisition costs of oil and gas properties. Impairment of initial acquisition costs is recognised based on exploratory
experience and management judgement and charged to profit and loss as exploration expenses. Upon discovery of
commercial reserves, acquisition costs are transferred to prove properties. The costs of drilling and equipping
successful exploratory wells, all development expenditures on construction, installation or completion of
infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines, processing plants and the drilling of development wells and the
building of enhanced recovery facilities, including those renewals and betterments that extend the economic lives of
the assets, and the related borrowing costs are capitalised. The costs of unsuccessful exploratory wells and all other
exploration costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group carries exploratory well costs as an asset when the well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to
justify its completion as a producing well and where the Group is making sufficient progress assessing the reserves
and the economic and operating viability of the project. Exploratory well costs not meeting these criteria are charged
to expenses. Exploratory wells that discover potentially economic reserves in areas where major capital expenditure
will be required before production would begin and when the major capital expenditure depends upon the successful
completion of further exploratory work remain capitalised and are reviewed periodically for impairment.

Producing oil and gas properties are depreciated on a unit-of-production basis over the proved developed reserves.
Common facilities that are built specifically to service production directly attributed to designated oil and gas
properties are depreciated based on the proved developed reserves of the respective oil and gas properties on a pro-rata
basis. Common facilities that are not built specifically to service identified oil and gas properties are depreciated using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Costs associated with significant development projects are
not depreciated until commercial production commences and the reserves related to those costs are excluded from the
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calculation of depreciation.

Capitalised acquisition costs of proved properties are depreciated on a unit-of-production method over the total proved
reserves of the relevant oil and gas properties.

(b) Vehicles, office equipment and others

Vehicles, office equipment and others are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The
straight-line method is adopted to depreciate the cost less any estimated residual value of these assets over their
expected useful lives. The useful lives of vehicles, office equipment and other assets are in line with their beneficial
periods.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a recoverable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed and, adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting
date.

Any gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) are recognised in profit or loss.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

The intangible assets of the Group comprise software and others, gas processing rights under NWS Project, marketing
transportation and storage contracts, drilling rig contracts and seismic data usage rights. Intangible assets with finite
lives are carried at cost, less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets with finite
lives except for gas processing rights, are amortised on the straight-line basis over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

The intangible assets regarding software have been amortised on the straight-line basis over their respective useful
lives. The intangible asset regarding the gas processing rights has been amortised upon the commercial production of
the liquefied natural gas on a unit-of-production basis over the total proved reserves of the relevant asset. The
intangible assets regarding the marketing transportation and storage contracts and drilling rig contracts are amortised
over the life of the contracts on the straight-line basis. The intangible assets related to the seismic data usage rights are
amortised over the estimated useful life of the seismic data.

Major maintenance and repairs

Expenditure on major maintenance refits and repairs comprises the costs of replacement assets or parts of assets and
overhaul costs. Where an asset or part of an asset that is separately depreciated and is replaced, and it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, the replacement expenditure is capitalised.
Where part of the asset is not separately considered as a component, the replacement value is used to estimate the
carrying amount of the replaced assets which is immediately written off. All other maintenance costs are expensed as
incurred.

Research and development costs

All research costs are expensed as incurred.

Expenditure (other than that relating to oil and gas properties discussed above) incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Financial assets

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15/HKFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. All recognised financial
assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.

(a)Financial assets at amortised cost

Debt instruments and hybrid contracts that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost
less impairment loss:

.the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms of the instrument give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
accurately discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

(b) (FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. The Group has investments in certain equity instruments (publicly
traded or non-publicly traded), the purpose of which are not held for trading, but held for medium or long-term
strategic purpose. Therefore, those investments in equity instruments are designated as at FVTOCL

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently,
they are measured at fair value with gains or losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
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comprehensive income and accumulated in other reserves. The cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to
profit or loss on disposal of the investments.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment.
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3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
(c)Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as at
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains or losses
arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current fair
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in note
34.

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets on and after 1 January 2018
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The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets which are subject to impairment under IFRS
9/HKFRS 9 (including cash and cash equivalents, time deposits with maturity over three months, trade receivables
and other receivables). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment is done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets on and after 1 January 2018 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased

significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information developed

internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:
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significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

the lenders of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession that the lenders would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Except for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
For investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying amount of these debt instruments.

Impairment of financial assets prior to 1 January 2018
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The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset, other than
those at FVTPL and FVTOCI, or a group of financial assets may be impaired.

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as
the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and significant changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the Group will
not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of an invoice.
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3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets prior to 1 January 2018 (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been incurred,
the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reduced either directly or by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed amortised cost at the
reversal date.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

The contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or the Group retains the contractual rights to
receive the cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has no control of the asset.
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When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and accrued payables, other payables and accrued liabilities, and interest-bearing
loans and borrowings are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligations under the liabilities are discharged, cancelled, or have
expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial

position, if and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories and supplies
Inventories primarily consist of oil and supplies, including items for repairs and maintenance of oil and gas properties.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories and supplies represent
purchase or production cost of goods and are determined on a weighted average basis.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less.
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3.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions
(a) General

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the reporting date of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in profit
or loss.

(b) Dismantlement liability

Dismantlement liability is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of the
past events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. A corresponding amount equivalent to the provision is also
recognised as part of the cost of the related property, plant and equipment. The amount recognised is the estimated
cost of dismantlement, discounted to its present value using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. Changes in the estimated timing of dismantlement or dismantlement cost estimates are
dealt with prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision, and a corresponding adjustment to property,
plant and equipment. The unwinding of the discount on the dismantlement provision is included as a finance cost.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income, either as an expense as it relates to operating activities or as a component of the
applicable categories of other comprehensive income or expense.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
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enacted or substantially enacted, by the reporting date, in the countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income.

Deferred tax is provided, using the balance sheet liability method, on all temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit and taxable temporary differences will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax assets relating to the deductible temporary differences arise from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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